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San Miguel Brewery
Hong Kong Limited and
its subsidiaries registered
a consolidated profit of
HK$89.6 million in 2023.
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THE YEAR’'S HIGHLIGHTS NEEFE

(BRE1ThE - BERBA RE T AR
SMILAEREFIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars except number
of shares issued, shareholders and personnel)

2023 2022
—E-=fF T F
Revenue ($'000) WA (F7T) 741,619 681,163
Profit for the year ($'000) FEREF (Fr) 89,580 33,135
Earnings per share — Basic (cents) HRREF) — AR (L) 23 9
Taxes paid, including beer tax ($'000) FRIEEe RS (Fo) 10,265 6,298
Taxes paid per share (cents) HREFE (L) 3 2
Non-current tangible assets ($'000) EmBEREE (FT) 444,419 447,006
Net worth ($'000) HE (F7T) 672,472 589,719
Salaries, wages and other benefits ($'000) o TEREAMER (FT) 130,611 124,532
Number of shares issued BITRRE 373,570,560 373,570,560
Number of shareholders IEREE 1,834 1,870
Number of personnel BT A 474 460
I



To our shareholders,

San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) registered a consolidated profit of HK$89.6 million in 2023 (2022:
HK$33.1 million). Net profit attributable to equity shareholders for 2023 was
HK$85.9 million (2022: HK$32.3 million).

The increase in profit was due to the significant improvement in the operating
results of both its Hong Kong and South China Operations. In addition, this
year's results included a tax credit amounting to HK$26.7 million, arising from
the recognition of a deferred tax asset for the carryforward of unused tax
losses and unused tax credits, given the profit-making position of the Group’s
Hong Kong and South China operations.

The Group’s consolidated revenue was HK$741.6 million, 8.9% higher than
2022. Gross profit was at HK$285.4 million, 15.5% higher than the HK$247.1
million in 2022, with a gross profit margin of 38.5%.

As of 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
amounted to HK$180.0 million (HK$114.0 million as of 31 December 2022).

Loan as of 31 December 2023 was at HK$3.6 million (HK$3.6 million as of 31
December 2022). Total net assets stood at HK$672.5 million (HK$589.7 million
as of 31 December 2022), with a loan-to-equity ratio of 0.01 (31 December
2022:0.01).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FE &

DIVIDENDS

On 29 February 2024, the Board of Directors approved the proposal to declare
a final dividend of HK$0.05 per share for the year ended 31 December 2023
to shareholders of record as of 2 May 2024. The proposal is further subject to
the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

BUSINESS REVIEW
HONG KONG OPERATIONS

In 2023, Hong Kong's economy grew by 3.2%. This was a softer recovery
than initially forecasted by the government, following a contraction in 2022.
The improvement was fueled mainly by increased tourism and consumer
spending. However, despite the increase, inbound tourism was still far below
2018 levels. By comparison, more outbound tourism was observed, with more
locals visiting the Mainland on weekends and holidays. Growth was further
tempered by geopolitical tensions and high local interest rates following rate
hikes implemented by major central banks across the globe in 2022. This
continued to weigh down domestic demand and the exports of goods.

While the beer industry registered a modest increase of 1.1% in 2023, the
Company'’s total volume for the year grew 11%. However, this was on account
of increased export sales, as local volumes declined 5%, underperforming
versus the industry, mainly due to the decline in the economy brands.
Nevertheless, San Mig Light (SML) sustained its growth momentum,
registering a double-digit volume increase compared to the previous year.

Higher export volumes, better margins, and value enhancement from the
leasing of our property all combined to support our profit turnaround this
year.

As the market recovered and on-trade business picked up, the Company
embarked on an aggressive re-penetration of on-premise outlets to increase
brand availability and drive volume growth. To maintain brand visibility, we
aired a re-edited version of the San Miguel Pale Pilsen (SMPP) TVC, "A True
Friend,” supported by the “Friends, Fly Together” market-wide promotion.
These helped improve total awareness and preference for the brand. We also
launched a new TVC for SML, complemented by the “Feel Light, Feel Good”
market-wide promotion. Various premium redemption promotions were also
implemented for the other San Miguel brands, and the Kirin and Blue Ice
brands at supermarkets and convenience stores.

SMBHK marked its 75th Anniversary in 2023, and we collaborated with media
company, Mill Milk to produce a 75th anniversary video launched on YouTube
in October. To commemorate this milestone further with our consumers, the
Company held an SMPP free ride day at KMB (Kowloon Motor Bus) Route No.
6 in November, with buses wrapped in our 75th anniversary-themed livery for
eight weeks in November and December.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
SOUTH CHINA OPERATIONS

While China posted a 5.2% GDP growth in 2023, recovery remains tenuous as
the economy suffers through property crisis and weak global demand.

Similarly, San Miguel (Guangdong) Brewery Co., Ltd.'s (“SMGB") domestic
volumes registered a 10% increase compared to the previous year. With
healthy volume growth in its export markets, total South China volumes
improved by 10%, in 2023. Profits were at par with 2022 due to higher
operating expenses.

With the full market re-opening, SMGB focused on increasing off-take through
its SMPP “Share San Miguel” merchandising drive, supported by various
consumer promotions. We launched a new visual merchandising campaign
and consumer program for SML and Dragon to drive volume growth. SMGB
also saw growth in online channels, with its penetration of two new online
platforms and expanding its distribution coverage in an existing online
account.

COMMUNITY RELATIONS AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

Social responsibility remains an integral part of our values as a Company. We
work to make a positive impact on our employees, their families, our business
partners, local communities, and the environment and ensure compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements.

Since 2015, we have been publishing an Environmental, Social, and
Governance (“ESG") Report to provide the public with an appreciation of how
we respond to different ESG issues, guided by our Sustainability Committee.
The Company’s 2023 ESG Report will be available on our website no later
than 28 March 2024.

Part of our commitment includes actively promoting responsible drinking
within the organization and by the general public, protecting the environment,
and meeting or exceeding environmental standards set by the government.

HUMAN RESOURCES

Our employees are crucial to our Company'’s success and in fulfilling our
responsibilities to shareholders, society, and the environment. As such, we
continue to implement programs to improve their well-being and capabilities.

We invested in in-house training programs and maximized the utilization of
publicly available webinars to further enhance and develop knowledge, skills,
and experiences needed to fulfill their duties. We also organized smaller-
scale company programs and activities to foster camaraderie within the
organization.
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HUMAN RESOURCES (Continued)

We regularly review our policies to ensure appropriate and sufficient
measures are in place to provide our employees with a safe, secure, and
healthy workplace conducive to their physical well-being and personal and
career development.

We also continued to provide employees with competitive remuneration
aligned with industry standards, along with attractive benefits that include
medical and insurance coverage and paid leaves, on top of what is required
by the law.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the requirements
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”), as contained in
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited throughout the year.

DIRECTORS

On 4 November 2023, one of the Company’s non-executive directors, Mr.
Roberto N. Huang, passed away peacefully in the Philippines. Save for this,
the membership of our Board of Directors has remained the same since we
published our interim report on 25 August 2023."

FUTURE DIRECTION AND CHALLENGES

For 2024, the Company has outlined the following objectives:

o In Hong Kong, we will continue to improve brand preference and
expand distribution coverage of our San Miguel brands to intensify
volume recovery in all channels. We will maximize our brand portfolio
to ensure we can meet consumer preferences. We will also continue to
improve efficiencies across our operations to mitigate cost increases.

o In South China, we will continue to develop our wholesale network and
accelerate penetration of on-premise channels to ensure the expansion
of our outlet base. We will strengthen our brand portfolio with new
offerings to allow us to meet the needs of consumers. We will continue
pursuing cost rationalization and operational efficiency programs to
improve margins.

Mr. Raymundo Y. Albano, an Executive Director and the Managing Director of the
Company has tendered his resignation with effect from 8 March 2024 in view of
his new assignment in San Miguel Brewery Inc.
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FUTURE DIRECTION AND CHALLENGES (Continued)

Looking ahead, we are optimistic that the Company will be able to build
on the inroads we have made in terms of our distribution coverage and
improved brand disposition. However, we will remain cautious of factors that
weigh down the economy, such as geopolitical tensions and tight financial
conditions that may affect domestic and global demand.

Looking ahead, we reiterate our commitment to maximize shareholder value,
strengthen our brands, and ensure that our products remain relevant to
our consumers and customers. We have strategies to help us cope with the
risks we foresee. We will closely monitor market conditions to implement
appropriate strategies and programs to accelerate volume recovery, manage
costs effectively, and strengthen profitability.

We thank our employees for their hard work and perseverance and the
members of our Board for their guidance. Most of all, we thank all our

shareholders, consumers, customers, and business partners for their
continued support.

L

Ramon S. Ang
Chairman

29 February 2024
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DIRECTORS' REPORT EE2#H 4%

To be presented at the Sixty-first Annual General Meeting of shareholders to
be held at JW Marriott Ballroom, Level 3, JW Marriott Hotel Hong Kong, Pacific
Place, 88 Queensway, Hong Kong on 22 April 2024 at 3:00 p.m.

The directors submit their Annual Report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is a company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and
has its registered office and principal place of business at 9/F, Citimark
Building, 28 Yuen Shun Circuit, Siu Lek Yuen, Shatin, New Territories, Hong
Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are the manufacture and distribution
of bottled, canned and draught beers. The principal activities and other
particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements.

The segment analysis of the Group for the financial year is set out in note 3 to
the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's sales and purchases attributable to
the major customers and suppliers, respectively, during the year is as follows:

HREBN —ZE - NFNA -+ B T F =1
BREFE2EBENT/\RATESE S IWESE
EZBEeRBT2E AT ERRAFTFAS £

R o

EEgLAMSREREHEZE T -_=F+_A
=+ —HIFE 2 FRREEZAHEHRE -

FEERME

ARRBR—EREBEMBIOAT  EMHE
R EREFME BT BIAY R/ NERRIEE
— T/ SRERESNE -

FERY
ARRBZEBRGREERDHGE - BRI
K - XMBRR 2 TBEBREMAHEHN
TSR MITEB -

BRAMBRFEARE ZBROM - BRI R
RIFES

FREFRHUER
UTFERAFEERERP REERDMEAS
BHEMRBREZEM

Percentage of the Group’s total

hREE
The largest customer BARF 54.76%
Five largest customers in aggregate BRREFAR 68.53%
The largest supplier xARER 7.98%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate BRARHERER 26.53%
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (Continued)

One of the five largest suppliers and one of the five largest customers was
San Miguel Corporation (“SMC") and its associates (collectively the “San
Miguel Group”) in which the directors of the Company during the year
under review, namely: Mr. Ramon S. Ang, Mr. Carlos Antonio M. Berba, Mr.
Raymundo Y. Albano, Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta, Mr. Roberto N. Huang (passed
away on 4 November 2023), Mr. Yoshinori Inazumi (appointed to replace Mr.
Tomoki Yamauchi effective 24 April 2023), Mr. Fumiaki Ozawa, Mr. Reynato
S. Puno, Mr. Yoshinori Tsuchiya* (appointed to replace Mr. Kenji Uchiyama
effective 24 April 2023), Mr. Kenji Uchiyama (resigned effective 24 April 2023)
and Mr. Tomoki Yamauchi (resigned effective 24 April 2023) have beneficial
interests to the extent that they have/had equity interests in and/or are/
were directors and/or officers of the San Miguel Group. Mr. IRigo Zobel, Top
Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. (“Top Frontier”), SMC, San Miguel Food and
Beverage, Inc. ("SMFB”), Kirin Holdings Company, Limited (“Kirin"), San Miguel
Brewery Inc. (“SMB") and San Miguel Brewing International Limited (“SMBIL"),
which are all deemed to hold indirect interest in the Company through
Neptunia Corporation Limited (“Neptunia”) (as stated in the Substantial
Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares section in this report)
have beneficial interests in the San Miguel Group to the extent that they have
equity interests in the San Miguel Group.

CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (“CK Hutchison”), which is deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company through Conroy Assets Limited and
Hamstar Profits Limited (as stated in the Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in
Shares and Underlying Shares section in this report) has an equity interest in
one of the five largest customers.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year have the directors, their
associates, or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the directors owns more than 5% of the Company'’s share capital) had any
interest in these major customers or suppliers.

RECOMMENDED DIVIDENDS

On 29 February 2024, the board of directors approved that a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 of HK$0.05 per share to shareholders
whose names appear in the Company’s register of members as of 2 May
2024 be proposed for approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting of shareholders.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group's business during the year, including the analysis
using financial key performance indicators, and the outlook of the Group's
business are provided in the Chairman’s Statement section from pages 7 to
11 of this Annual Report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
which faced the Group in 2023 can be found in the Chairman’s Statement,
including the financial risks mentioned in note 24 to the financial statements.

14

FEERROHER (8

EHBRR ([HEHBAR]) REBE AR (5F
[EN&E]) rE A RAHEREREAAERPEF 2
—o B REBEFENERAGZESEE &
B BB E - B RS A - Alonzo Q
Anchetastf ~ EBREE (RZZ==F+—HAN
Batt) - MEFAleE (N2 =FmA —+m
AREZEERLASEEE) NELRELE
Reynato S. PUNO %t ~ T EERBERAE (R 2=
FIA I BERESEEERLE RS ~ Al
BoAE (RZZE=FWA -+ HEET) &
IAEREE (RZBE-=Fm A=+ HEE
1) AE/SHBENSEE KRR /g
TEESEN SoH A B mESFIZE - Ifigo Zobel
%t 4 -~ Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. ([ Top
Frontier]) - 4 71 #8 2 7] - San Miguel Food and
Beverage, Inc. ([SMFBJ) ~ BABSIEAE MR erat (1B
B - AR AE ([ENEAR]) RENE
BB AR AR ([HEHEEBRE ) (REOEEE
FBRmABRAR ([imF]) HBEFEAAT
Rz (NARMEFRH [ EE2RFRRMD KBRS
2z ] B Fril) FENEETRHEESER -
IR R ENE N EE R EEREE

RIMBEXEBERAF ([RM) (ERAEB
Conroy Assets Limited &% Hamstar Profits Limited #
BARRAIRM R (OARREFH [ E2RFNAR
R 2w | EFTl)) BB ARE, 2
—HIHRHE -

BRENFIEES  REF  REZBMEALR
ERBEEMABEARRABRANBBAN A2
ARARBRRAAFEARBREEZEIERTP X
g 2 (E a4 -

Bl E

R-ZBEZWNF-—A=-+hB EFCHERER
BREAFAE ERREEZLERZHE_Z
=+ ZA=+—HILEFERPREERK0.05
BTFR-_ZE-NFRA-BRIAQTRES
it Z %2R -

REEBHRRIA

ERASBFARANTERE  BRERWH
AR RBETETOON - ARARENEBRE
PERFRETEN BN [EFERE] PR - 7
RARE —_ZT-_=—_FAEENEEARNTHH
RAZHRCAE [ EFERE | PR - BRERMER
RIFGE24 P BN S BAR o



BBEN SEDZFER

BB R AT

DIRECTORS' REPORT EE2 4%

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Save for those disclosed in the Chairman’s Statement in this Annual Report
and the foregoing, there were no other significant events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year 2023.

The Company defines stakeholders as all those who affect, and/or are
affected by, its business. It embraces both internal and external stakeholders,
ranging from employees, trade partners, shareholders, suppliers, government
and local communities. The Company believes that engaging stakeholders
is crucial for the sustainability of its business, as this does not just help
the Company understand the possible risks and opportunities to its
business, but also makes possible the actual mitigation of the risks and
the full comprehension of the opportunities to its business. The Company
also communicates with them through various channels to ensure that
its stakeholders are made aware of, and understand, its business and/or
products.

The Company endeavors to protect the environment in which it operates
its business. During the year under review, there was no material non-
compliance in relation to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes.

The Company also endeavors to further improve the management of
different Company'’s resources and its operations to prevent pollution and
minimize wastes, and is committed to continuously train and encourage all
its employees to be more environmentally conscious. The Company also
published its Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report for 2023
which provides an account of how the Company responds to different ESG
issues.

During the year under review, no material non-compliance of the laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company was noted. In
addition, a discussion on the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) is included in the “Corporate Governance
Report” section from pages 34 to 53 of this Annual Report. A discussion
on the Company's financial statements’ compliance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) is also included in note 1 to the financial statements.

CHARITABLE AND OTHER DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to HK$20,000 (2022: HK$16,500).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 23(b) to the
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company as at the date of this Annual Report are set out
on page 2 of this Annual Report.

With the exception of Mr. Yoshinori Inazumi and Mr. Yoshinori Tsuchiya*
who were appointed as non-executive directors on 24 April 2023 to replace
Mr. Tomoki Yamauchi and Mr. Kenji Uchiyama, and Mr. Roberto N. Huang, a
non-executive director who passed away peacefully in the Philippines on 4
November 2023, all of the directors served as such for the full year of 2023.

Mr. Kenji Uchiyama resigned as non-executive director on 24 April 2023 in
view of his retirement from the Kirin group. Mr. Tomoki Yamauchi resigned as
non-executive director on 24 April 2023 in view of his new assignment in Kirin
which will require more of his time.

Mr. Raymundo Y. Albano has tendered his resignation as Executive Director
and Managing Director of the Company with effect from 8 March 2024.
He shall be replaced by Mr. Chan Weng Kheong as Executive Director and
Managing Director with effect from 8 March 2024. An announcement was
made by the Company in respect of the change in Executive Director and
Managing Director on 5 February 2024.

Mr. Ramon S. Ang, Mr. Carlos Antonio M. Berba, Dr. the Hon. Sir David K.P. Li
and Mr. Reynato S. Puno retire by rotation in accordance with Article 105 of
the Company’s Articles of Association at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Chan Weng Kheong who was appointed as Executive Director after the
last Annual General Meeting, retire from the office of Executive Director in
accordance with Article 96 of the Company’s Articles of Association, and offer
himself for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of all directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 and during the
period from 1 January 2024 to the date of this Annual Report are available on
the Company's website, info.sanmiguel.com.hk.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS EEZER

The directors of the Company as of 31 December 2023 had the following % (GEA5NMEREIEM) B 32 15N EFETF2 EERE
personal interests in the shares of the Company, its holding companies, zZFEEMEEAE  R-E-=F+=-A=+—
subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within the meaning of the HZAAREZTAEABEALQR - HIEBA
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ")) at that date as recorded in the &) - BATIREMHENT (TER (EE5KLH
register of directors’ interests required to be kept under Section 352 of the & {§&fFI)) B BITRAZ BEERERZMT ¢

SFO:

(1) INTERESTS IN ISSUED SHARES (1) CBITRAZER
Number of ordinary shares in the Company
AATRZEBRZKRAEAE

Number of % of total
shares held issued shares

EEBITRG
EREE BEzED

David K.P. Li FHE 12,936,264 3.46%

Number shares in
Top Frontier Investment
Holdings, Inc.

Top Frontier Investment
Holdings, Inc. 2R & B

Par value Total % of total

Types of  (Philippine Direct Indirect  number of issued

shares ownership  ownership shares held shares

EERTRA

48R ZRR BEEEE HERE BREBAY HACEIH

Ramon S. Ang BEX Common 1.00 75,887 131,658,451 131,734,338 34.860852%
LA

Carlos Antonio M. Berba ST common 1.00 364 — 364 0.000096%
i

Raymundo Y. Albano Bk common 1.00 260 — 260 0.000069%
L

Number of shares in
San Miguel Corporation

EHARRAZRHEE

Par value Total % of total

Types of  (Philippine Direct Indirect number of issued

shares ownership  ownership shares held shares

HE &1 Hﬁfﬁ

48R =iE EEEE HERE BREEA% #AYrEL

Ramon S. Ang BEX Ccommon 5.00 1,345,429 373,623,796 374,969,225 9.729852%
LA

Carlos Antonio M. Berba ST Common 5.00 2,600 — 2,600 0.000067%
3

Raymundo Y. Albano B Common 5.00 8,293 — 8,293 0.000215%
L@

Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno common 5.00 5,000 — 5,000 0.000130%
LA

[
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DIRECTORS’' INTERESTS (Continued) EFEzES ()
(1) INTERESTS IN ISSUED SHARES (Continued) 1) CBBITRAZER (B
Number of shares

in San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc.
San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc.
ZRGBE

Par value Total % of total
Types of  (Philippine Direct Indirect number of issued
shares pesos) ownership ownership shares held shares

HfE HERTRS
ROER CEeERz) HERE - HEREE RREEAR ABzEsh

Ramon S. Ang RN Common 1.00 10 — 10 0.000000%
L@
Note: M5E
All shares in SMFB were held by Mr. Ramon S. Ang as corporate interests. SRR RB ZFTA SMFB 2 IR7 19 /A R
Number of shares
in San Miguel Brewery Inc.
ENBERARZRAEA

Par value Total % of total
Types of  (Philippine Direct Indirect  number of issued
shares pesos) ownership ownership shares held shares

HfE HERTRG
ROER CERERZ) HERERE  HREE BREEAR ARZEH

Ramon S. Ang R Common 1.00 5,000 — 5,000 0.000033%
L@

Carlos Antonio M. Berba SR Common 1.00 5,000 — 5,000 0.000033%
TE

Alonzo Q. Ancheta Alonzo Q. Ancheta Common 1.00 10,000 — 10,000 0.000065%
Lid

Yoshinori Inazumi ES A Common 1.00 5,000 — 5,000 0.000033%

Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno Common 1.00 5,000 — 5,000 0.000033%
L@

Yoshinori Tsuchiya TEEE Common 1.00 5,000 — 5,000 0.000033%
TE

Note: Bk

Other than the common shares in SMB which were held by Mr. Alonzo Q. K Alonzo Q. Ancheta %t 4 } Reynato S. Puno %t 4

Ancheta and Mr. Reynato S. Puno as personal interests, all common shares in AR AT 2 EBR AT ARSI - B

SMB were held by directors as corporate interests. EFFBE B ENRBR 2 LR A AR

%o
]
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS (Continued)

(2)

INTERESTS IN UNDERLYING SHARES

As of 31 December 2023, the directors did not have interests in any
underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
above within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

All interests in the issued shares of the Company and its associated
corporations above are long positions.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. Apart
from the foregoing, none of the directors of the Company or any of
their spouses or children under eighteen years of age has interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations, as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as adopted by
the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, directors, managers or
other officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which they may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of their office or otherwise in
relation thereto, provided that such indemnity provisions in the Company’s
Articles of Association shall only have effect in so far as they are not avoided
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Such provisions were in force
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and remained in force as of the
date of this Annual Report. Appropriate insurance is also arranged for its
directors in this respect.

EREZES (B

(2) REERD2ER
RZEBE-_=F+_-_A=+—"H E=I&E
AR CESHERBEKD) FEXV IR
AAF K bl BB N AT AE R R () 2
M o

Bk

ARER LAEBEATZ AR RITR
PESBITR -

B EXPTatoh - Anw] - BiERAE - K
JB A B S H (B 8 R B AR E AR AT ]
NAEBLHARARBEETEEARARHEHM
RAZ BN ERRIEREE » RIBARFIR
(BFMHEED) B 3521&MRFZERL
it - KRFE LT RAREFTEITEFIHH
FETRIFTAMERNATR 258k - B EXFT
RN BEF AEEBHEIBENAT
ZFREBHER AR N REBERR] 2K
0 MR MEEE 2R IRE -

EHEFFREMRGRX

BEADRNEBER  ARFIMNES - K125
Hihe A BRI TR S S BRI EE & M n] RE AR
RERZZEEREIEESUARARZEEESN
ZRERE - AR REMSERPHOZAEKRX
TEREE CRRHER) ZRE A BK - ZEK
NRBEZZS - =F+-A=+—HILtFEHH
R WRAARFRAPEEEN - EEFENA
HEELHTHENRR -

19



Higher export volumes,
better margins, and
value enhancement
from the leasing of our
property all combined
to support our profit
turnaround this year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES
The Company has been notified of the following interests in the Company’s

issued shares at 31 December 2023 amounting to 5% or more of the ordinary
shares in issue:

Substantial shareholders

ERRR

IRigo Zobel (note 1)
Top Frontier Investment Holdings,
Inc. (note 1)
San Miguel Corporation (note 1)
Kirin Holdings Company, Limited (note 1)
San Miguel Food and Beverage,
Inc. (note 1)
San Miguel Brewery Inc. (note 1)
San Miguel Brewing International

Ifigo Zobel (F#E1)

Inc. (FF&E1)
W UNCIRC D)
BB R A (BTEET)
San Miguel Food and Beverage,
Inc. (BFEET)
ENEERmAR (HEE1)
& BB AR AT (FEE1)

Limited (note 1)

Neptunia Corporation Limited (note 1)
Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited (note 2)
CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (note 2)

Notes:

)

SimAMABRRR] (HEET)
RIREBEERAR (HFE2)
RIMREXERAR (H5E2)

INigo Zobel, Top Frontier, the ultimate holding company, SMC, SMFB, Kirin
(a principal shareholder of SMB), SMB, and SMBIL are all deemed to hold
the above disclosed interests indirectly through Neptunia in the Company
because Ifigo Zobel has a controlling interest in Top Frontier, Top Frontier has
a controlling interest in SMC, SMC has a controlling interest in SMFB, and SMFB
and Kirin hold more than one third of the voting power of SMB. SMB has a
controlling interest in SMBIL and SMBIL has a controlling interest in Neptunia.

Conroy Assets Limited, which holds 13,624,600 shares of the Company, and
Hamstar Profits Limited, which holds 10,078,400 shares of the Company, are
indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited (“CKH")
and CK Hutchison.

By virtue of the SFO, CKH and CK Hutchison are deemed to be interested in
the shares of the Company held by Conroy Assets Limited and Hamstar Profits
Limited.

Top Frontier Investment Holdings,

FRERFRPEMRERKGZEDR

WZZE-=ZF+_-"A=+—8  ARQBIEEXET
fRARRF B EITE B Z 5% A AR R E 2
TR #E RS

BRE -

Ordinary shares

ERRR G

Number of
ordinary % of total
shares held issued shares
HEBRITRE
g ER#E BYUZEDL
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
23,703,000 6.34%
23,703,000 6.34%

fh7 Ifigo Zobel #5 Top Frontier » /& & 4 4%
AT 2R HERS - Top Frontieris g4 Hig
NRAZERER - £ B DRFHSMFBZE
Rz - RSMFB R ELEE (BENEBERZ £
ZRE) SEFAENRER=22—NUEZ
RERE - ENEERITE S EEER 2 R
T s I A D BB B R 4 7 ST v ) 2 1R AR b RS
HUILE 1Rigo Zobel ~Top Frontier ~ & H#A R A] -
SMFB ~ BB - A 77 NGF R I A 0 M B B 2
RAMEEBIHNEE LT HERA AR
2R o

Conroy Assets Limited$§ & 748 A 113,624,600
% B {5 K2 Hamstar Profits Limited # & & 2 &)
10,078,400 [k f& 1 - HEARIMEERER
AR RIIGEER]) MR EEZESEES
{S)ESPNSI I

RIBCEFLBEGD)  RICEZRER
19 3 18 A& ¥ B f Conroy Assets Limited &
Hamstar Profits Limited #7822~ Q &1 i 10 2 #
%50
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

All the above interests in the issued shares of the Company are long
positions.

Apart from the foregoing, no other interests required to be recorded in
the register kept under Section 336 of the SFO have been notified to the
Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Pursuant to an agreement dated 12 June 1963, Neptunia provides technical
and advisory services to the Company and may be paid a General Managers'
commission. General Managers’ commission has not been paid by the
Company or charged by Neptunia since the 1995 financial year. The directors
of the Company during the year under review, namely: Mr. Ramon S. Ang, Mr.
Carlos Antonio M. Berba, Mr. Raymundo Y. Albano, Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta, Mr.
Roberto N. Huang (passed away on 4 November 2023), Mr. Yoshinori Inazumi
(appointed to replace Mr. Tomoki Yamauchi effective 24 April 2023), Mr. Fumiaki
Ozawa, Mr. Reynato S. Puno, Mr. Yoshinori Tsuchiya* (appointed to replace
Mr. Kenji Uchiyama effective 24 April 2023), Mr. Kenji Uchiyama (resigned
effective 24 April 2023) and Mr. Tomoki Yamauchi (resigned effective 24 April
2023) are interested parties to the above contract and to the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions below to the extent that
they have/had equity interests in and/or are/were directors and/or officers of
SMBIL, SMB, SMFB, SMC and/or Top Frontier, the ultimate holding company of
Neptunia.

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or associated corporations was a party, and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest (other than Mr. Ramon S.
Ang who has a substantial interest in the shares of Top Frontier and SMC
as disclosed in the section “Directors’ Interests” in this report, and who
accordingly abstained from the voting on the Company’s entering into of
these transactions), subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

24

REX 7R SHERERX S

(1) TRADE-RELATED CONTINUING CONNECTED (1) EBEEHEEESEFBENRERERS
TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
Purchases from/sales to the San Miguel Group HEE NEFENER
In order to comply with the Listing Rules, the Company entered into AfE ETmRE - RAFEA NERFR
an agreement with SMC on 7 March 2022 (“Agreement”) with a view —E-—F=ZRtHAYHhinEE ([H
to renewing the agreement to carry out the trade-related continuing EED)UMETHEN _E-_=F—A
connected transactions between the Group and the San Miguel Group —HEZZT-AF+A=+—HBFKE
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 under the same terms and HEANEEETHESEBENSERER
conditions as those under the agreements entered into by SMC and 5 SWMEIEIREHEER-_TETH
the Company dated 11 March 2005, 6 December 2007, 11 May 2009, F=A+—HBH  —ZEZtF+_HHB-
15 October 2010, 7 March 2013, 4 February 2016 and 5 March 2019 in —ZEEANFRA+T—B - —_ZE—ZTF+H
respect of such trade-related continuing connected transactions. +HA - —E—=F=ZAtH - ZZF—RX
F_AMABER=-_ZE-—NF=AABHLR
AIELAE B ARIRI L 2 B8 5B @M E
RER S M ialR o
The Agreement, including the trade-related continuing connected HEE (BE_E_=FE_Z_hHFH
transactions and the caps set for such transactions for the years 2023- B EMNFEEBRESIRLERS
2025, was approved by independent shareholders at the Extraordinary R)ERZZEZ_FWA-_THARAEAR
General Meeting of the Company held on 25 April 2022. AR IR T R R & N S R A& o
Pursuant to the Agreement, the Group entered into the following RAFER  REBRBERESZSETUT
trade-related continuing connected transactions during the year: B S EMIIFERERSS
Purchase of packaging materials by the REBERAENEE
Group from the San Miguel Group BEEREME 2,664 47,000
Purchase of packaged beer by the REBRMRENER
Group from the San Miguel Group BECBERR 1,214 4,100
Sales of packaged beer and non-alcoholic REEREHEEIHEE
beverage products by the Group to the ERREE Kk IEEBER M
San Miguel Group, provided that such sales or  Efh » ZEMR TR IFREHE
distribution of packaged beer shall not be (88 B A RS SRR IN)
carried out in the Philippines,
unless through SMB 406,103 407,000
[
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Q)]

TRADE-RELATED CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
(Continued)

Purchases from/sales to the San Miguel Group (Continued)

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
such transactions were:

— entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

— conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and

— in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) "Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter
containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group on pages
24 to 25 of this Annual Report in accordance with Main Board Listing
Rule 14A.56.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2)

26

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH
THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP RELATING TO LICENSING
AGREEMENTS

The Group has entered into license agreements with certain members
of the San Miguel Group: (i) the SMBIL Sub-license Agreement entered
into between SMGB and SMBIL (an indirect subsidiary of SMC) on
25 January 1999 as amended, (i) the 2020 SMBIL-SMGB Trademark
License Agreement entered into between SMGB and SMBIL on 30
November 2020 (expired on 29 November 2023), (iii) the SMBIL-SMBHK
Trademark License Agreement entered into between the Company
and SMBIL on 25 October 2021, and (iv) 2023 SMBIL-SMGB Trademark
License Agreement entered into between SMGB and SMBIL on 30
November 2023 to renew the 2020 SMBIL-SMGB Trademark License
Agreement with essentially the same terms as those under the 2020
SMBIL-SMGB Trademark Licensing Agreement. Announcements were
made by the Company in respect of these licensing agreements on
19 September 2007, 30 November 2020, 25 October 2021 and 30
November 2023.

The transactions under the SMBIL Sub-license Agreement, 2020 SMBIL-
SMGB Trademark License Agreement, 2023 SMBIL-SMGB Trademark
License Agreement and SMBIL-SMBHK Trademark License Agreement
(collectively, the “San Miguel Group Licensing Arrangements”) (which
have been aggregated as a single transaction for purposes of the
Listing Rules) constituted continuing connected transactions under
Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules. The annual royalties payable by the
Group under the San Miguel Group Licensing Agreements shall be less
than HK$10 million for each of the financial years during the remaining
terms of the San Miguel Group Licensing Arrangements. Based on
this cap, the transactions under the San Miguel Group Licensing
Agreements are only subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements and are exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirement.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH
THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP RELATING TO LICENSING
AGREEMENTS (Continued)

The amount of royalties paid to the San Miguel Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was HK$1,446,000 (2022: HK$1,449,000).

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the San Miguel Group Licensing Agreements and the
continuing connected transactions contemplated therein, including
their respective tenures, one of which was for more than three years,
and confirmed that such transactions were:

— entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

— conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and

— in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
foregoing continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified
letter containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of
the foregoing continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group on pages 26 to 27 of this Annual Report in accordance with
Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56.
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We also launched a new TVC
for SML, complemented by
the “Feel Light, Feel Good”
market-wide promotion.
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OTHER CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH THE
SAN MIGUEL GROUP

The Group purchased brewing materials and other raw materials from
the San Miguel Group during the year, which amounted to HK$8,000
(2022: HK$33,000). These transactions were all exempt from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
according to Chapter 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules (De minimis transactions).
Also, as set out in note 26(a) to the financial statements, interest expense
of HK$NIl (2022: HK$736,000) was paid for the loan from an intermediate
holding company, and interest expense of HK$156,000 (2022: HK$158,000)
and late charge of HK$274,000 (2022: HK$284,000) were paid for the loan
from a related company. These loan transactions were also exempt from
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements according to Chapter 14A.90 of the Listing Rules as they are
conducted on normal commercial terms or better and are not secured by the
assets of the Group.

The Group has complied with the requirements set out in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules in respect of the continuing connected transactions and
connected transactions stated above.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong have a sponsored non-
contributory defined benefit scheme, The San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong
Limited Retirement Fund (“Fund”), which covers local permanent employees
and was registered in September 1995 under the Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance. The Fund’s assets are held in trust and administered by
a trustee. The members’ benefits are determined based on the employees’
final remuneration and length of service. Contributions to the Fund are made
in accordance with the recommendations of independent actuaries who
value the retirement scheme at regular intervals, usually triennially.

The Fund was granted exemption from the Mandatory Provident Fund
("MPF") regulations by the MPF Scheme Authority on 24 July 2000, following
modifications to the Fund benefits which comply with MPF regulations. The
latest actuarial assessment of the Fund was carried out as at 1 January 2024
and the results were as follows:

Q) the latest actuarial assessment of the Fund was prepared by the
independent qualified staff of Mercer (Hong Kong) Limited. In the
actuarial valuation, the attained age method was used. Other major
assumptions used in the valuation were: investment return of 4.5%
per annum; long-term salary escalation of 3% per annum; mortality
rates under the 2022 Hong Kong Life Tables, normal retirement age of
60 years; and early retirement rates allowed between the ages 55 to
60 years;

2) the unaudited market value of the Fund's assets was HK$63,614,000
as at 1 January 2024;
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EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS (Continued)

(3) the minimum level of funding as recommended by the actuary of the
Fund was 30% of salaries for 2024, 2025 and 2026; and

(4) the solvency deficit was HK$15,865,000, i.e., the obligation under the
Fund was 80% covered by the Fund's assets, as at 1 January 2024.

Particulars of the employee retirement plans of the Company and the Group
are set out in note 20 to the financial statements.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s working capital at 31 December 2023 was net current assets of
HK$220,211,000 compared with HK$153,537,000 as at 31 December 2022.

The Group’s cash and bank deposits (excluding pledged deposits) as at
31 December 2023 were HK$179,979,000 (2022: HK$114,006,000) and are
sufficient to fund working capital requirements and capital expenditure in
2024.

LOANS

The Group has a loan from a related company of HK$3,578,000 (2022:
HK$3,632,000). Total borrowings at 31 December 2023 for the Group were
HK$3,578,000 (2022: HK$3,632,000).

Particulars of the loan from a related company of the Company and the
Group as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 19 to the financial
statements.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 144 of this Annual Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed, as the case may be, any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

30

ERERHFEEE (&)

Q) EHenBEMESEE_T_ONOF-
—ﬁi%ﬂ—?—/\izﬁ—ﬂ;&ﬁ\/ tt$%/
£230% : M

@)  ESHEFEEBIER15865000%8 7T < Bl
EeR-_FT_NF-A-HZEBEEEHN
80% EH B ERIE

KRB RAEEHZ BER
MARMIFE20 -

RS EIFBEHENT G

nEEERMHEER
RZEZ=F+_A=+—HAEEZEEES
AmEEEFE 220,211,000 MR —ZE=-—

F+ - A=+—HAIAREEEFE 153,537,000
I o

B’\\_?__¢+ A=+—B4AEB2HE KR
TR CREREEIRFR) &179,979,0008 7T (=
2::¢wmmum%m)ﬁuﬁf7f
FRRHEEBEESREARMY

B®

AEHBE-HEEQFTEES 3578000/%E(f
T :1363200087T) c RZE-_=ZF+=
A=+—BA%E {5k 4% 53,578,000 T
ZE - 1 3,632,000/87T) °

ERARRRARAEER _ZE_=F+-R=+—
AZBERRZ EFFEENMBEREME9

hAFEREHE

AEBBERF 2 XE  BEENEBEREZ SR
REFRE1448 -

BEERBOEXATFRZ ELHES

s
B R E) (LR A1 E



San 4111:1112\. AT
PALE ‘E"'LL!I-E'H 'Lﬂ



San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Ltd. Annual Report 2023

DIRECTORS' REPORT EE2#H 4%

CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on pages 34 to 53 of
this Annual Report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive directors
to be independent.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of shareholders.

By order of the board

L

Ramon S. Ang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 February 2024

* Mr. Yoshinori Tsuchiya has tendered his resignation as non-executive
director and as a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company with effect from 22 April 2024. Mr. Katsuhisa Nose was
nominated to fill in the vacated office of Mr. Yoshinori Tsuchiya in the
board at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
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COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE B HMISOEBTLKE

The Company is committed to maintaining compliance with statutory
and regulatory standards and adherence to the principles of corporate
governance emphasizing transparency, independence, accountability,
responsibility and fairness. The board and the senior management of the
Company ensure that effective self-regulatory practices exist to protect
the interests of the shareholders of the Company. These include a board
comprised of high calibre members, board committees and effective internal
systems and controls.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the provisions set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code") as contained in Appendix
C1 of the Listing Rules for the year under review.

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2023, the board is comprised of eleven directors (one
executive director, who is the managing director, six non-executive directors
and four independent non-executive directors) who possess the skills,
experience and expertise either in the same industry or relevant to the
management of the business of the Group. During the year under review,
Mr. Yoshinori Inazumi and Mr. Yoshinori Tsuchiya were appointed as non-
executive directors on 24 April 2023 to replace Mr. Tomoki Yamauchi and
Mr. Kenji Uchiyama; and Mr. Roberto N. Huang passed away peacefully on
4 November 2023 and ceased as a non-executive director. The biographies
of the directors are set out from pages 55 to 63 of this Annual Report under
the “Directors and Management Executives” section. There is no financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship among the
members of the board.

The management and control of the business of the Company is vested in its
board. It is the duty of the board to create value for the shareholders of the
Company, establish the Company’s purpose, vision and mission, values and
strategic direction, and ascertain that these are aligned with the Company’s
culture; set the Company’s objectives and plan in accordance therewith;
provide leadership; and ensure availability of resources in the attainment of
such objectives. The board is also responsible for developing, reviewing and/
or monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance,
training and professional development of directors and senior management,
code of conduct applicable to employees and directors, and compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, including the CG Code and the disclosures
in corporate governance reports. The board is bound to manage the Company
in a responsible and effective manner, and therefore every director ensures
that he gives sufficient time and attention to the Company's affairs, carries
out his duty in good faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable
laws and regulations, and acts in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole at all times.
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THE BOARD (Continued) EES (8)

The board and the executive management have clearly defined
responsibilities under various internal control and checks-and-balances
mechanisms. The board may delegate certain aspects of its management
and administration functions to the executive management of the Company.
Pursuant to the board’s power of delegation, the board has delegated to the
executive management the day-to-day operation and management of the
Company'’s business. This includes the implementation of the decisions of the
board in accordance with the strategies and plans approved by the board;
the preparation and monitoring of annual production plans and operating
budget; and control, supervision and monitoring of capital, technical and
human resources. The foregoing functions and responsibilities of the board
and the delegation of functions to executive management are set out in the
board’s terms of reference which may be found in the Company’s website
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.

The board held four meetings, the audit committee and remuneration
committee held two meetings, respectively, and the nomination committee
held one meeting during the year under review. The chief finance officer
and company secretary attended all the scheduled board meetings to
report matters arising from corporate governance, risk management, ESG,
statutory compliance, accounting and finance. At the meetings, the directors
determined overall strategies, plans and programs for the Company;
monitored financial performance; reviewed statutory compliance, risk
management (including ESG) and internal controls; approved transactions
(including continuing connected transactions where the chairman having a
material interest in the substantial shareholder abstained from voting and all
independent non-executive directors were present), budget and reportorial
requirements requiring board approval; and discussed the annual and interim
results, as well as other significant matters. Daily operational matters are
delegated to management.

At least fourteen days’ notice of all board meetings was given to all directors,
and all directors were given the opportunity to include matters for discussion
in the agenda. An agenda and accompanying board papers and related
materials are sent in full to all directors at least three days before every board
meeting.

The number of board meetings and board committee meetings attended by
each director and the attendance of directors at the annual general meeting
of the Company during the year under review is set out in the following table.
Figure in brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the period
in which the individual was a board member or board committee member (as
the case may be).
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THE BOARD (Continued) BE® (5

Scheduled Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual
board committee committee committee General
meetings meetings meetings meetings Meeting

Notes REEsg EhiZRE #MzRE R#ZRE BRA%
fiit LE g g3 g3 IN- |

Independent non-executive directors BUkHES

Alonzo Q Ancheta Alonzo Q Ancheta 4/4) 22 N/A 1/(1) 1)

Thelmo Luis 0. Cunanan Jr Thelmo Luis 0. Cunanan Jr. 4/4) 2Q) 2Q) 110 1/01)

David K P Li THE 4/4) 22) 21Q) 1) 110)

Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno 4/4) N/A 20) 110 1/(1)

Sum Li (Alternate to David KP L) IR (PHEIEIES) 0/d) 0/12) 0/2) 0/ o)

Executive directors YIES

Raymundo Y. Albano (Vanaging Director) Al (51172%) 4/ N/A N/A N/A 110)

Non-executive directors HTEE

Ramon S. Ang (Chairman) BEY(2E) 4) N/A N/A N/A 1M

Carlos Antonio M. Berba (Deputy Chairman) SEE (31F) 4/4) N/A 202 N/A 1/(1)

May (Michelle) W. M. Chan X 3/) N/A N/A N/A 1)

Roberto N. Huang 58 ®) 3/4) N/A 1/2) N/A 1)

Yoshinori Inazumi fRES A ) 313) N/A N/A N/A 1)

Fumiaki Ozawa NEER 4/(8) N/A N/A N/A 1)

Yoshinori Tsuchiya TEEE @ 33) N/A N/A N/A i)

Kenji Uchiyama RlE= 3 112) N/A N/A 01) N/A

Tomoki Yamauchi s 0] 112 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Notes: FisE

1. Appointed as non-executive director effective 24 April 2023. 1. RZZTZ=FMHAZ+MARBEZEAIENTT
Exo

2. Appointed as non-executive director effective 24 April 2023. 2. RZZEZ=FWAZ+MABEZERIERIT
-

3. Resigned as non-executive director effective 24 April 2023. 3. REZZ=FMNA - H BB EFNTES -

4. Resigned as non-executive director effective 24 April 2023. 4. RZEZ=FNAZ+ T HEEHEIENITES -

5. Ceased as non-executive director in view of his passing away on 4 November 5. RZZEZ=F+—ANBAFEmE L EEE

2023. WITES -
[
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THE CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The chairman of the board is Mr. Ramon S. Ang. The chief executive officer (or
managing director, in the case of the Company) was Mr. Raymundo Y. Albano.
The chairman’s and the managing director’s roles are clearly defined to
ensure their independence, accountability and responsibility.

The chairman provides leadership for the board; ensures the effective
performance by the board of its functions, including the establishment of
good corporate governance practices and procedures; and encourages and
facilitates active contribution of directors in board activities and constructive
relations between the executive and non-executive directors. The chairman
also ensures effective communication with shareholders of the Company
and receipt by the directors of timely, adequate and complete information on
matters raised before them. The role of deputy chairman is carried out by Mr.
Carlos Antonio M. Berba.

The managing director, supported by other board members and the senior
management, is responsible for managing the day-to-day business of the
Company. He is also accountable to the board for the implementation of the
Company'’s overall strategies, and coordination of overall business operations.

DIRECTORS COMPOSITION, ELECTION AND ACCESS TO
SENIOR MANAGEMENT, COMPANY SECRETARY AND
INDEPENDENT ADVICE

As at the date of this Annual Report, the board consists of ten non-executive
directors and one executive director. Four of the non-executive directors are
independent. Further details of the composition of the board can be found in
the section entitled “The Board” of this Annual Report.

All of the directors are not appointed for a specific term, but are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings at
least once every three years in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.

Under the Company'’s Articles of Association, one-third of the directors, as
well as directors who at an annual general meeting of the Company shall
have been a director at each of the preceding two annual general meetings
and were not elected or re-elected at either annual general meetings, and
who has not ceased to be a director and been re-elected at or since either
at such annual general meetings, are subject to retirement, rotation and re-
election at each annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS COMPOSITION, ELECTION AND ACCESS TO
SENIOR MANAGEMENT, COMPANY SECRETARY AND
INDEPENDENT ADVICE (Continued)

In addition, under the Company’s Articles of Association, any director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the board shall only
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election, but shall not be taken into account
in determining the directors who will retire by rotation. Accordingly, Mr.
Yoshinori Inazumi. who replaced Mr. Tomoki Yamauchi as non-executive
director on 24 April 2023 and Mr. Yoshinori Tsuchiya, who replaced Mr. Keniji
Uchiyama as non-executive director on 24 April 2023, held office only until
the next annual general meeting and, being eligible for re-election, were re-
elected at the annual general meeting of shareholders held on 24 April 2023.

Mr. Raymundo Y. Albano has tendered his resignation as executive director
and managing director of the Company with effect from 8 March 2024.
He shall be replaced by Mr. Chan Weng Kheong as executive director and
managing director with effect from 8 March 2024. As such, Mr. Chan Weng
Kheong who was appointed as an addition to the board shall only hold
office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on 22 April 2024, and being eligible, offer himself for re-election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The board and directors are given separate and independent access to senior
management for any further information that they require in the exercise of
their functions and in order to ensure that board procedures and applicable
laws and regulations are observed. In addition, directors, individually or
as a group, upon reasonable request, may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances involving the discharge of their duties
to the Company at the expense of the Company, which expense must be
reasonable. Indemnity provisions and insurance arranged for directors are set
out on page 19 of this Annual Report under the “Directors’ Report” section.

The board and directors are also provided access to the advice and services
of the company secretary to ensure observance of board procedures and
applicable laws and regulations. The company secretary keeps the minutes
of each board and board committee meeting, which set out in sufficient
detail the resolutions adopted by the board and the board committees, and
the concerns or questions raised by directors (if any); sends the same for
comments by the directors after each meeting; and makes them available for
inspection by all directors. The company secretary reports to the chairman on
board matters. The company secretary is an employee of the Company.
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DIRECTORS COMPOSITION, ELECTION AND ACCESS TO
SENIOR MANAGEMENT, COMPANY SECRETARY AND
INDEPENDENT ADVICE (Continued)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Non-executive directors, including the independent non-executive directors,
are expected to participate in the activities of the board, particularly to make
a positive contribution to the development of the Company’s strategies and
policies through independent, constructive and informed comments; to
provide independent judgement to bear on issues affecting the Company; to
lead when potential conflicts of interests arise; to regularly attend meetings
and serve the board and board committees of which they are members with
the benefit of their skills, expertise and qualifications; and to scrutinise the
Company'’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives
and monitor performance reporting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors of the Company are highly skilled
professionals with a broad range of expertise and experience in the fields of
accounting, finance, law and business. Their skills, expertise and number in
the board ensure that strong independent views and judgment are brought
in the board’s deliberations and that such views and judgment carry weight
in the board’s decision-making process. Their presence and participation also
enable the board to maintain high standards of compliance in financial and
other mandatory reporting requirements, and provide adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

Each independent non-executive director gives the Company an annual
confirmation of his independence. In this connection, the independent non-
executive directors have provided their respective annual confirmation of
independence for the year under review. The Company considered such
directors to be independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Having served for more than nine years as independent non-executive
directors, Dr. the Hon. Sir David K. P. Li and Mr. Reynato S. Puno, who retire
by rotation in accordance with Article 105 of the Company's Articles of
Association at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election, are subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders at the said meeting. The explanatory statement
accompanying the notice to the annual general meeting sets out the board’s
determination of the continued independence of independent non-executive
directors and the factors considered in such determination, and the reasons
for recommending their re-election, including the skills, experience and
diversity they contribute to the board. Not all of the independent non-
executive directors of the Company have served for more than nine years on
the board.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing all information
and representations contained in the financial statements of the Company
for the year under review. The directors consider that the financial statements
have been prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
standards in Hong Kong, and reflect amounts that are based on the best
estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment of the board
and management with an appropriate consideration to materiality. As at 31
December 2023, the directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Accordingly, the directors have prepared the financial statements of
the Company on a going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to financial reporting
are set out in the section of “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 134 to
140 of this Annual Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL, RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The board acknowledges that it has the overall responsibility for overseeing,
on an ongoing basis, the design, implementation and monitoring of, and
for maintaining sound and effective, risk management and internal control
systems to safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests, as
well as for reviewing their effectiveness at least annually. Such assessment
includes the identification of significant or key risk areas (including ESG
risks) as well as any changes in the nature or extent of such risks, and key
performance indicators, and the monitoring of such risks and indicators, and
the Company’s ability to respond to such risks and changes in its business
and external environment.

Pursuant to this responsibility, for 2023, the board conducted an annual
review of the Company’s internal control systems, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management functions, and
assessed their effectiveness by considering the results of the evaluation
performed thereon by the audit committee, management and Group Internal
Auditor Function.

In particular, the Company performed a High Level Risk Assessment for the
Group and enhanced the Group's framework for its risk management and
internal control systems. Key business objectives and risk parameters were
updated and determined to assess the level of inherent risk.

Based on these business objectives and risk parameters, the key risks of the
Group and improvement opportunities to address these risks were identified.
The Group’s internal controls in place were also tested and evaluated so as
to determine its effectiveness and the level of residual risk.
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INTERNAL CONTROL, RISK MANAGEMENT AND AERESIE « RIS EH R ASBEZIIEE
INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION (Continued) (%)
The Group's risk management framework is based on the “Three Lines of AEEEMEREEEER [ZEHEZ] B -
Defense” model.
1. The management team is responsible for the continuous identification, 1. EREEAEREET HMH - BEERER

assessment, monitoring and reporting of risks and opportunities in
their respective areas, the planning and implementation of actions
to manage these risks; and escalation of these risks that exceed the
tolerance limits to the managing director and Business Control team.

2. The Business Control team conducts periodic review and challenge of
top risks impacting the Group's strategic objectives; escalates the top
risks to senior management and through them, to the audit committee
and the board for their review; and facilitates the risk management
process.

3. The Group Internal Audit Function provides assurance over the
effectiveness of controls in place to manage risk.

As a member of a group with multiple listed issuers, the Group shares with
the San Miguel group’s resources in carrying out its internal audit function.
Its internal audit is performed by the internal audit function of its parent
company, SMB (i.e., the Group Internal Audit Function). The Group Internal
Audit Function directly reports to the audit committee.

The board considered that the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate during the year under review based
from the results of the foregoing assessments made by the audit committee,
management and Group Internal Audit Function. It should be noted, however,
that the Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and such systems can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is fully cognizant of its disclosure obligations under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. The Company
has included in its Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions and
Dealings (“Code of Conduct”) and staff handbook a strict prohibition on
the unauthorised use of confidential or inside information. The Company’s
Code of Conduct is further discussed in the “Code of Conduct on Directors’
Securities Transactions” section of this Annual Report.

An Inside Information Policy has been adopted to ensure that Inside
Information of the Company is disseminated to the public in equal and
timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
The Inside Information Policy is available on the Company’s website,
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.
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DIRECTORS' ORIENTATION AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To assist the directors in the discharge of their duties, the Company provides
every newly appointed director with a comprehensive induction program on
the first occasion of his appointment, where such directors are provided with
information on the Company’s organization and business; the membership,
duties and responsibilities of the board, board committees and senior
management; corporate governance practices and procedures; and latest
financial information on the operations of the Company.

During the year under review, the directors participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and relevant
through their attendance in seminars relating to corporate governance and
continuous professional training. The Company received from each of the
directors their certificates of attendance at these seminars.

In addition, the directors were provided with updates on the business of the
Company, latest developments in the Listing Rules and other applicable legal
and regulatory requirements, corporate social responsibility matters, and
other issues affecting the Company during the year under review.

THE BOARD COMMITTEES

The board created committees to assist the board in the discharge of its
functions and responsibilities, and delegated to such committees certain of
its functions and powers as set out in their respective specific written terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the board committees provide, among
others, its composition, roles, authority, duties, and the requirement for such
committees, on a regular basis, to report to the board their decisions or
recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on their
ability to do so.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

For the year under review, the audit committee comprised three independent
non-executive directors: Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta, Mr. Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan
Jr. and Dr. the Hon. Sir David K.P. Li, who acts as chairman of the committee.
The audit committee met two times in 2023 with full minutes kept by the
company secretary. Individual attendance of each committee member at
these meetings is shown in the table presented above.

42

EFUREARERRERE

SMBEFETERE - AR SBUHREN
EEHEHEAREZ IR REZEN QRN AT
g ERESEENERHABARRERK
EBHER  EXQ BEFREELSNEEE
M E BENMEE  EEEATRINER A
RARBEBORHAEER o

REBEFER  EX2EBEIXBRUERR
BRE B MG UREREBBHFRAXE
SRR N & RFEEREIMYEFTSFL
MERRFABLIAER - ARRCDRIIRE
FHEZEMITENES -

EEERHEEBEAQRER - EHBAK
EME
DRI EAM

S -
HtEmzR@EERENRTER
BEEEE  URREEFERAZE
EEHNRMEHR -

EEZRE

EFEERVUTZE UM EREETHLREEMN
B YAZELZESEREZ AR EEmRE
BETRENRLBENE N EFSZE SN
BERE (EPak) JIREAax - At &)
BENLZEZEEFTHRAESEMELRER
RN ER - BRIFAEIVERPARS] o

BERERES

REBFEN  BEREZE8eR B IFERNITE
F48A% ; Alonzo Q. Ancheta &4 ~ Thelmo Luis O.
Cunanan rEEREBZLZEETFFTHESR T

R-T_=F BERZEQLHAEMA %EA
BB RAMERT - BHZBEEKE LF %
FGRMNBEREN EXANFIEK



EBENEERERRE —B=FFRH

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ¥ &84
THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) EREEEE® (&)
AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued) EREES (8)

Under its terms of reference, the audit committee shall assist the board in
fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight responsibilities in relation
to financial reporting, internal control structure, risk management systems,
internal and external audit functions, and compliance with tax, legal and
regulatory requirements. The audit committee is further authorised by the
board to investigate any activity within its terms of reference, and is tasked
with recommending to the board appropriate actions emanating from such
investigations. The audit committee has unrestricted access to personnel,
records, internal and external auditors, risk assessment and assurance and
senior management, as may be appropriate in the discharge of its functions.

In 2023, the audit committee discharged the following responsibilities:

(1) making recommendations to the board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, where applicable,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions on resignation or dismissal,

2 reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’'s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards. The committee discusses with the auditor
the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the
audit commences,

(3) ensuring coordination between the internal and external auditors, and
the adequacy of resources and appropriate standing of the internal
audit function in the Company; and reviewing and monitoring the
effectiveness of the internal audit function;,

(4) acting as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s
relations with the external auditor;

(5) monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, half-year report and reviewing
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them, with due
consideration to any significant or unusual items reflected therein and
other matters raised by the accounting and financial function of the
Company or auditors,

(6) reviewing the Company'’s financial controls, and the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems, including the identification
of significant or key risk areas (including ESG risks) and key
performance indicators, and monitoring of such risks and indicators
with due diligence; and discussing the risk management and internal
control systems with management. There were no findings of major
investigations on risk management and internal control matters for
the year under review;
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7) reviewing the compliance of the disclosures of the Company in the
annual report and corporate governance report with applicable laws,
rules and regulations, including the Listing Rules and CG Code,

(8) reviewing the financial and accounting policies and practices of the
Company and its subsidiaries;

9) reviewing the external auditor's management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of control, and management’s
response; and ensuring that the board will provide a timely response
to the issues raised in the external auditor's management letter. No
material queries were raised by the auditors in this regard for the year
under review; and

(10)  reporting to the board on the matters set out in the CG Code on the

audit committee.

The audit committee is authorised by the board to obtain external legal or
other independent professional advice and to secure the attendance of other
persons with relevant experience and expertise if it considers necessary
in the performance of its functions. In this regard, senior management and
the internal and external auditors were present in the meetings of the audit
committee to make presentations on matters tabled for approval and address
any inquiries of the audit committee on the same. The audit committee is
provided with sufficient resources by the Company to discharge its duties.
The audit committee’s specific terms of reference are available on the
website of the Company, info.sanmiguel.com.hk and the website of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX").

During the year under review, the total fees in respect of audit and non-
audit services provided to the Company and its subsidiaries by the external
auditor amounted to HK$3,210,000 (2022: HK$3,085,000) and HK$90,000
(2022: HK$40,000), respectively. The audit committee concurred that
the independence of the auditor is not threatened or impaired by the
performance of the non-audit services.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

For the year under review, the remuneration committee comprised three
independent non-executive directors: Dr. the Hon. Sir David K.P. Li, Mr.
Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan Jr. and Mr. Reynato S. Puno, and two non-executive
directors: Mr. Carlos Antonio M. Berba and Mr. Roberto N. Huang (passed
away on 4 November 2023). The remuneration committee was chaired by an
independent non-executive director, Mr. Reynato S. Puno. The remuneration
committee met twice in 2023 with full minutes kept by the company secretary
and the senior manager of the human resources department of the Company
who acts as committee secretary. Individual attendance of each committee
member at these meetings is shown in the table presented above.

The primary role of the remuneration committee under its terms of reference
is to support and advise the board in fulfilling the board’s responsibility to the
shareholders of the Company to ensure that the Company: (1) has coherent,
formal and transparent remuneration policies and practices which are
observed and which enable it to attract and retain executives and directors
who will create value for shareholders and support the Company; and (2)
fairly and responsibly rewards executives taking into consideration the
performance of the Company, the performance of such executives and the
general pay environment by:

o determining executive and director remuneration policy;,

o determining the remuneration of executive directors upon
consultation with the chairman or managing director regarding their
proposals for such remuneration;

o reviewing and approving the remuneration of the executives who
directly report to the managing director, and as appropriate, other
senior management; and

o reviewing and approving all equity-based plans.

The remuneration committee has the right to seek any information it
considers necessary to fulfil its duties, which includes the right to obtain
appropriate external advice at the Company’s expense, and is provided with
sufficient resources by the Company to discharge its duties. The remuneration
committee’s specific terms of reference are available on the Company’s
website, info.sanmiguel.com.hk and the website of the HKEX.

During the year under review, the remuneration committee reviewed the
remuneration structure and packages of the managing director and key
senior executives by taking into consideration factors such as salaries by
comparable companies, responsibilities, individual performance, and the
Group's financial performance.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) EEZRE (8
NOMINATION COMMITTEE BEZeS

During the year under review, the nomination committee comprised one
non-executive director, Mr. Kenji Uchiyama who was later replaced by Mr.
Yoshinori Tsuchiya on 24 April 2023, and four independent non-executive
directors: Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta, Mr. Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan Jr., Dr. the
Hon. Sir David K.P. Li, and Mr. Reynato S. Puno. The nomination committee is
chaired by an independent non-executive director, Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta.
The nomination committee met once in 2023 with full minutes kept by the
company secretary. Individual attendance of each committee member at this
meeting is shown in the table presented above.

The primary purpose of the committee is to support and advise the board in
fulfilling the board’s responsibilities to shareholders in ensuring that the board
comprises individuals who are best able to discharge the responsibilities of
directors having regard to the law and the highest standards of governance

by:
(1 assessing the skills required for the board;

2 from time to time assessing the extent to which the required skills are
represented on the board;

() establishing the process for the review of the performance of
individual directors and the board as a whole; and

(4) establishing the process for the identification of suitable candidates
for appointment to the board.

The nomination committee has the following responsibilities:

Q) review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the board at least annually and make
recommendations to the board regarding any proposed changes to
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy;,

2) identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members and
select or make recommendations to the board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

) assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

(4) make recommendations to the board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive officer,

(5) recommend a process for the assessment of the performance of
individual directors and the board as a whole; and

(6) be entitled to employ, at the Company’s expense, the services of such
advisers as it deems necessary to fulfil its responsibilities.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

In the discharge of its responsibility in item (1), the Committee takes into
consideration, among others, that a diverse board of directors, with the
appropriate qualifications and broad range of expertise relevant to the
Company'’s business, is an essential element in maintaining a competitive
advantage in the complex business industry that the Company operates, and
embraces the policy that including and making use of increasing diversity
at the board level, which consists of differences in the skills, experience,
background, race, gender and other distinctions amongst directors, is
important to achieve effective corporate governance and sustained
commercial success of the Company. These differences will be considered in
determining the optimum composition of the board and, when possible, are
balanced appropriately. Diversity shall not be considered achieved, however,
for a single gender board. The foregoing constitutes the board diversity policy
of the Company.

The Company has met gender diversity with the female representation
in its board. As at the date of this report, 80% of the Company’s senior
management is male and 20% is female. The Company maintains a healthy
gender ratio in its workforce that is commensurate with the needs of its
business, as set out in its ESG report.

Through the adoption of diversity at board level, ensuring sufficient number
of independent non-executive directors and non-executive directors in
the board, and the holding of the annual meeting of the Chairman with
the independent non-executive directors where the latter may raise their
concerns and opinions, independent views and input are made available to
the board.

In addition, in identifying individuals and making recommendations for
nominations pursuant to its responsibility in item (2) above, the Committee
considers (i) whether such individuals possess the qualifications, ability
and stature that would enable them to effectively fulfill their roles and
responsibilities as directors of the Company, (ii) the appropriate mix of
competence, skills, experience and diversity of perspectives, and a collective
working knowledge, experience and expertise relevant and appropriate to
the Company’s business and industry, and (iii) a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors), with such non-executive directors of sufficient calibre and number
S0 as to establish a strong independent element on the board to effectively
exercise independent judgement. The responsibilities of the nomination
committee in items (1) to (4) above and the foregoing considerations as
set out in its terms of reference form the key principles that constitute the
Company’s nomination policy.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The nomination committee has the right to seek any information it considers
necessary to fulfil its duties, which includes the right to obtain appropriate
external or other independent professional advice at the Company’s expense,
and is provided with sufficient resources by the Company to discharge its
duties. The nomination committee’s specific terms of reference are available
on the on the Company’s website, info.sanmiguel.com.hk and the website of
the HKEX.

During the year under review, the nomination committee considered the
background and qualifications of Mr. Yoshinori Tsuchiya and Mr. Yoshinori
Inazumi as nominees to the board, and whether they possess the
qualifications to discharge the responsibilities of non-executive directors
of the Company. The nomination committee also considered whether the
directors who retired by rotation and being eligible, offered themselves
for re-election, continued to possess the qualifications to discharge their
responsibilities as independent non-executive directors and non-executive
directors, as the case may be. Finally, the nomination committee confirmed
that (i) the independent non-executive directors continue to be independent
based on their submitted confirmation of independence, and (ii) the board
diversity policy of the Company continues to be effective based on the
qualifications and differences in skills, expertise, background, race, gender
and other distinctions in the current composition of the board.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration committee of the Company is responsible for establishing
coherent, formal and transparent remuneration policies and practices that
will enable the Company to attract and retain executives and directors
who will create value for shareholders and support the Company. The
remuneration to be paid to directors is a fixed amount which is determined
by reference to the directors’ time commitment, duties and responsibilities,
qualifications and experience (separate from the monthly remuneration
received by the executive director as managing director under a service
agreement approved by the remuneration committee). Such fixed amount
is approved by the board upon the recommendation of the remuneration
committee, and may be changed from time to time, pursuant to the authority
granted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting. The payment of
such remuneration to directors is at the sole discretion of the board upon the
recommendation of the remuneration committee, with due regard to various
factors such as the achievement of the Group’s targets, the Group'’s financial
condition, and external business environment. No director or any of his
associates shall be involved in deciding his own remuneration. The directors’
remuneration policy shall be reviewed and may be changed by the board
upon recommendation by the remuneration committee from time to time.
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DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION POLICY (Continued)

The Board has approved the payment of directors’ fees for the year 2023. The
fees will be paid in the succeeding year.

CODE OF CONDUCT ON DIRECTORS' SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Code of Conduct based on the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”). The terms of the Code of Conduct
are no less exacting than the standards in the Model Code, and the Code
of Conduct applies to all the relevant persons as defined in the said code,
including the directors of the Company, any employee of the Company, or
a director or employee of a subsidiary or holding company of the Company
who, because of such office or employment, are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company or its
securities.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors of the Company who have
confirmed in writing their compliance with the required standards set out in
the Code of Conduct during the year under review.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

To ensure that the business of the Group is conducted in the highest
standards of fairness, transparency and accountability, the Group has
its Whistleblowing Policy, which establishes procedures and channels
through which the directors, employees and other interested parties may
communicate concerns, in confidence and anonymity if they so desire,
about any misconduct or improprieties affecting the Group. The complete
text of the Whistleblowing Policy has been posted on the Company website,
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.
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DIVIDEND POLICY BREEER

Under the dividend policy of the Company (“Dividend Policy”), the board
may, from time to time, pay to the Company’s shareholders dividends in the
interim, semi-annually or at other suitable intervals to be determined by
the board, if the board is of the opinion that the position and profits of the
Company justify the payment. In deciding whether to declare dividends and
in determining the dividend amount, the board shall take into consideration
the performance, financial position, liquidity, implementation of business
plans, debt service requirements, operating expenses, budgets, funding
for new investments and acquisitions, appropriate reserves and working
capital, among others, of the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as the
general business and economic conditions. The payment of dividends by the
Company is also subject to the restrictions and conditions under the laws of
Hong Kong and the Company’s Articles of Association.

The Dividend Policy is subject to review and may be changed by the board at
any time.

On 27 February 2023, the board approved the proposal to declare a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022, of HK$0.01 per share to
shareholders whose names appear in the Company’s register of members as
of 3 May 2023. The proposal was approved by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting on 24 April 2023.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company believes that honesty, integrity and fair-play are important
assets of the organization. All employees are expected to conduct the
business affairs of the Company in a professional manner and in full
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. It is the policy of the
Company to prohibit employees from soliciting any advantage from clients,
suppliers, contractors or any person in connection with the Company’s
business. For details of the Company’s anti-corruption policy, please refer to
the Company's ESG report published on its website, info.sanmiguel.com.hk.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS BREREF
CALLING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING EREREERIAAE

Pursuant to article 68 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings may also be convened on requisition
as provided by Sections 566, 567 and 568 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The directors are required to call a general meeting if the
Company has received requests to do so from shareholders of the Company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
having a right to vote at general meetings. The request must state the general
nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and may include the
text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at the meeting. Requests may consist of several documents in like form. The
request may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form,
and must be authenticated by the person or persons making it. The directors
must, within twenty-one days after the date on which they become subject
to the requirement, call an extraordinary general meeting which must be
held on a date not more than twenty-eight days after the date on which the
notice convening the meeting is given. If the directors fail to convene the
general meeting, the shareholders who requested the meeting, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves call an extraordinary general meeting. The meeting must
be called on a date not more than three months after the date on which the
directors become subject to the requirement to call a meeting.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING

Shareholders holding not less than 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a relevant right to vote; or not less than fifty shareholders
who have a relevant right to vote may:

— circulate to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice
of a general meeting, a statement of not more than 1000 words with
respect to (a) a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution to be dealt
with at that meeting; or (b) other business to be dealt with at that
meeting; or

— request the Company to give, to members of the Company entitled to
receive notice of the annual general meeting, notice of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting.

RIBEARARBMERMAIE 681K - KA ZIKRE
BAXKENEREZERTARM - REBE(D
ARG 55566 1& - 567 18 2 568 16 - 1A T H
HEREREREAS ERINBREMBERIE
TP ANFIRENER  ERABFBRERE
AIZEREARREARSE - ERkNBENRBERES
ARREAE FEENSHEN—REE : RAeE
AAEZBEARS FAEmE ST BEZREKXR
g LEBHRRENR - 2RABEETHIER
A S - BSRATRABEIAF A E FH X
RENF)  RBALREZERKMARE - EFH
PR EZREMRROBREN —Z+—B R
BHATBHZRERNGHBAMNEL A RN
ZHNBRBITHREFIIAE - IMEERER
AREARE  BIERBRAZBRERNEHRE - &
HERZERREMNARAEBREEMBRER - T8
TEAARRENARE - EEHESIIFHARKRE
AEHREMRBHBREN=FEARN - 5K
RAZETAM -

RERRASREBZEZER

HEBAMBERRENNBRERNBRRESD
2.5% HIBIR ¢ SR S0 B A BB RRENHORIR
A

- A A HE W B B R oK & 1O 3B & ) AN A B X
R EHBAR@QAFERRAE LEE
B RERHOABMANER - KO HE
EFERRAS LEENER  mFH
AZH 1,000 FHBRRE ;X

- BERARRAERBEIREEFASHE
EMARBRE  BERERAERREARE
FHREMEBRTREZAS LBFEARAE
BYIEAN o

51



San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Ltd. Annual Report 2023

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1 ¥&E78 &
SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued) BT (&)

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING (Continued)

For further details on the shareholder qualifications, and the procedures and
timeline in connection with the above, shareholders may refer to Sections
580 and 615 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Further, a shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring director
of the Company for election as a director at a general meeting at which
elections to the office of directors are to be considered. The following
documents must be submitted, no later than seven days before the date of
the general meeting, to the Company at its principal office at 9/F, Citimark
Building, 28 Yuen Shun Circuit, Siu Lek Yuen, Shatin, New Territories, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the company secretary: (a) the Director Nomination
Form with the required supporting documents; (b) the candidate’s resume;
and (c) a written statement signed by the candidate of his/her willingness
to be elected together with (i) that candidate’s information as required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; (ii) the candidate’s written
consent to the publication of his/her personal data; and (iii) confirmation
that there are no grounds for his/her ineligibility and incompatibility to
act as a director and that he/she satisfies the integrity and, if applicable,
independence requirements under the applicable Listing Rules. The complete
text of the procedures for shareholders to propose candidates for election
as directors at general meetings are posted on the Company website,
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company attaches great priority to establishing effective communications
with its shareholders and investors. In an effort to enhance such
communications, the Company provides information relating to the Company
and its business in its Annual Report and also disseminates such information
electronically through its website, info.sanmiguel.com.hk.

The Company also published its ESG Report on its website, info.sanmiguel.
com.hk. The ESG Report communicates to the Company’s stakeholders in a
broad manner the relevant environmental, social and governance initiatives
that the Company has made in reference to Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules.

The Company regards the annual general meeting as an important venue for
direct communications between the board and its shareholders. All directors
and senior management make an effort to attend the annual general meeting
of the Company to address shareholders’ queries or concerns raised during
the meeting, and shareholders are given the opportunity to raise questions
and/or opinions during the meeting. For 2023, all directors and the external
auditors of the Company attended the annual general meeting, either in
person or by remote communication, and were available to answer relevant
and appropriate questions of shareholders.

All the shareholders of the Company are given at least twenty one days’
notice of the date and venue of the annual general meeting of shareholders
of the Company. The Company supports the CG Code’s principle to encourage
shareholders’ participation.

The above communication channels with the shareholders are regularly
reviewed by management to ensure their effectiveness. The Company
considered that they were effective for the year under review.

SENDING ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company'’s registrar. Shareholders may also make enquiries to the board by
writing to the company secretary at the Company’s office in Hong Kong at 9/F,
Citimark Building, 28 Yuen Shun Circuit, Siu Lek Yuen, Shatin, New Territories,
Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT EXECUTIVES EERTHEE AR

DIRECTORS

Ramon S. ANG, Chairman

Carlos Antonio M. BERBA, Deputy Chairman
Raymundo Y. ALBANO, Managing Director

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

May (Michelle) W.M. CHAN
Yoshinori INAZUMI
Fumiaki OZAWA

Yoshinori TSUCHIYA

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Alonzo Q. ANCHETA

Thelmo Luis O. CUNANAN Jr.

David K.P. LI, GBM, JP

Reynato S. PUNO

Sum LI, Alternate to David K.P. LI, GBM™, Jp

Mr. Ramon S. ANG, aged 70, is the Chairman and a non-executive Director
of the Company. He has been appointed as the Chairman since 10 June 2005
and a non-executive Director of the Company since 27 November 1998. He
is the Vice Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of San Miguel
Corporation (a company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange); Director,
President and Chief Executive Officer of Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc.
(the ultimate parent company of the Company) and Petron Corporation (all of
which are companies listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange); Vice Chairman,
President and Chief Executive Officer of San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc. (a
company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange); Chairman of Eagle Cement
Corporation and Petron Malaysia Refining & Marketing Bhd. (a company
listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange); and Director and President of
Ginebra San Miguel, Inc. (a company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange).
He is also Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief Operating
Officer of San Miguel Global Power Holdings Corp. (@ company listed on the
Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.); Chairman of San Miguel Brewery Inc.
(a company listed on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.); Chairman
and President of San Miguel Holdings Corp., SMC SLEX, Inc. (a company listed
on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.), San Miguel Equity Investments
Inc., San Miguel Properties, Inc. and San Miguel Aerocity Inc.; Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of SMC Asia Car Distributors Corp.; Chairman of San
Miguel Yamamura Packaging Corporation, San Miguel Foods, Inc., Clariden
Holdings, Inc., Anchor Insurance Brokerage Corporation, Philippine Diamond
Hotel & Resort, Inc., and SEA Refinery Corporation; and Director, President
and Chief Executive Officer of Northern Cement Corporation. He is also the
sole director and shareholder of Master Year Limited and the Chairman of
Privado Holdings, Corp.. Mr. Ang has held directorships in various domestic
and international subsidiaries of San Miguel Corporation. He formerly held the
following positions: Chairman of Liberty Telecom Holdings, Inc. and Cyber Bay
Corporation; Director, President and Chief Operating Officer of PAL Holdings,
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Inc. and Philippine Airlines, Inc.; Vice Chairman of Manila Electric Company;
and Director of Air Philippines Corporation. Mr. Ang holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from Far Eastern University and a
Doctorate in Business Engineering, Honoris Causa, from the same university.

Mr. Carlos Antonio M. BERBA, aged 59, was appointed as Deputy
Chairman and Remuneration Committee member of the Company on 27
August 2010. Mr. Berba has been a Director of the Company since 16 April
2007. He is the Chairman, President and Managing Director of San Miguel
Brewing International Limited; Chairman of Neptunia Corporation Limited
(a controlling shareholder of the Company); and a Director of San Miguel
Brewery Inc. (@ company listed on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.).
He is also a Commissioner of PT Delta Djakarta Tbk (@ company listed on the
Indonesia Stock Exchange); a Director of San Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited,
San Miguel Holdings (Thailand) Limited, San Miguel Marketing (Thailand)
Limited, and other subsidiaries of the Company. He also holds directorships
in other subsidiaries of San Miguel Brewing International Limited. Mr. Berba
has over 30 years of experience in general management, finance, strategic
planning and corporate structuring initiatives. Mr. Berba graduated from the
University of the Philippines with a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical
Engineering. He later obtained a Master’s degree in Business Administration
(with distinction) from the Wharton School of Business, University of
Pennsylvania and a Master’s degree in Japanese Business Studies from
Japan America Institute of Management Science & Chaminade University of
Honolulu.

Mr. Raymundo Y. ALBANO, aged 63, was appointed as an Executive
Director and Managing Director of the Company, the Chairman and Director
of San Miguel (Guangdong) Brewery Co., Ltd., and Director of certain other
subsidiaries of the Company, with effect from 16 January 2022. He was the
General Manager and Director of San Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited and
San Miguel Marketing (Thailand) Limited from June 2017 to January 2022. He
was the President Director of PT Delta Djakarta Tbk (a listed company on the
Indonesia Stock Exchange) and President Commissioner of PT Jangkar Delta
Indonesia (2010 — 2017); and General Manager (2005 — 2010) and National
Sales Manager (2004 — 2005) of San Miguel Brewery Vietnam Co., Ltd. He also
served the San Miguel Beer Division of San Miguel Corporation in various
positions from 1985 — 2003, including as Assistant Vice President and Sales
Manager for International Sales Operations (2003 — 2004) and Assistant
Vice President and Area Sales Manager (2000 — 2003). Mr. Albano graduated
from the San Pablo Seminary in the Philippines in 1980, with a bachelor of
arts degree in Philosophy/Sociology. He acquired post graduate units in
management from the Ateneo De Manila University and has completed the
Management Development Program from the Asia Institute of Management.
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Mr. Alonzo Q. ANCHETA, aged 91, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 24 February 2017. He is currently
an Independent Director of San Miguel Brewery Inc. (@ company listed on the
Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.) and PTFC Redevelopment Corporation
(@ company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange). He is the President of
Zobella & Co. (A.Q. Ancheta & Partners): Trademark & Patent Attorneys and
the Co-Founding Partner/Senior Adviser of Quasha Law (formerly Quasha
Ancheta Pefia & Nolasco Law Offices). He is also the Chairman and President
of Ogilvy & Mather Philippines, Inc.; Director and President of Growe
Investments Ltd.; and a Member of the Board of Trustees of St. Luke’s Medical
Center. Mr. Ancheta graduated from the University of Manila with a Bachelor’s
degree in Arts (Magna cum Laude) in 1953 and a Bachelor’s degree in Laws
(Cum laude) in 1957. He is a lawyer (A.B., LL.B) by profession, with practice
areas in intellectual property law and commercial/corporate/family law
and estates and succession. He is also a member of various organizations,
including the Intellectual Property Association of the Philippines (Council
Adviser, 1988-present), Philippine Bar Association, Legal Management Council
of the Philippines, Asian Patent Attorneys Association (Honorary President,
2021-present), International Trademark Association, LAWASIA (Vice President
International, 2017-present), Licensing Executives Society International,
ASEAN Law Association, ASEAN Intellectual Property Association, American
Chamber of Commerce of the Philippines, Canadian Chamber of Commerce
of the Philippines, Philippine American Guardian Association, Philippine-Japan
Economic Committee, Philippines-Japan Society, Inc., Rotary Club of Marikina,
Jaycees International (Senator) and For Love of Mother Earth, Inc.

Ms. May (Michelle) W.M. CHAN, aged 59, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 11 March 2011. Ms. Chan serves as Managing Director
of A.S. Watson Industries Limited. She served as Managing Director of
Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited from 1 February 2006 to 31 October 2010
and served as Executive Deputy Managing Director of Hutchison Harbour
Ring Limited from 18 May 2005 to 31 January 2006. Ms. Chan has extensive
experience in managing property development and investment businesses in
mainland China. She also holds directorships in certain companies controlled
by CK Hutchison Holdings Limited. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Business Administration.
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Mr. Thelmo Luis O. CUNANAN Jr., aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company on
25 October 2021. He is President of the Philippine National Bobsled Luge
& Skeleton Association, Inc; Philippine representative in the International
Bobsled & Skeleton Federation in Lausanne, Switzerland, and President of
Burnham View Condominium Corporation. He is also the owner/proprietor
of A4 Holiday-Residences; a writer for numerous local and international
publications; a TV presenter with the Global/Golden News Network, based
in Makati City, Philippines; and a Philippine representative in the Global
Journalism Council in Ankara, Turkey. Mr. Cunanan has worked as a consultant
and adviser for different private sector and government offices. These
include Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU) Philippines, Wallace Business Forum,
Philippine National Oil Company, Social Security System, National Commission
for Culture and Arts, National Parks Development Committee, and the Office
of the Speaker of the House of Representatives. Mr. Cunanan is a member
of the Consular Corps of the Philippines and an international member of
the Professional Hunters Association of South Africa (PHASA), based in
Centurion, South Africa. He was Honorary Consul of Georgia in the Philippines
for 12 years and since 2010, has run and managed the Honorary Consulate
of Somalia in the Philippines and the Philippines — Georgia Business and
Friendship Association. Mr. Cunanan Jr is a graduate of the Ateneo de Manila
University with a degree in (AB Interdisciplinary Studies) and the Ateneo
Graduate School of Business (MBA).

Mr. Yoshinori INAZUMI, aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company on 24 April 2023. Mr. Inazumi is a Director and the
Executive Financial Advisor of San Miguel Brewery Inc. (@ company listed on
the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.); and Director of San Miguel Brewing
International Limited and San Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited. He is formerly
the General Manager (2021 — 2023) and Senior Manager (2019 — 2021) of
Audit & Supervisory Board Members' Office, Senior Manager of Finance and
Accounting Department (2016 — 2019), and Senior Manager of Tax Unit Group
Finance (2015 — 2016), of Kirin Holdings Company, Limited (@ company listed
on the Tokyo Stock Exchange). Mr. Inazumi also held the following positions in
other companies of the Kirin group: Manager of Tax Unit Group Finance (2013
—2015) and Manager of Finance and Accounting Department (2011 — 2013) of
Kirin Group Office Company, Limited; and Manager of Finance and Accounting
Department of Kirin Business Expert Company, Limited (2008 — 2011). Mr.
Inazumi graduated from Tokyo University with a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Literature in 1993.
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Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po, GBMm, GBS, OBE, JB MA Cantab. (Economics &
Law), Hon. LLD (Cantab), Hon. DSc. (Imperial), Hon. LLD (Warwick), Hon. DBA (Edinburgh Napier),

Hon. D.Hum.Litt. (Trinity, USA), Hon. LLD (Hong Kong), Hon. DSocSc (Lingnan), Hon. DLitt (Macquarie),
Hon. DSocSc (CUHK), FCA, FCPA, FCPA (Aust.), FCIB, FHKIB, FBCS, CITR, Officier de I'Ordre de la
Couronne, Grand Officer of the Order of the Star of Italian Solidarity, The Order of the Rising Sun,
Gold Rays with Neck Ribbon, Commandeur dans I'Ordre National de la Légion d’Honneur, aged
84, was appointed on 22 March 1991. Sir David is an independent non-
executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
He is the Executive Chairman of The Bank of East Asia, Limited (listed in Hong
Kong). He is an independent non-executive Director of The Hong Kong and
China Gas Company Limited, The Hongkong and Shanghai Hotels, Limited
and Vitasoy International Holdings Limited (all listed in Hong Kong). He was an
independent non-executive Director of Guangdong Investment Limited (listed
in Hong Kong). Sir David is a member of the Council of the Treasury Markets
Association. He is Founding Chairman of The Friends of Cambridge University
in Hong Kong Limited, Chairman of the Advisory Board of The Salvation Army,
Hong Kong and Macau Territory, Chairman of the Executive Committee of St.
James’ Settlement and a Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of Finance. He
was a member of the Executive Council of Hong Kong from 2005 to 2008 and
the Legislative Council of Hong Kong from 1985 to 2012.

Mr. Fumiaki OZAWA, aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company on 28 April 2017. He is also a Director and the Executive Vice
President of San Miguel Brewing International Limited. He is also a Director
of San Miguel Holdings (Thailand) Limited, San Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited
and San Miguel Marketing (Thailand) Limited; and a Commissioner of PT Delta
Djakarta Tbk (a company listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange). Mr. Ozawa
was a former Director and Executive Financial Advisor of San Miguel Brewery
Inc. (@ company listed on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.), the Senior
Manager of Corporate Strategy Department of Kirin Holdings Company,
Limited (a company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange) and Senior Manager
of Management Planning Department, Kirin Company, Limited. He was also
the Manager of Management Planning Department of Kirin Company, Limited;
Manager of Overseas Sales Division, Kirin Techno-System Company, Limited;
and Sales Representative of Off-premise Sales Section, Tohoku Regional Head
Office, Kirin Brewery Company, Limited. Mr. Ozawa graduated from Waseda
University with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics.
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Mr. Reynato S. PUNO, aged 83, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and Nomination Committee member of the Company
on 8 November 2012 and as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
on 24 February 2017. Mr. Puno is an independent Director of San Miguel
Corporation (@ company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange), and San
Miguel Brewery Inc. (@ company listed on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange
Corp.) and an Independent Commissioner of PT Delta Djakarta Tbk (a
company listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange). He is also the Chairman
of the Environmental Heroes Foundation, GenWatt Solar Energy Solutions
(Philippines); CybersCool Defcon, Inc. and Judge Isaac S. Puno, Jr. Memorial
Foundation; Member (2011 — 2017, 2022 — present) and Chairman (2014-
2017, 2022 — present) of the Philippine Bible Society; Vice Chairman of GMA
Kapuso Foundation; a Director of The New Standard newspaper and World
Vision Development Foundation, Inc.; a Member of the Board of Regents of
Manuel L. Quezon University; and Legal Consultant to the Department of
Energy and Union Bank of the Philippines. He is also a former a Member of
the Permanent Court of Arbitration in Hague (2017 — 2023); Chairman of the
Supreme Court Committee to Draft the Rules on the Anti-Terrorism Act (2022
- 2023); Independent Director of Union Bank of the Philippines (2012 - 2021),
Apex Mining Company, Inc. (2012 — 2013) and Manila Bulletin Publishing Corp.
(2010 — 2011) (all companies listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange), and
Marcventure Mining and Development Corporation (2015 — 2017); Member
of the Board of Regents of the University of the Philippines (2012 - 2014),
Chairman of World Vision Development Foundation (2018 — 2020); and Past
Grand Commander, Knights of Rizal (2016 — 2018). He was also appointed
Chairman of the Consultative Committee to revise the 1987 Philippine
Constitution (January to July 2018). Mr. Puno served as the Chief Justice of
the Philippine Supreme Court from 6 December 2006 until his retirement
on 17 May 2010. He also served previously in the Philippine judiciary as an
Associate Justice of the Supreme Court, Associate Justice of the Court of
Appeals, Appellate Justice of the Intermediate Appellate Court and Acting
City Judge of Quezon City. He also served as Assistant Solicitor General and
Deputy Minister of Justice. Mr. Puno completed his Bachelor of Science
degree in Jurisprudence and Bachelor of Laws degree at the University of
the Philippines, and has a Master of Laws degree from the University of
California in Berkeley and a Master in Comparative Laws degree from the
Southern Methodist University, Dallas, Texas. He also completed academic
requirements for a Doctor of Juridical Science degree from the University of
lllinois.
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Mr. Yoshinori TSUCHIYA, aged 56, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and Nomination Committee member of the Company on 24 April
2023. Mr. Tsuchiya is a Director and the Executive Vice President of San
Miguel Brewery Inc. (@ company listed on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange
Corp.). He is also a Director of San Miguel Brewing International Limited,
San Miguel Holdings (Thailand) Limited and San Miguel Beer (Thailand)
Limited. He was also the Managing Director of Kirin Europe GmbH (2018-
2023); Director (2016 — 2018) and Manager (2012 — 2016) of the New Product
Development of Kirin Brewery Company, Limited and Manager of Corporate
Strategy Department of Kirin Holdings Company, Limited (@ company listed
on the Tokyo Stock Exchange) (2012 — 2016); Category Manager of Marketing
Department of Kirin Beverage Company, Limited (2008 — 2012); and Brand
Manager of Marketing Department of Kirin Brewery Company, Limited
(2006 — 2008). Mr. Tsuchiya graduated from Keio University with a Bachelor of
Arts degree in Human Relations in 1992.

Ms. Sum LI, CIA, FCCA, FHKICPA, aged 52, is the Group Chief Auditor of The
Bank of East Asia, Limited. She is currently serving as a Board Governor of
The Institute of Internal Auditors Hong Kong China (IIAHK). Ms. Li is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors, The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, and a Certified Internal Auditor. She was previously a Partner
at KPMG's Risk Consulting group and was a Past President of The Asian
Confederation of The Institutes of Internal Auditors and The IIAHK. Ms. Li holds
a Master Degree of Science in Finance from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong.

TEEREEE A+ AB RZTE-=-F1A
ZtTHAEZERRRRERITESRIEREZE
BKE - TEXERENEBHAR (ZARARN
Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. ) 2 &%
RATHEIBE, - AL NREREERAR -
San Miguel Holdings (Thailand) Limited } San
Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited 2 E2E - b 77 & &
Kirin Europe GmbHZ #17TE€F (Z T —NEZ
£ — =) :Kirin Brewery Company, Limited#T &
WERSBMZES (ZE—XRE2F—/)\) k&
B(ZZ2—Z22ZF—R) ' URBBERKEE
H(RZRARRRERBSFRZ S ™) BEREKE
Pz g8 (ZF—=—5==F—7) : Kirin Beverage
Company, Limited M58 2 miELE (ZTENE
—F—=) : XKirin Brewery Company, Limited 1
HEZ MIBKEIR (ZEEREZET)\) - LEL
EE-NANZFEEREREZD KRBT EF AR
RSB T B o

ZER A+ CIA FCCA, FHKICPA + AL+ — 5%+ 23T
RGRTTARAREBLLRERZ - IR AR AL
i ABpErEEELCBE - FRLIREBE
FE2g A ABMEBRSTAREFTAD
NEEAREE - REMAZERD - S EHRE
EHEBFRRERMNERADARBERA - I
LEEMNARERMBEHESRESEHENH
BRABETHEFREADEGER - FLITH
EEBR Y ABIBE (7)) B o

61



San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Ltd. Annual Report 2023

Vaxiax
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MANAGEMENT EXECUTIVES

Raymundo Y. ALBANO
Managing Director

Abigail L. OCAMPO
Chief Finance Officer

Agnes W.L. CHAN
Senior Manager — Human Resources & Administration

Keith C.W. CHAN
Senior Manager — Information Technology

Richard W.K. CHAN
Sales Director

Steven CO
Senior Manager — Corporate Development

Eric PK. LAM
Marketing Director

William K. L. TSANG
Senior Manager — Logistics

Kenneth W.S. YEUNG
Senior Manager — Operations

Vincent K.M. KWOK
General Manager of San Miguel (Guangdong) Brewery Company Limited

Mr. Raymundo Y. ALBANO, Managing Director. Please refer to the Directors
section on page 56 for details.

Ms. Abigail L. OCAMPO, 85¢, aged 50, was appointed as the Chief Finance
Officer of the Company with effect from 1 August 2022. She has been with
San Miguel Corporation for 24 years. She served the International Beer
Operations of San Miguel Brewery Inc. (“SMB") in various positions, including
as the Executive Assistant to the Managing Director of the International Beer
Operations of SMB (2021 — 2022), the Head of the Financial Planning and
Analysis (2009 — 2015) and Account Manager for Hong Kong and South China
(2005 - 2009).

Ms. Aghes W.L. CHAN, mA, Bsc, aged 57, Senior Manager — Human
Resources & Administration, joined the Company in 1991. Ms. Chan has more
than 34 years of experience in human resources, administrative support
services, property and tenant management.
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Mr. Keith C.W. CHAN, w84, BSc, aged 58, Senior Manager — Information
Technology, joined the Company in 1993. Mr. Chan has gained 35 years of
solid experience in the operations and management of the Information
Technology functions.

Mr. Richard W.K. CHAN, vsc, aged 54, Sales Director, joined the Company in
2016. Mr. Chan has over 37 years of sales experience from various industries.

Mr. Steven CO, B4, aged 54, Senior Manager — Corporate Development,
joined San Miguel Brewing Group of San Miguel Corporation in 1994. Mr.
Co has more than 29 years of experience in business planning, business
research, corporate affairs and quality management in the Company.

Mr. Eric P.K. LAM, MBA, BA, aged 60, Marketing Director, joined the Company
in 2008. Mr. Lam has over 30 years of experience in marketing in various
industries.

Mr. William K.L. TSANG, mssc, Beng, aged 41, Senior Manager — Logistics,
joined the Company in 2006. Mr. Tsang has accumulated 19 years of
experience in logistics and supply-chain management through in charging of
multiple logistics functions in the Company.

Mr. Kenneth W.S. YEUNG, MBA, Bsc, aged 58, Senior Manager — Operations,
first joined the Company in 1988. Mr. Yeung has over 34 years of service
with the Company. He has extensive experience in the operations of beer
production.

Mr. Vincent K.M. KWOK, VBA, BBA, aged 55, was appointed as the General
Manager of San Miguel (Guangdong) Brewery Company Limited on 1 January
2021. Mr. Kwok joined the Company in 2003. He has more than 32 years of
solid experience in marketing and management in various industries.
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STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS &&=t 04T

Years ended 31 December, in Hong Kong dollar thousands except HE+-_A=1+—HLLFE KK
per share data and number of personnel AR ENIE & B T ABIMNILABEE T Iat &
Ten Year Review +E O e
2023 2022 2021
—EC-=E —E-F T4
Revenue WA 741,619 681,163 595,616
Profit/(loss) from operations EEH S (EE) 66,784 36,073 23,552
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF (BB 89,580 33,135 22,108
Taxes paid, including beer tax TR IR B 10,265 6,298 6,738
Cash dividends attributable to the year FEELE2RKRE 18,679 3,736 —
Cash dividends per share (cents) RIS (L) 5 1 —
Non-current tangible assets and projects IRBEFEERERFTIER
under development 444,419 447,006 458,923
Net worth FE 672,472 589,719 571,102
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITERHEMETR 130,611 124,532 121,450
Number of personnel (1) BTAZ () 474 460 477
M Number of personnel represents actual headcount of regular personnel as of the last working day of the year.
[ ]
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STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS £&& &5t #r

Years ended 31 December, in Hong Kong dollar thousands except HE+-_A=1+—HLLFE  KBSK
per share data and number of personnel RRDEIE & B T ABIMNILABEE T ILat &
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—ETF ZE-NF —E-N\F —T—tF ZERF —E—RF —E—F
555,658 580,050 584,609 565,785 541,427 569,502 728,640
14,920 7,788 (64,690) 20,692 11,505 (11,555) 41,635
13,851 8,300 (74,088) 15,219 6,705 (16,909) 36,994
11,068 13,825 17,338 13,432 10,494 15,984 20,670
— — — — — — 7,472
— — — — — — 2
465,291 474,377 487,708 576,388 584,806 597,381 621,309
543,011 515,914 500,668 584,811 558,084 544,986 571,949
121,179 122,952 123,067 121,606 116,014 118,421 116,888
517 491 516 516 539 549 566
(1) BT AZUERFERE —EAIEACERE2BERGOBIHE -
I
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT &&=+

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_T-=F+-_A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABHEETE)
2023 2022
—E-=5F —E-F
Note $'000 $'000
PiEE Fr T
Revenue A 3 741,619 681,163
Cost of sales SHEKA (456,180) (434,085)
Gross profit EF 285,439 247,078
Other net income H fth a5 58 4 39,475 36,432
Selling and distribution expenses HE RO HEAT (173,116) (159,835)
Administrative expenses TR (77,199) (79,357)
Other operating expenses Hae s (7,815) (8,245)
Profit from operations K& 2R 66,784 36,073
Finance costs B & 5(a) (339) (1,075)
Profit before taxation R A 2 F 5 66,445 34,998
Income tax credit/(expense) FriSist A (ZH) 6 23,135 (1,863)
Profit for the year FERF 89,580 33,135
Attributable to: FE(RINTE ¢
Equity shareholders of the Company RARE=FEA 85,898 32,305
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR A 3,682 830
Profit for the year FERF 89,580 33,135
Earnings per share BREF
Basic (cents) B (L) 10(a) 23 9
Diluted (cents) #a (L) 10(b) N/A N/A
The notes on pages 72 to 133 form part of these financial statements. HIREREIRE EEM ST ARRBERER T — 3
1/'\ °

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable  AFEER QG EZRIFAE A Z R EFI5EH A+
to the profit for the year are set out in note 23(c). 23(c) ©

—
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 4 & 2 HE KR F

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_T_=—F+_A=1+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (CABHETE)
2023 2022
—EC-=F T F
Note $'000 $'000
PiEE Fr v

Profitfortheyear FEBN .. 89580 3318
Other comprehensive income for the year FEH2mEUE (BRBIZ)

(after tax) 9
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to  #&Ksk @ E#5I A Bz A9 B

profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of financial @& EE AN B A T8 7

statements of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong ke & EIAE AR = B R

and monetary items that form part of the net MBARZHENEKIEE FT

investment in subsidiaries outside Hong Kong 4 Z[E H =58 (3,024) (8,420)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or BRI EEFIIAEBRLEE

loss
Remeasurement of defined benefit plan EREAMET 8 R ECEHNTE

obligations (67) (6,098)
. . @091 (14.518)
Total comprehensive income for the year SEZ2HEWEEEE 86,489 18,617
Attributable to: FEfRaT :
Equity shareholders of the Company VIN/NEIL - ZEE ST =N 82,472 15,001
Non-controlling interests el g 4,017 3,616
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZ2HEINZEZE 86,489 18,617

The notes on pages 72 to 133 form part of these financial statements.

FIRE72E1BE 2 SEMT RAM BT 2 — 5

,T/\ °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION %r& Bt #& AR 3=

At 31 December 2023 RZBE-_=F+"-A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABHETE)

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Note $'000 $'000
BaE Fr T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I E Y S ] 11(a) 340,971 338,844
Investment properties A 1) 103,448 108,162
444,419 447,006
Intangible assets mAE 12 4,771 4,771
Other receivables i FEURARIH 15 6,492 —
Deferred tax assets BETHIEEE 21(b) 27,351 —
5 483,033 eSlg7r |
Current assets REEE
Inventories A 14 88,579 89,643
Trade and other receivables JEUNE Z) )k B BRIE 15 43,627 43,183
Amounts due from holding companies and el NCIPSAEES
fellow subsidiaries B A RIARIE 16 10,754 17,976
Amount due from a related company FEU A& A Al BRIE 16 555 2,759
Current tax recoverable EE e 21(a) 1,029 —
Cash and cash equivalents e hERBEEIER 17 179,979 114,006
5 s24523 Zorser |
Current liabilities RESE
Trade and other payables JENE 5 R EMERIE 18 (85,953) (93,241)
Loan from a related company BENRIER 19 (3,578) (3,632)
Amounts due to holding companies and FERHER AT KRR
fellow subsidiaries Sp NI 16 (4,057) (6,469)
Amounts due to related companies FERTRAE A RIBRIE 16 (10,344) (10,314)
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 (380) (374)
I (104312) | (114,030)
Net current assets RBEEFE 220,211 153,537

68



it

ENRERERAT —B=FFH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION %r& Bt #& AR S 3=

At 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RZTEZ=F+=-A=+—H
(LABHETHE)

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Note $'000 $'000
BiEE Fr v
Total assets less current liabilities REERRBRE 703244 605314
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Retirement benefit liabilities RRENBE 20(a) (16,497) (12,680)
Other payables H b fETARIE 18 (11,741)
Lease liabilities HEBE 22 (2,534) (2,915)
I 30772) (15595)
NET ASSETS EEFRE 672,472 589,719
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B R #E
Share capital &N 23(b) 252,524 252,524
Other reserves H At 444,048 365,312
Total equity attributable to equity RATIREREE AEGRER
shareholders of the Company 696,572 617,836
Non-controlling interests e (24,100) (28,117)
TOTAL EQUITY EmAE 672,472 589,719

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 February 2024.

L

Ramon S. Ang
Director

The notes on pages 72 to 133 form part of these financial statements.

Ft -

N

EHEFER S _NFE-_A-_t+NBHAEREE

E-3=378 Raymundo Y. Albano

EFE Director

,T/\ °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY & E R B3k

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

#

-

(ABHETE)

=F+=A=f—AILFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KAATEREEAREDH
Exchange Non-
Share Capital  fluctuation Retained controlling
capital reserve reserve profits  Sub-total interests  Total equity
K& BARE EXRBRE Wi fhtE Rt HERER EREE
Note $'000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000
53 i i i T I I I
Balance at 1 January 2022 R®=-F-A-Re# @S 0 U TR B
Changes in equity for 2022: “ECCEEREE.
Profit for the year EERT - - — 32,305 32,305 830 33,135
Other comprehensive income HthzEla 9 — — (11,206) (6,098) (17,304) 2786 (14,518)
Total comprehensive income FEEANGESE
A R _ na  ady b G e
Balance at 31 December 2022 ~ R=ZF==#
and 1 January 2023 +-A=+-AEk
e T¥ERoACRER W4 TR0 L A1 < . L S AL
Changes in equity for 2023: “ECCERREY
Profit for the year FEEF — — - 85,898 85,898 3,682 89,580
Other comprehensive income Hiw2EYE 9 — — (3,359) (67) (3,426) 335 (3,091)
Total comprehensive income FERENEEE
R E . (3359) 85831 &A72 A0 86489
Dividends approved inrespectof ~ E—BtEEREHEZRE
the previous year 23(c) — — — (3,736) (3,736) — (3,736)
Balance at 31 December 2023 ~ R=E==%
TZR=t-A%&t 252,524 112,970 69,229 261,849 696,572 (24,100) 672,472

The notes on pages 72 to 133 form part of these financial statements.

70

FINET72213BEZ RIAM T AART B IHK 2 — &

{/\ °



EEENEEBRARAT —B=FFHR

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT & RERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABHETE)
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Note $'000 $'000
PiEE Fr Tt
Cash generated from REXEBZHERA
operating activities 17(b) 93,327 37,159
PRC Corporate Income Tax paid B RSERSHR (4,620) —
Net cash generated from REEBZBHERA
__Operating activites  #®& 8707 315
Investing activities RETEE
Payment for purchase of property, INEWEE - HES B P SRIE
plant and equipment (24,504) (15,364)
Payment for purchase of investment properties AREI&E VT X — (721)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - WRKE f%ﬁﬁ?gﬁk
plant and equipment 3,532 1,900
Decrease in bank deposits RITEFRL — 30,579
Interest received B RS 3,411 1,268
Net cash (used in)/generated from REZH RS (RE) KA
investing activites _ B& (17,561) [0 1766270
Financing activities RUESEE
Repayment of loans from related companies BRTEERRZER 17(c) — (38,509)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BERHEENEARID 17(c) (375) (367)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEAHEERNF S I 17(c) (58) (66)
Interest paid BRFLE 17(c) (156) (894)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the ERARAEREEARE
Ccompany 23(c) (3,736) =
Net cash used in financing activities 1 BREBZASRMFE 4325 (39,836)
Net increase in cash and ReREFRRELER 2FHE
cash equivalents 3N 66,821 14,985
Cash and cash equivalents R—B—HZH2
at 1 January RERBELERER 17(a) 114,006 101,807
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes EXR#& 2% (848) (2,786)
Cash and cash equivalents RtTt-A=t+—HzEE
at 31 December RERRESERETF 17(a) 179,979 114,006
The notes on pages 72 to 133 form part of these financial statements. HRENRE1BE 2 FEN T AT EREZ — 3B
,T/\ °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R = HizE

72

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1 Material accounting policies 1 FESHBK

(@) Statement of compliance (@) ErE
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all AU EHRER BB EERA 2 B BMIEHE
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”), which B ([BBPIEMELER]]) MR - [ FHF
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial BRI ER| | — B ER S AEE
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and 2z A ERNERE B IFRE LR - &
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public el ([BEEER ) kR RER
Accountants ("HKICPA") and the requirements of the Hong Kong CRBNEDY ZIRTE o ZEZEBHRRMESTE
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with BEEXZFBRARRZS LmRA ([ LW
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing REND ZEARERTE - ANEEFKAZEE
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing SETBRBENT -
Rules”). Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.
The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first Eh et e BAE TRIES 2/ AN
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period FRIRESER|  WAANEEF 7 ASTHRE L
of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information on any changes in accounting HERS A RIERRY c sAEALEEAR
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the NEE T HETERFSI BN EHRINESE
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current accounting Bz A BER S BHE R AT BREA
period reflected in these financial statements. feik - BREERERHEE1C)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (b) wEBBBEHmK LR
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December BE—_E-_=F+-_A=1+—RHIEEZ%
2023 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as EUBmMERBEARARENB AR (515
the “Group”). RIAER]) -
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial BAFSERR T AR SE B AN B R 15 L YE o
statements is the historical cost basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSS requires IR A BB BRRELEQNBBREE R
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect EREFLeTEIRERAREE  8F -
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, AR R SRE S EBH HE - i R BER
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are HBRE - et R BBARRIVBEBELR N
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed ZEAMEEEBRIER TEAEMEMEEM
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form Bl EERK AU EEMIRIT TFEARS
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and RNEEHEERMEELHANERE - &
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results BRaERAIREA BN EhEt -
may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing et BB R AR - Bt hEtE
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 1TIBETRE - BEET R 2R - B8] 2
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in BT IR N ER - BT 2%
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both HA R R ERR - RIME(E T S AR SR BRFEI SR ©
current and future periods.
Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSS that A AN REEAERETEBENMEL
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources of MHE - ARIERE T —FE 2B HRERIE
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2. BB R R B B B 2 BT B0 AT I S = DI BT
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EEENEEBRARAT —B=FFHR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEBE (@
(c) Changes in accounting policies (c) EBXNEH
(i) Amended HKFRSs (i) RIGFTZ2EBHBREZER
The Group has applied the following amended HKFRSs issued by the REBECHATYBABESHEASRME
HKICPA to these financial statements for the current accounting period: 185] 2 BB & 4R E AR A5 I
KB R -

— Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in — BB ERESRAER] [ ST H
accounting estimates and errors: Definition of accounting &K BEMAETE B RIEGR - EFMEET
estimates HEZE ]

— Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements — BRI ERNE 1S [ BRI ZE
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making materiality judgements: ] REBUBEREENEBERES
Disclosure of accounting policies 2SRBMEET [1EHEXMEHE - 25

R EE

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not R EL BN R B R AR A AN 5T HA R i8] R AE AR

yet effective for the current accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of HEETE RS E - HARBE BB

the amended HKFRSs are discussed below: HEAWFEFHmIT

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in accounting ARG EREIRAER] [ BFHHE - &5

estimates and errors: Definition of accounting estimates BB RER - BEHEATHES

The amendments provide further guidance on the distinction between ZEET SR RE RS HAES

changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates. The )= RITR i —P985] - ZHFBTHEZE

amendments do not have a material impact on these financial statements MR RTESTEATE AARKEERDE
as the Group's approach in distinguishing changes in accounting policies TR EY R AT F SN ARZEE

and changes in accounting estimates is consistent with the amendments. i

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements BRI ENE R [ BRENZER] KA

and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making materiality judgements: PR ISR R B IS E 5 2 9IS ET [fEL

Disclosure of accounting policies BEAMHE - SR EE]

The amendments require entities to disclose material accounting policy ZEBIEREREREERSTHERES

information and provide guidance on applying the concept of materiality WAEEHMSEARSTBRBERMEE

to accounting policy disclosure. The Group has revisited the accounting 5l REBEENMBRHEEBENS TR
policy information it has been disclosing and considered it is consistent B WRAHEZEERT 8 -

with the amendments.

(i)  New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of the (i) HESHAEMRIVYERES — EHER

abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism

As disclosed in note 20(c), in June 2022, the Government of the Hong
Kong SAR (the “Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the "Amendment Ordinance”), which will come into effect
from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date"). Once the Amendment Ordinance
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory contributions to mandatory provident fund
("MPF") scheme to reduce the long service payment (“LSP”) in respect
of an employee’s service from the Transition Date (the abolition of the
“offsetting mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of the service
before the Transition Date will be calculated based on the employee’s
monthly salary immediately before the Transition Date and the years of
service up to that date.

BRI S E 2 HiEsl

R FE200)HE RZE-_—_F A &F
BERBFTIEES (2022 & 1E KRR
ZEG R HE) (BET) KO ([1BETIK
Bll) - ga-—ZEZ_a€ERA—HB ([BERB
D) BBAEK o —BERTIEMIAER - BEHT
BERAERFIMRESHAEEZTMR
HED - RS ERE BIRAGFH 2 REIRS
& o BN RIBEBBAIRREFHZ K
fRis & BiZEE ZERE B2 A LE
2BREBHZRGFHAHZ -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEHE (@

(c) cChanges in accounting policies (Continued) (c) EFtEBEMNEH (&)

(i)  New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of the (i) HEEHARREVEARES — S8R
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism (Continued) BEEHEE cat HE 2 HEs (B)
In July 2023, the HKICPA published the captioned accounting guidance RZE_=F+F BFELMAEEMH L
relating to the abolition of the offsetting mechanism. In particular, the MBERBUHZE RSl 2 25 Z 2R MR
guidance indicates that entities may account for the accrued benefits 5l o ¥ESI L EHIBHE R A TEE AN E
derived from mandatory MPF contributions that are expected to be used T RERIRG© 256 aiE e AT
to reduce the LSP payable to an employee as deemed contributions by EXZ Rt AZEEHRERS 2
that employee towards the LSP. HPRMALR ©
To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the offsetting RTERERMEVEEEREINEEAND - K
mechanism, the Group has applied the above HKICPA guidance and SECEA RESETMAEES D
changed its accounting policy in connection with its LSP liability, which FREERHARB 8 EEENETECR -
should result in a catch-up profit or loss adjustment in June 2022 for BYR T - ZF N AHESELNREK
the service cost up to that date and consequential impacts on current R EHRISE AMBESE FEHY &
service cost, interest expense and remeasurement effects from changes Flegp —E - —FEHBERREHELNSE
in actuarial assumptions for the rest of 2022, with the corresponding MEtEFEETEINERAE  WHRAR
adjustment to the comparative carrying amount of the LSP liability. B ENLERABEETHAERE -
The abolition of the offsetting mechanism did not have a material impact BUEY R EI RS ANEFREE T — —
on the Group'’s profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 and FHZ A=t —HILFEZBmARAEE
the Group’s and the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2022. EARRAGIN -_ZE-_—_F+-_A=1+—H0
In light of the immaterial impact, the Group did not apply the change in its BN REEBEAFE - ERNFESIE
accounting policy retrospectively. Alternatively, the catch-up profit or loss K REETEBHSHBRES - 1o
adjustment of $522,000 was recognised in the current accounting period A e T A #E R 7 522,000 7T B hN1E 25
with the corresponding adjustment to the LSP liability. RS THRARE:BEELAER

K o

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (d) MHEBARIREZERER
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls WEBARREAAEEITHNERE - E4A%
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its BER2REEERMZAEEZAZEHNGE
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns e BEABAHEZERNEHFEEY
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has Bl 3R A BE 1B - BRI T2 EES - fETE A
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are EERTEAEERN EEZETERN
considered. (AAKEREMAFRE)
An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated KRB AR Z I B RmiFA I HIERB AL
financial statements from the date that control commences until the EUBHERRN  EEEHIELRLEAILE - AE
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions, and any BARRIcEzEHR  RIURRGFESE
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction RSB ARES (BT AINEET
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in the LR GEENBFEIEIN) - TIRGRE M
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra- EHRRIE - MEREZE - NEEBRNQF
group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, 22 XS MEE 2 RERER - TIUAKRE
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. RBFIEEZ XK o
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not IS IR IFE MR BN AR T]
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company and in respect of which HBAREZ  MAEBEREZERITE
the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those FBENTMARM MR BRSEBERE FHZ
interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual ERREARAUBEEEENEEES -
obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a HRAFBELESH  EEFEEBUAAEBE
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect SAEEMBAR I HREEFENMEL
to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the DIFERIE IR = o
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

[ ]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1. EEEBER (@

(d)  Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued) (d) MMERARARFERER (5)
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement IR AR R TR A B TEHON 5 N M R B A 2%
of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to IR BHEABEENEBRREERSF - JE
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the TREE R A B FE AR AR K EIBIELR
results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated income /\Hézf‘u’ii‘% LAy B A FE 1 iR i 2 K P B B A AR
statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as NEIERESTE R 25 -
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss BB A R < BB R S| B
of control are accounted for as equity transactions. EELNR S @ WEZZX AL -

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets MRAEEKRENB AT 2 =S - FLEL
and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interests IHERZB AR 2 EERGEREMNERH
and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised 3H Rt s K E i TR 4E A BB - AR 5
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date RiBzm o ERAKEMRE 2RI ERQF
when control is lost is measured at fair value. TJﬁﬁE IR R IR A A AR ERER ©

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a EARRBZHEARATRA - HE AR IA
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(i)(ii)). BRASEUREETE (RHEE10)GD) ZIiR °

(e) Property, plant and equipment (e) W% - WEERFRE

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1(j), with
the exception of construction in progress which is stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses (see note 1(i)i)):

— right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold properties
when the Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest; and

— items of plant and equipment including right-of-use assets arising
from leases of underlying plant and equipment (see note 1(g)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant
and equipment, less their estimated residual values, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is recognised in
profit or loss. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:

— Leasehold land and right-of-use assets are depreciated over the
unexpired term of lease.

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful
lives, being no more than 50 years.

BAEZIRAKARRBERSRE (R
10)) ZUBRSN - AT ROMDEE - HE28 RAR IR
AR RETITE MR EERYIR (REE0)
(ii)) -

— HEAREAEMERmZEMERA
ZERTELEHEYMFEEE ZEM

BEE X

— BRELBHBAESEREBEEZE
REEE W REFHEE (RWE
1) °

WEESR L EYE MBS RRIBER ZBE

DHEMBRAFRARBHAR ﬁ%ﬁﬁz

ZF - YRS E B ERRTHER
FETIYE - Has RRERARE G5 F

BEE (F) - R A FARE A
BEAORRTEMME R AERE PR - AHK
B R AT AT AR T

- HELRERREER R EREE
HARTE -
- EHET ENEFRAEREE

MR EEF A EAFEY (NBaa+
F) MEPBEHAENE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEHE (@

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) (e) W - WEBRHRME (@)
— Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures 210 50 years — MBS« JRAE - MEERTF

BMREE
— Motor vehicles 5t0 7 years — i AFEELF
construction in progress is not depreciated until such time when the EEIRENEE A TK AR AFERRT
assets are substantially completed and ready for use. EEHRITE -
Where significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have E—IBYE  WENBEIZIETNHET
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable RIAY AT {E A EER - T8 B & 20D Z AR5 i
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. EEEMRSE - MEEHSEREBITE -
The depreciation method, useful life of an asset and its residual value, if REBBFEREHARBRATEEZITE L -
any, are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. TERAERALEFGEBELESFHE (W
)

(f)  Investment properties f) wEWE
Investment properties are land and buildings which are owned or held WEWEABRDHESWAR, S AEREE
under a leasehold interest (see note 1(g)) to earn rental income and/or for mEBIREREEZR (A1) HEH
capital appreciation. TH M EE o
Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation BV EIR KA 25T E LREE R EE
and impairment losses (see note 1(i)(ii)). Depreciation is calculated to write (RBFEE10)0) - FTETHBIRE W ER AR EH
off the cost of investment properties, less their estimated residual values, FIpEE () EREREEHLEMAR
if any, using the straight-line method over the shorter of the unexpired AfERFE CMEBR+F) ME P EEHIH
term of lease and their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 B EFTE iy -
years.
Depreciation methods, useful lives of the investment properties and their BEMENAEAFAREFSRER (0F)
residual values, if any, are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if B FreiigsT -
appropriate.
Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as described 8 ) B 2 WA AR SR BT 5 1(0)(il) Bt 75
in note 1(r)(ii). NEtE

(8) Leased assets (g HEEE

(i) As a lessee (i) ERAEBEA
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or REBREAFRBETIHEAORETEN (8
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys BE)HE - WA ABLIRREMERE—
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in AR NS B RIS EFE B - BIZ
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer SHER (EE) HE - WEFPIEERET
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain EHANEEZFRAXBREYERAEHMIEE
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use. RSB RNz - B S8 -
Where the contract contains lease components and non-lease HRBEHERY FIEEELD Z2EH - K
components, the Group has elected not to separate non-lease EEDEETNEIEREIS D P HERIE  Ma
components and accounts for each lease component and any associated HETBEHERSHES S RAEMEEZIEHE
non-lease components as a single lease component for all leases. BESERE—THEHD AR -
At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use REBNREEFG B HEREREEE M
asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that have a lease EaE HHEBAT-EAXAT 2EHA
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets which, for the EYREBEELEE (MAEEMSETEEATFIR
Group are primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters BRI AERM) 2HERIN - EAREE
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether MEEBEEEIVHER  AEFSREE
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments ZERBARERABHEEENL - 25
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as WHREAMZ HEHB 2 HEMNZTREHRR
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term. BEFWERAERAY -

I
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEBE (@
(8) Leased assets (Continued) (g) HMHEEE (B

(i) As a lessee (Continued) (i) EBEBA (B)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at
the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is recognised using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 1(e) and 1(i)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
Zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease modification,
which means a change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if such
modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property in “property, plant and equipment” and presents
lease liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current portion
of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the principal portion of
contractual payments that are due to be settled within twelve months
after the reporting period.

EHEEREZBERT - HEREBEVIZHHE
HRRENEEN K ZRERER - XEMRE
ERE 2Ry (MEBNEHEIAZEE) H6
IREEFRARBEE - RTHERE - HER
RIRMSHAANET & - MA BT R ERA

TSN EME 2 TZEEEMNK - AitE
RANRENEELZ S5t IR B Rk -

REE RN HER 2 FRIEEEN SRR
ANAE EhaiEREaGE oY mEMNE
MEItE B Hisk 2 AT{EH 2 ERAENFIAR
AMBEEEZVAREERAE  IEEFEL
BRAEEESIEERBEEREMESI
ZEFTRAINBR IR E W Rz HERE - #
REEEEBERANG RTITE MRES
B (RMEE1e) R 10)ii) 58K -

Mg B M R 2B B Y RRBEENHEE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEHE (@

(8) Leased assets (Continued) (g) MHEEE®

(i) Asalessor (i) {EBEBEA
The Group determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance REBNHERBBERBEHEETARSE
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it HESKEHE - WHEBHBEEMA#E
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership P 5 B 4B K B0 0 BB K Bl $R88 7% T oA A -
of an underlying asset to the lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as AIZMEESHARENRE  TADEAKE
an operating lease. HE -
When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group WHERSHERIFBERKID - BIXE
allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a EIZ BV EBEEBKEYREBEIEES
relative stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income from operating HKE D o KEHAENHSWARIEZHE
leases is recognised in accordance with note 1(n)(iii). (r)(iii) W R o

(h) Intangible assets (hy EBEREEE
Intangible assets represent acquired trademarks and club debentures and BILEERBABE LG MEEEILAKR
are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses (see note SRR EEIETIEE (RKIEE16)i) °
1(0)(D).
These intangible assets are not amortised as their useful lives are ZEBWEEWESN RAEAFEAFH
assessed to be indefinite and are tested annually for impairment (see note WEHE AT MEFAERE R (R
1(0)(D). FEA) ©
The conclusion that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite BEEAEZEAFHIRENERETT
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and circumstances R AREIBAEREB I TR EE 2T E
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. TEAEAFE 7S4S

(i)  Credit losses and impairment of assets iy GEBEREERE

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (i) BB IAEfTEZEEER
The loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected EIEBENTESHESNKRETEHEER
credit losses (ECLs), which are those losses that are expected to occur B BEWNE SRR EBUER AR - BRN
over the expected life of the trade receivables and amounts due from BARRBEAT (RE5HEE) HWERKE
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and related companies (trade- TR FHAZENEE BERBEHE
related). The loss allowance is estimated based on the Group’s historical RER—ENAEBENE L FEHEBLRE
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors HEBEEL - TIRBEEAREREZEL
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic A RRHE BRHEE R R TE R — AR
conditions at the reporting date. iR o
ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any changes recognised BEEEEBEESERSEENENTE £
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an A EHEERETPER o AEBFTERAR
impairment gain or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying BiER  YBRABERERYEWRE S LE
amount of trade receivables and amounts due from holding companies, Wzpen el - RRENB QR REER R (6
fellow subsidiaries and related companies (trade-related) through a loss Z S5 FIEMEREELEETR -
allowance account.
The gross carrying amount of a trade debtor or other receivable is written JERE SR A ERER N BR M AR R
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect B ATRERY 1B T T LARESH (D EEB) ©
of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the EER—REEESEBALEELEERNIR
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate SMAEEFHESBNEETRARIR -
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

[ ]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEBE (@
(i) credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) (i) FEBFEBREERE (&)
(ii)  Impairment of other non-current assets (i) HMERBEERE
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of REESEERARAEF2R: N EEERE

the following assets to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment:

— Property, plant and equipment;
— Investment properties;
— Intangible assets; and

— Investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
In addition, for intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are
largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating
units.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Value in
use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
or cash-generating unit. A portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (for example, head office building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if the allocation can be done on a reasonable and
consistent basis, or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.

An impairment 10ss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a cash-
generating unit are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets
in the unit on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the resulting
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R = HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1. EEEBER (@

() Inventories G =8
Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary course of FEREEAREBBEEYTHERENE
business, in the process of production for such sale or in the form of B HUEZGESEBETFEKS - A
materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the REAE B SEIRM RIS BB E R
rendering of services. SHFEM ©
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. FETIRA A A B IDEERE 2 K&

& -

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises BARAINFEF AR AL E - WEEMAR
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in B ~ IITRA K #5717 & = B3R i b 2 B
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. HASURTE A 2 EAB AR o
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of P EIRREAR BER G EER AT T
business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs BRARAS N AR ET S E A o
necessary to make the sale.
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is RHEFEE  ZEFE2FEERES®ER
recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is AU EARRSIER X ©
recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and GEMREN SR FEZEBMMETEE
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the B EEIRIIERY - FERUR
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down Ry e B 0 B £ B A A N TE
of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories R o
recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(k) Trade and other receivables (k) FEWRESRILAERE
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to FE U BR TE 7T AN 2 B A S (S R (B 2 #E T
receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is unconditional if FESMZRERHZ A H B4£E —ERER
only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration FERERR o
is due.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component TRESEEMERSHEWEESYIAER
are initially measured at their transaction price. Trade receivables that SERER - EWEFRERSEENREK
contain a significant financing component and other receivables are SMEA EWKIBRIIZ AR BEINZSE
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are AR - FTARUBERRERARER X%
subsequently stated at amortised cost, using the effective interest method REHKASERREEBEEE (R
and including allowance for credit losses (see note 1()(i)). 1030)(0)) °

(I)  Interest-bearing borrowings (I MEMER
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less MEBREVEAABERRSERER -
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing REERE - BB EFE R AR R AR
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest SRR ARTIME o F B H THIRM R 10 FrE Y
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the accounting SR ER -
policy set out in note 1(t).

(m) Trade and other payables (m) EFESRHEARE
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent FENE 5 REMBIBERVIZAABERER
to initial recognition, trade and other payables are stated at amortised Hg AR E s A YIE - MBI ETR
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case K v BIREEEHEELIE o
they are stated at invoice amounts.

I
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEBE (@

(n) cash and cash equivalents (n) BEREFHELEH
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand REeRERBLEREFRTET  HEL R
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly TREAMBFSHE 2 ERE R AR E N
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of S2RE  MZERERER ] 53K S 215
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, RecBARERBERAR TABAKL=
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash BARIEZIHEIEE - R LERKR LA
equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses in accordance with B EWEE10)0) FrRa b TERHE EEE -
the accounting policy set out in note 1()().

(0) Employee benefits (o) EEEF

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined (i) EHEEEAN R EREMTCRIK B 2 HER
contribution retirement plans
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is HHREERANREAEREEZE - R
provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the AEEFIBEREBIREREPERERIL
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as THTESERY NS5 - WA SEihatZ
a result of the past service provided by the employee and the obligation =75 AR AARE -
can be estimated reliably.
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are TFRAMFUR ARG 2IMt Ay AR R R AR IR
expensed as the related service is provided. R Y o

(ii)  Defined benefit plan obligations (i) TEEEANEZRE

The Group has the following two categories of defined benefit plans:

— defined benefit retirement plans registered under the Hong Kong
Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO plans”);
and

— LSP under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated
separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in the current and prior periods and discounting
that amount. For ORSO plans, the net obligation is after deducting the fair
value of plan assets. For LSP obligations, the estimated amount of future
benefit is determined after deducting the negative service cost arising
from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed by a qualified
actuary using the projected unit credit method. For ORSO plans, when the
calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is limited
to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any
future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the
plan.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans, which comprise
actuarial gains and losses and the return on plan assets in ORSO plans
(excluding interest) are recognised immediately in other comprehensive
income.

AEERAATMBAEEENE
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B BRAR MR IRET ) ([ B R KET
)R
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEHE (@

(0) Employee benefits (Continued) (0) EEEF @)

(i)  Defined benefit plan obligations (Continued) (i) TEEREAFEZERE (&)
Current service cost is measured as the increase in the present value IR RIS A BIZIRAEE E N RFSFTESL
of the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service in the MEEET B ErIBERENESSE - 252
current period. When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan MRS HIREE SR G GRS - BES
is curtailed, the portion of the changed benefit related to past service BERMEIRSE A B S EB) 2D St 4E R
by employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised as an ISHIBR - ST BIRE MR AR
expense in profit or loss at the earlier of when the plan amendment or RIABAE AR A EERBERR (UREE
curtailment occurs and when related restructuring costs or termination B MERSAERAYH - HRFIEXZH
benefits are recognised. Net interest expense or income for the period is SN FERBERS Y ETRENE
determined by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined BRI RRERNETEGNEBERE
benefit obligation at the beginning of the reporting period to the net EFEMET - MANIMERZRELEER
defined benefit liability or asset. The discount rate is the yield at the end EAREEFAEEERREENEECEE
of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity ENREBRNWZRET -
dates approximating the terms of the Group'’s obligations.
Current service cost and net interest expense or income on the net TEFEE T B E A EF B RGSKAFF
defined benefit liability are recognised in profit or loss and allocated by Y HSWAFREEERPER - WIREER
function as part of “cost of sales”, “selling and distribution expenses” or EBAETHEKRAK] THERSHERAT]
“administrative expenses”. [FTERAZ I H—& 5 -

(iii)  Termination benefits (i) #KIEEEEF
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group KRIEEERET AE AN EEREE LRAAIR
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group ERETHEREBEAKRABIES MR IEHE
recognises costs for a restructuring. B (ARFERE) BR -

(p) Income tax (p) FI8H
Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred RNEBFZFEHRBENPHREBENELEREE
tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax ERBEZEE -  APHEREERBEE
assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent RBEZEEBOEEITRER SRR
that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or Hirmkaskm el ERxhRRnEe -
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised FARE R I8 B9 BIAE E fh 2 T N S s RE 25
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. o
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable on the taxable income RNEATRIBE IR IE AN EEEEZFH A - FEAR
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end HEHEBFRIERABEI EZHEFTE 2 TEH
of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of FERTRSIE - WRtBEEE ~ FER B IEEE (T
previous years. Bk
Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable BLEHEEERAGEDSRBEERARE
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between the THERUERERANZEREEREREMES
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes ZA R ER o AR o [RIEFRIEE
and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses EJAAEMASAZHRESERLERE A
and unused tax credits. BB R PTELSE -

[ ]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
1  Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 FESHEE ©)
(p) Income tax (Continued) (p)  FiE® (@)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities and all
deferred tax assets, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the assets can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences include
those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax
asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities
are those temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences (provided they are not part of a business combination) and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related
tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein,
are presented separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously; or
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)
1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEHE (@
(p)  Income tax (Continued) (P) FREMH (&)
— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to — RIEFSMEEMALRE - SLBEMN
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either: BENBER—RISEEATA TS
— BRI FTISTR A -
— the same taxable entity; or - [ —FERTAALHE - ok
— different taxable entities, which, in each future period in - TRMERAEE - SLE
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or st EIETE A REIELFT
assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to SHREESEBEIELFR
realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax BHEE A B/ ZER
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously. REAR - IRFREELEFTRA
ST EEMBEARNIFT
SPHaE  KFAFFEZE
EMEEZBRE -
(@)  Provisions and contingent liabilities (q) BERIREE
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive BEeEAL S AEEERD ELNEH
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow AEEENETES  EmMBHEERES
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a BB EIRINR - 2R LAYE I P S /Y1
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, SHESRER c MMEEMEBESEA - BIIRTA
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows T = EFERAR RIR S E M IREST Y B
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value ZBAINERERE A TS EEEREEBED
of money and the risks specific to the liability. FHE AR Z B EN SRR
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be IR EH L& ERZHERING AT B 18
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is K skE A A EEREEL T EMMmET
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of BeBZEEEBEATREE  BERIMNG
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence AR IR (K BIBR AN » N RANE B W EFKE
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or BEERAERARREUHRDEET BT
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the EEFE - TEHERNBERE  BERI
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. T A] B AR AR BIBR A
Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision MR BEIREENT S X2 LB E
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is MR —HEE  ASTHATRENTEEES
recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually R—IEBEBNEAE - BRAFRIRSEER
certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the REEIEEBNIREESRE -
carrying amount of the provision.
()  Revenue and other income (n WARHEMYKE
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale RAEBNHBESBRES  AEBKEL
of goods or the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the EERSEMANEEFRNERRERNE
ordinary course of the Group's business. EfMEENRE - OFEERKA -
Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition BREAANEFIA M HMNRERB R E—F
policies are as follows: FRLANTE
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (i) REEFFNEHHRA
Revenue is recognised when control over a product is transferred to the EEDNEHEEETRE B AEETE
customer at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group is HARESNEAZEHESERRALA - T8
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of ERREZFWBNEEE - IEEREE
third parties such as value added tax or other sales taxes. T o
[ ]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEBE (@

()  Revenue and other income (Continued) (n WARHfMKE (&)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) (i) REEFEFNEHINRA (B)
Sale of goods HEWA
Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’ WAEEYZXRERFRATSAZ IR E
premises or picked up by customers or when goods are shipped on board MR EER RITEZPANTHIERM
or transported to a destinated location, depending on the terms agreed E o ARARPEIEMHREBFMEG T
with customers, which is taken to be the point in time when the customer BV S o
has accepted the goods and obtained the control of the goods.
The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 REERB THEEMBRELERFE155F
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a GIBHEVHTE - MR EHR A 12 A E
significant financing component if the period of financing is 12 months or BoAEBTSREEEMERD MAEYE
less. [

(i)  Revenue from other sources and other income (i) EHibRRARAFE A

@) Interest income (@) FLEWA
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest FEWATHRER TR EE -
method.

(b) Rental income from operating leases (b) LEAE 2 S BA
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or 10ss on wEHE HSWA - EHBANEEELE
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives granted are EERPER - REHEYEEE T EAFT
recognised as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments e FHEREN —BHONEERRE
receivable over the lease term. BmPER -

(© Governments grants (© RTHE BN
Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position W78 & IRIRTE 7N & B ¥ AT W GZ U 74 B -
initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and LA R 118 388 < U BN 5% 168 B o B A5 M6 - R
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants BV ETEKRRFER - HELAEE
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as ST HEABFREE c AIEEZXEEHE RS
income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which MR P IR AR -
the expenses are incurred.

(s) Translation of foreign currencies (s) HhEEHB

(i) Functional and presentation currency (i) MEERREREN
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s REBEWB AT ZHEREABIEZHE
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary economic B iRZBARKER T TBLKBER
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The BrEE ([ 518 - KUK HRE
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, LB TT 2% - MABTARATIZIHER 2R
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. B o

(ii) Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into the  (ii) FRINEET IR G HUR FHHE 2 INE

functional currency at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into the functional currency at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.

EXGERINEGEER - LWINEEEZB]E
ENEE AEERZINEEXBE R
BEEHE - BB IR ABET o

ASNEIZ RS KA GHEBRFE R BEER AR
R 5 B M N TE S ETTIRE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)
1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEHE (@
(s) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued) (s) INEHB ()
(i)  (Continued) iy (&)
The results of operations outside Hong Kong are translated into Hong EBAINETS IS TR ER 5 HIEXRE
Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates approximating the foreign EHERBE SEE - ISR KRMIER L
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of EHOMERRE LB - TEENERZE
financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing BmEECERERN DR - LRI
foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting BRPEEL RBFEES Rt -
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange fluctuation reserve.
On disposal of an operation outside Hong Kong, the cumulative amount BHETHBUINERE  EZEREBEME
of the exchange differences relating to that operation is reclassified from RABF S EEENRTEL ZES W ER
equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised. NE| AR R Sk EE o
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary items that ERIBEEEERNIINEERER (BERIBRE
in substance form part of the net investment in an operation outside BLAINETS B FIRE R — 2 {n) BAERE 2
Hong Kong, together with any related tax, are reclassified to equity on TBENRSHEEF B HESBARERE
consolidation. = o
(t) Borrowing costs (t) BERE
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. EERASEESNHBYERY
(u) Related parties (v BEAL
(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the (i) BERIALT  HEEZEBHKREWRAEEAR
Group if that person: EEBEEAL  WEZKERAL
©) has control or joint control over the Group; ©) Tl EIEFIAER
@) has significant influence over the Group; or ) HAEBBEAFEN : 3k
©) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or €) AREBENIAEET AT EEZETIEA
the Group’s parent. BREZ— -
(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies: (ii) —(AEBNFTEEM TR - RIERAEE
AEEBEAL
©) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which ©) ZEBNASBEER 5B E’JﬁJZ g8
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related (i%‘ﬂz‘k%ifﬁl A HWEA
to the others). B 2B A R 2 RER) -
) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or ) —(EAEREES—EEEeE N nka
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the B (L—RHAERBAX —SEKE
other entity is a member). HEEARINAERE  MB B
RE—SEZKE) -
©) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. @) MEERBRAR=THNEEDRE
) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is ) —AEERF—EATENEELE
an associate of the third entity. mME—(EAEEAEE=([AEENEHZEA
Ej °
[ ]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEBE (@
(u) Related parties (Continued) (uy BEAL @
(ii)  (Continued) (ii) (&)
(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of (5) ZEBERE T ARG EAEE
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group. BEEATNEENESHEREZET
&l -
®) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified (6) ZEBRBXT EX() T ATESIs
in (). [RZE ] o
) A person identified in ()(1) has significant influence over the entity @) NATEMENALHZERS
or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or Ej( iijﬂzz%* B (RZEBE
of a parent of the entity). NaE]) TEEBAEKEZ— -
®) The entity or any member of a group of which it is a part provides ®) MALEKNAEBERRREFEE
key management personnel services to the Group or to the BRERBzERIHMBEB (T
Group’s parent. A B AT
Close members of the family of a person are those family members who FERATHEZREBKE JVIEXHENER
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their BB SRR RE R B BB B -
dealings with the entity.
(v) Segment reporting (v) SHBEREH
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported BN HBRNPBRERAZ2 WS 5 EBIEE

in the financial statements, are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,
the Group's various geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

i%ﬁ BEHRHETAKRESSTRERAR
FLE TR BC S sH A AR B R K75 MR B E P
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BN EERMREEE - AETFEE

BFEEAS AR - AESBCE SRR
A REBERBMMEE A EAL - TRIE

EAEREEDBIEHETARE - @BIFEEKX
RS ER - INRFE Bl KEHIZ%E - B
AETEHE ©
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2 Key accounting judgements and estimates 2 EEEHAERMA

Impairment of non-current assets FRBEEZRE

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of non-current assets at each AEERSHRE B PR IERBEEMNER

reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of B UREREFERENTEHER - EM

impairment. When indicators of impairment is identified, management BIEZHRTE  SEERTESAEENHRR
determine the recoverable amounts of respective assets or cash- REEMRAWREISEE - AfEESERAD

generating units. The recoverable amount is the greater of its fair value BEBEEXKAEFEFHAEERNENRSE °

less costs of disposal and value in use. In determining the fair value less RETAABEMHEEKAE  BHEEER

costs of disposal, management refer to the observable market prices ZHRBEENABEMISER - NEEHFEH
for similar assets. In determining the value in use, expected cash flows BER AFREEIRIRSENEEDN
generated by the assets or cash-generating units are discounted to TBER @ RBAIRZRE - BET P REIK
their present value, which requires significant judgement relating to the ATEA - RREER AT R IRERNEKR

revenue forecasts, estimations of future operating costs and discount FIEr o NEEER A A AERAREE T

rate. The Group uses all readily available information in determining an Bl2ENSEME - 2r/ e ERERE

amount that is a reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount. B BEBEBRERER - Af - £HE

When the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount, an mEEETP BB ERF (B ig 1L N

impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. However, any change in BARERERE  WEEAEENP IR

the assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts would increase or W IEREBEEMNEEMEmMEFE RN
decrease the provision for impairment loss and affect the Group's financial BaE11 R 12 R 3 5E -

position. Details of the nature and carrying amounts of non-current assets

are disclosed in notes 11 and 12.

3  Revenue and segment reporting 3 WARSEEHER
(@) Revenue (@ WA

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and distribution AEBZEBEKAZER D HBE -

of bottled, canned and draught beers. i SEng ) o

Revenue represents the invoiced value of products sold, net of discounts, WA EEMZBEZ@ENRTN - &

returns, value added tax and consumption tax. | - BEHREm e

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS REBKREA T B ST IEREERE 15955

15 to revenue such that the information does not include information 1BHROBRTE  AEBTHAERSTEL

about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the EHNFBERE A FAERNBHERH

remaining performance obligations under the contracts that had an B AFBEE °

original expected duration of one year or less.

(b) Segment reporting (b) HWBERZH

The Group manages its businesses by geography. In a manner consistent REBIZMEEREER - REALERE

with the way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s HMAERNEEZGSETHEEABINMESRE

most senior executive management for the purposes of resource BEFEREER B AEBERZ2HR M5
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the MEET 23RO EE -

following two reportable segments:

— The Hong Kong operations mainly comprise the manufacture — BEAEKTERREERS LBINE
and distribution of own brewed beer products and distribution of RoiHE B EER 2 BHE LD IHE
imported beer products in Hong Kong and overseas. A2 EEEm ©

— The Mainland China operations mainly comprise the manufacture — FRAMESEEBRREREARSL
and distribution of own brewed beer products in the southern part ME (THE]) mEkaisE ks
of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and overseas. HE FREER s BEER

All of the Group’s revenue is generated from the manufacture and AREBZWAZIRERIE R DHBE «

distribution of bottled, canned and draught beers. H R RREEE o

I
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3 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued 3 WARSESEIEHER (&)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) SEER2IR (HE)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (i) DEEE  BERERE

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s senior executive management
monitor the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets and other
assets with the exception of deferred tax assets. Segment liabilities
include trade creditors and accruals attributable to the manufacture and
distribution activities of the individual segments and retirement benefit
liabilities managed directly by the segment and other liabilities with the
exception of deferred tax liabilities.

The measure used for reportable segment profit or loss is “adjusted
EBIT” i.e. adjusted earnings before interest and taxes, where “interest”
is regarded as including interest income from bank deposits, interest
expense on loans from related companies and lease liabilities. To arrive
at adjusted EBIT the Group's earnings are further adjusted for items
not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as net foreign
exchange gains. Inter-segment sales are priced at cost plus a profit margin.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the
Group’s accounting policies described in note 1.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource

AFRFED RTINS EER - NEBZ
SETHREBEASNRATEREREAT
RN AL ZFE  BERAE

DHEEBREMEBRNEE BIYEERH
EE - EREHBEERI - DHAER
RN BELE M S B RIG BN E 5k
ARRER - HBEREENRKENR
EANEMEE - HEREHBBERI -

AEATERBNNEEMRABZIER
[ BHATHE ] AR RS LA AT
Z A - MBBERITFERNSUWA - BE
AEERLEEREN S - JFAEER
BRI B R IE B NEE S F BN S KRR E
AEREREBAMNE] - DEZHMEE
AR IEEABIEEE o

BYEWmMO Bz EABREM 1A Z A
EEEERAER -

HE-_Z =R -_FT-_—F+-_A=+—
it BAREFAEERESETREEA

allocation and assessment of segment performance for the years ended BUSBERKTED HBRE ZEREIN
31 December 2023 and 2022 is set out below: ~:
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
i FER By
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC-ZE —E-CfF —EC-ZE —E-CF —EC-ZE —ZoCF
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T r i r T
Revenue from external customers MRZEMA 450,352 397,339 291,267 283,824 741,619 681,163
Inter-segment revenue DEBZRBA 329 200 — = 329 200
Reportable segment revenue BFERDHRA 450,681 397,539 291,267 283,324 741,948 681,363
Reportable segment BFERD PLE

profit/(loss) from operations &3/ (B1)

(adjusted EBIT) (BEBRASAET) 17,505 (12,120) 44,463 43,351 61,968 31,231
Interest income from bank deposits 477z EMA 2,767 339 1,147 930 3914 1,269
Interest expense on loans ERAa X - (736) (156) (158) (156) (894)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (21,687) (20,908) (2,559) (1,906) (24,246) (22,8314)
Net provision for impairment of trade B E SR EMEE

and other receivables FRERE (222) (33) — — (222) (33)
Reportable segment assets BFEHRDHEE 938,978 917,178 138,771 138,010 1,077,749 1,055,188
Additions to non-current segment  FRIEREI D BEELN

assets during the year 17,237 9,489 7,267 6,59 24,504 16,085
Reportable segment liabilities ATEHRIVERE 90,616 85,028 342,012 380,441 432,628 465,469

[ ]
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BARSBEFZ® (&)
PBERLR (8
AT2ESHEA - 8%  BERAMEZ

3  Revenue and segment reporting (Continued 3
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b)

(ii) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, (ii)

90

assets and liabilities

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Revenue WA
Reportable segment revenue AT EWmMH A 741,948 681,363
Elimination of inter-segment revenue 7802 A B (329) (200)
Consolidated revenue RAEIRA 741,619 681,163
Profit &ZF|
Reportable segment profit from operations AT E2WmMyEpaEE BT 61,968 31,231
Interest income from bank deposits HRITFERFEMA 3,914 1,269
Net foreign exchange gains bE SR & A 777 3,458
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNEXZH (58) (66)
Interest expense on loans from related companies  BEE R sl B A E 7 H (156) (894)
Consolidated profit before taxation R BRTIRI & A 66,445 34,998
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ATERDBEE 1,077,749 1,055,188
Elimination of inter-segment receivables 78 2 i FE U BR TR S 8 (297,544) (335,844)
780,205 719,344
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE B 27,351 —
consolidated total assets REBEE 807,556 719,344
Liabilities af&
Reportable segment liabilities ATEmMHHBEE 432,628 465,469
Elimination of inter-segment payables 780 2 [ FE A~ BR IR S8 (297,544) (335,844)
Consolidated total liabilities FEREE 135,084 129,625
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3 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued 3 WARSESEIEHER (&)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) SDBERZW HE)

(ili)  Geographic information (i) HEER
The following table sets out information about the geographic location of TR B () AEBE IR P BA K (i) &
(i) the Group's revenue from external customers and (i) the Group’s non- EEIERBEE ([EBETIERBEE]) it
current assets (“specified non-current assets”). The geographic location BUBER BEZWEBEMNERRESELE
of customers is based on the country of establishment of each customer. PR EFTERRME c ETEIERBEE
The geographic location of the specified non-current assets is based BN ERRBEECERME (WEY
on the physical location of the assets, in the case of property, plant and ¥ OHMENRENKEDE) NESBRER
equipment and investment properties and the location of the operation to BEZEEME (HEBEEFEE) ME

which they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets.

Revenue from

external customers Specified non-current assets
HREFRA EBEFRBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC-=fF —E-F —E-=F —E-F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Tt Fr T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) &8 (&) 258,622 . LIEL .. an2sa Sle el |
Mainland China AR i 63,625 60,826 37,936 35,636
International B B 419,372 376,556 — =
482,997 437,382 37,936____________3_'5_,{)?_6____
741,619 681,163 449,190 451,777
(c)  Major customers (c) FEEF
The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes one customer REEEEZ b2 TP AR - Hpl—
(2022: one customer), with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of (ZZ2==F: —f) BEPORSEEERA
the Group's revenue. Revenue from sales to this customer during the BB 10% - LT AZERFPINAFEEARE
reporting period is set out as below. BErRZ 525 1E ©
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-—
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Largest customer (arose from both Hong Kong HEEARE (RREB R
and Mainland China segments) A B A 5 E) 406,090 366,028
— Percentage of total revenue — LB A B 55% 54%
Details of concentration of credit risk arising from this customer are set REAZEREF ZEERBRETRFBEHNME

out in note 24(a). 24(a) °
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4  Other netincome 4 HaSPEH
2023 2022
—E:-=5F —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fx Tt
Rental income from investment properties FEMEHE WA 33,115 24,924
Government subsidies (note) ETraas (PsE) — 6,168
Interest income from bank deposits RITE R BURA 3,914 1,269
Net gain on disposal of property, plant LEMZE -« MR REREFEF
and equipment 1,152 66
Net foreign exchange gains b 5 5 & A 777 3,458
Others Efth 517 547
39,475 36,432
Note:  In 2022, the Group successfully applied for funding support from the Wik : RZZEZ=F  AEERBUTERILAEE

Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the
Government. The purpose of the funding was to provide financial support
to employers to retain their current employees or hire more employees

when the business revives.

5 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

NEESH [RIE] TEIRKEBFE
By ZEMMBNERAPERMEMEX
& REBAEERERNEBRE QA
MIEREREZET -

FRiRaERF

BRELATRFIE kR, (FFA) TFIE

B :

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
(@) Finance costs (a) HBER
Interest expense on loans from related FERNRIEFRFEZ T
companies (note 17(c)) (Mi3E 17(c)) 156 894
Interest on lease liabilities (note 17(c)) HEAaBENEXT
(ftsE17(c) 58 66
Bank charges RITEM 125 115
339 1,075
(b) Staff costs (b) EBEIHM
Retirement costs RIRE A
— Contributions to defined contribution — ERRHFGRIRGTEIAI R
retirement plans 7,613 6,826
— Expenses in respect of defined benefit — RN EREEEF BN T
plans
— ORSO plan (note 20(a)(v)) — BRI S
(MI7E20(@)(v)) 3,676 4,280
— Long service payments — RER% S 632 —
11,921 11,106
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMET 130,611 124,532
142,532 135,638

92



EEENEEBRARAT —B=FFHR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
5  Profit before taxation (Continued) 5 KRREN @
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BREAIANEMG S (5T A) T3E
(Continued) H : (&)
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr v
(c) Other items (c) HfbiEE
Depreciation nE
— Owned property, plant and equipment — BRI - #ES KR
(note 11) (Fff5E11) 8,161 6,790
— Right-of-use assets (note 11) — EAEEE (MsE11) 16,085 16,024
Cost of inventories” (note 14) TFERA" (FiEE14) 454,734 432,684
Expense relating to short-term leases R E MRS 695 717
Rental receivable from investment properties B 2 B WRAR
less direct outgoings of $7,642,000 BE#EEM7,642,0007T
(2022: $7,722,000) (ZZE=—=% :7,722,0007T) (25,473) (17,202)
Auditors’ remuneration — audit services ZERNE — ZERS 3,210 3,085
Net provision for impairment of trade and U E 5 K H M BRIEF BB
other receivables (note 24(a)) B (BisE24() 222 336
# Cost of inventories includes $60,811,000 (2022: $56,191,000) relating to ! FEXNABREEIFM TERIA
staff costs and depreciation expenses, which amount is also included in 60,811,0007C ( —F = = 4 : 56,191,000
the respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in note 5(b) for 7L) * BESEE IR A X SR S0) S
each of these types of expenses. ZERYTERD R HENSEETE -
6 Income tax in the consolidated income 6 IFREBRRZMER
statement
(@) Taxation in the consolidated income statement (@) #HmEWERZAMEHIE:
represents:
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Frx Tt
Current year — Mainland China FEE — PEA
Provision for the year FREE 3,591 —
Deferred tax ELEHIE
Origination and reversal of temporary differences ~ Eff=%58 2 I8 LB O
(note 21(b)) (MisE21(0)) (26,726) 1,863
(23,135) 1,863
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the Company A EER RETFUIEE BB E R
and other Hong Kong subsidiaries for 2023 because the accumulated tax EHHNBEERZEER  WARTREMES
losses brought forward exceed the estimated assessable profits or the MBARNZZEZ=FEWEREBEBFEH
entities sustain losses for taxation purposes. YEH S -
[ ]
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6 Income tax in the consolidated income 6 RelBRZMBR
statement (Continued) ()

(@) Taxation in the consolidated income statement (@ HmEWBIBRZFBHE (B

represents: (Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made for the Company
and other Hong Kong subsidiaries for 2022 because the entities sustained
losses for taxation purposes.

The Group’s operations in the PRC are subject to Corporate Income Tax
Law of the PRC. The standard PRC Corporate Income Tax rate is 25%.

No provision for current taxation had been made for the subsidiaries
established in the PRC for 2022 because the accumulated tax losses
brought forward exceeded the estimated assessable profits or the entities
sustained losses for taxation purposes.

AR R E M E BB QB ARG R E
B R T —FEIERBTBNEHRE

A -

AREBEREMEBRETHRELEMGN
V& o PRI EMISTHAIRER X 5 25% ©

AR A E R R BIRE R B (4 M R
EANHERRRER - SR BRI B

(b) Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expense (b) HBEBRABRITEMNMREHE GTA)
and accounting profit at applicable tax rates: YT HEEH R HEE
2023 2022
—EBCo=F —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fr Fit
Profit before taxation BRAE AT & 66,445 34,998
Notional tax on profit before taxation calculated Tt AT 2 8 B F BARE A Y
at the rates applicable to the tax jurisdictions BRE (ML)
concerned (note) 14,922 9,833
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses PAHRAS 2 B2 1,001 1,792
Tax effect of non-taxable income IERBMIA Z THIEF 2 (743) (1,146)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised for deferred — RFERIEIER I8 2 F AR 1B
tax purposes — 3,679
Tax effect of other temporary differences not AR IR A E R = 2
recognised for deferred tax purposes ZIER B (2,896) (7,403)
Tax effect of previously unrecognised tax losses REEFARERRIBER
utilised this year ZTIARE (10,048) (4,892)
Tax effect of previously unrecognised tax losses R RIAR R 5 & 18
recognised this year Z AR 2 (20,294) —
Tax effect of previously unrecognised other ERZ AR EREM YR =2
temporary differences recognised this year Z IR (5,077) —
Actual tax (credit)/expense FEHE GIA) X (23,135) 1,863

94

Note:  For the year ended 31 December 2023, the notional tax is calculated

in accordance with the statutory tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong and established in the PRC of 16.5% (2022:

16.5%) and 25% (2022: 25%) respectively.

B

HE_Z-_=+-_A=+—HILFE"
AEEENRBERARERSZEMA T
REFBKIHFRABDRA165%(=
T F 0 165%) M25% (ZFEZ—F -
25%) BETERIER o
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7 Directors’ emoluments 7 EFie

IREEA R EEBIE 383(1) 5 R (A F] (=
EENmER) RO B2 REMMEZ

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows: FEEMELT -
2023
—EC=E
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
e 2HRE
£k WMER HERL  BAGEHERK B
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr Tr T Tr Tr
Executive directors BTES
Raymundo Y. Albano iz 2,270 — — 2,270
Non-executive directors FBTES
Ramon S. Ang E2375°¢ — - - —
Carlos Antonio M. Berba SUER — — — —
May (Michelle) W.M. Chan FREx — - — —
Roberto N. Huang HER
(deceased on (R=Z==F
4 November 2023) +—AmBit) — — — —
Fumiaki Ozawa INEF R — — — —
Kenji Uchiyama AILE=
(resigned on (R=Z==%
24 April 2023) 1WA =+ A 8EHE) — — - —
Tomoki Yamauchi LIRS
(resigned on (R=Z==%F
24 April 2023) T A=+70REEE) - - - -
Yoshinori Inazumi Tt Al
(appointed on (R=Z==#%
24 April 2023) WA =—+MBRERT) - - - -
Yoshinori Tsuchiya TERE
(appointed on (R=Z==F
24 April 2023) MAZ+mARERAE) — — — —
Independent BUFHTES
non-executive directors
Alonzo Q. Ancheta Alonzo Q. Ancheta — — — —
David K.P Li ZEE — — — —
SumLi TR — — — —
Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno — — — —
Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan Jr. Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan Jr. — — — —
2,270 — — 2,270
I
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7 Directors’ emoluments (Continued) 7 EFEMe (&
2022
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors' and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees inkind bonuses contributions Total
e 2UMRE
EEtiosa YRk BT RIRETEIER ok
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T T Fr Fr
Executive directors HTES
Raymundo Y. Albano B
(appointed on (R=ZB==F
16 January 2022) —RAT BREZRE) = 2,377 = = 2,377
Ramon G. Torralba HEE
(resigned on (RZZ==F
16 January 2022) — A+ RREET) = 82 = = 82
Non-executive directors kBTES
Ramon S. Ang B — — — — —
Carlos Antonio M. Berba SUER = = = = =
May (Michelle) W.M. Chan BEx — — — — —
Roberto N. Huang =2BRE = = = — =
Fumiaki Ozawa INELR = = = = =
Kenji Uchiyama AlE= = = = = =
Tomoki Yamauchi kS = = = = =
Independent BIYFHTES
non-executive directors
Alonzo Q. Ancheta Alonzo Q. Ancheta = = = = =
David K.P Li FEE = = = = =
SumLi TR = = = = =
Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno — — — — —
Thelmo Luis . Cunanan Jr. Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan Jr. = = = = =
— 2459 — — 2459
The executive director waived his entitlement to his director’s fees. All %M?%%EES_@TEE?@:% c FTAIEHITES
of the non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors LENIERTEEEHMEELMAEMNS -
waived their entitlements to all their emoluments.
I
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(BRABIETIN - BIRAEEEHEHE)

Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2022: one) is a
director whose emoluments are included in note 7. The aggregate of the

BRRFABAET  —B(ZT-_F: —

e N7 REE) - Hik
To_F M%) MeskszABZ

emoluments in respect of the other four (2022: four) individuals are as % (
follows: iGN
2023 2022
—E-=F T
$'000 $'000
Fr v
Salaries and other emoluments e KoERL 8,366 7,966
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET R 207 261
8,573 8,227
The emoluments of the four (2022: four) individuals with the highest e (ZE2ZZF - %) lesmcABZ
emoluments are within the following bands: eoranT
2023 2022
—EC-=f T
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ABHEE AE#E
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,000 7T 3 3
$2,000,001 to $2,500,000 2,000,001 7t 2,500,000 7T — —
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 2,500,001 7t £ 3,000,000 7T — 1
$3,000,001 to $3,500,000 3,000,001 7t 2 3,500,000 7T 1 —
[
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9 Other comprehensive income 9 HEth2mEmka
Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income Hit 2 s g o fiEr 2
2023 2022
—EC=f -z
Before-tax Net-of-tax  Before-tax Net-of-tax
amount  Tax effect amount amount  Taxeffect amount
BHASE  BEYE REASE RKUNeE  TEYE RKeE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr Tr Tr Tr Tr Tr
(note 21(b)) (note 21(b))
(Kt&E21(b)) (BEE2100))
Exchange differences on AREEALSNHBA R
translation of financial Bk kAR E AN EE
statements of subsidiaries RE ARl 2 REMEKIEE
outside Hong Kong and FEEZELER

monetary items that form
part of the net investment in
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong (3,024) — (3,024) (8,420) = (8,420)

Remeasurement of defined benefit  EERAEH2IEE
plan obligations (note 20(@)(v)) LEHEE

(KE20@))) (692) 625 (67) (7,961) 1,863 (6,098)

Other comprehensive income Hin2mia (3,716) 625 (3,091) (16,381) 1,863 (14,518)

10 Earnings per share 10 ©EER

(@) Basic earnings per share (@) BREXEF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BRERABFNDIRBEARNAEZFE
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of $85,898,000 (2022: A JE {5 & F ££85,898,000C ( = & = —
$32,305,000) and on 373,570,560 (2022: 373,570,560) ordinary shares, F 32,305,0007E) & K F F W 2 %17
being the number of ordinary shares in issue throughout the year. 2 373,570,560 1% & & I’ ( ——fF:

373,570,560 % & @J&) &

(b) Diluted earnings per share (by BRESEF
Diluted earnings per share is not presented as the Company did not have BRESERFWAR TIE - AARARFTNEE
dilutive potential ordinary shares for both years presented. HESEHE BT EREFE -

——
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11 Property, plant and equipment and investment 11 ¥¥ - BRRBHRIBEIYME
properties

(@) Reconciliation of carrying amount (@) REEBEHK

Property, plant and equipment

NE BERRE
Ownership
interests
inland and Machinery,
buildings held  equipment,
forownuse furniture and Motor  Construction Investment
carried at cost fixtures vehicles  in progress Sub-total properties Total
DRSS E
fEBAZEE
TREFe  BE RE-
BERRER BRREE X ] ERIR fit RENZ B
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i Fr r r r i r
Cost: B
At 1 January 2022 i R 1,047,924 1,684,947 5,584 7949 2,746,404 213,569 2,959,973
Exchange adjustments B A% 41,352) (60,001) 212) (6) (101,571) = (101,571)
Additions AR 1223 6,960 68 7113 15,364 21 16,085
Transfer from constructionin progress  EAEERTHE 1,03 8,802 = (9:839) = = =
Disposals & (437) (2.924) (39) - (3,400) - (3.400)
At 31 December 2022 W=E-—F+-A=1-H 1,008,394 1,637,784 5,401 5218 2,656,797 214,290 2,871,087
Accumulated depreciation and ZIERAERE
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-—%-A-H 787,218 1,608,310 4,126 - 2,399,654 101,39 2,501,050
Exchange adjustments ERAE (39,249) (58,763) (205) — (98,217) — (98,217)
Charge for the year (note 5(c)) FRFEZ (M) 10,815 6,761 506 — 18,082 4732 2814
Written back on disposals HERD (437) (1,09) (39 — (1,566) = (1,566)
At 31 December 2022 RZB-—F+-fA=+-H 758,347 1,555,218 4388 — 2,317,953 106,128 2,424,081
Net book value: REEE
At 31 December 2022 W=Z-—F+-A=1-H 250,047 82,566 1,013 5218 338,344 108,162 447,006
Cost: R
At 1 January 2023 R=ZE-=%-f-H 1,008,394 1,637,784 5,401 5218 2,656,797 214,290 2,871,087
Exchange adjustments B 5 (6,631) (9,644) (34) (4) (16,313) — (16,313)
Additions AE - 6,010 - 18,494 24,504 — 24,504
Transfer from construction in progress ERETRIR 2,178 6,521 334 (9,033) — — -
Disposals st (8,274) (23,115) (785) - (32,174) — (32,174)
At 31 December 2023 R=B-=F+-fA=+-H 995,667 1,617,556 4916 14,675 2,632,814 214,290 2,847,104
Accumulated depreciation and ZITERAERE
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2023 RZZ-=%5-f-H 758,347 1,555,218 4,388 - 2,317,953 106,128 2,424,081
Exchange adjustments B A% (6,296) (9,519) (33) - (15,848) - (15,848)
Charge for the year (note 5(c)) FRFAZ (HFE5(0) 10,894 8,147 491 — 19,532 4714 24,246
Written back on disposals HERE (8,274) (20,735) (785) — (29,794) — (29,794)
At 31 December 2023 AZZ-=F+-A=1-H 754,671 1,533,111 4,061 - 2,291,843 110,842 2,402,685
Net book value: IREEE
At 31 December 2023 AZE-=%+t-A=1-H 240,996 84,445 855 14,675 340,971 103,448 444,419
]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)
11 Property, plant and equipment and investment 11 P% BZERBHERIEIDE ©®
properties (Continued)
(b) Investment properties (b) ®EWYE
The Group leases out investment properties which are located at Nos. AEBRELLEHESUNE S HKEK
9-11 Shing Wan Road, Tai Wai, Shatin, Hong Kong under operating leases. ER-MM 2 EMELE - HAOFH—
The leases typically run for an initial period of two to fifteen years, with MAE—E+TE  AEERIHRBESE
an option to renew each lease after that date at which time all terms are %4 BB EFE A GRK - AEMBAH
renegotiated. None of the leases includes variable lease payment terms. TEFE AT BT S FETR ©
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases NS BAR R T AT i S AT 2 A & T B UR 2 R 2R
in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group in future HEZENT -
periods as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-F
$'000 $°'000
Fr T
Within 1 year —F A 42,101 13,196
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMERN 42,951 969
After 2 years but within 3 years MEER=FNK 44,238 —
After 3 years but within 4 years =FEIOFR 45,565 —
After 4 years but within 5 years WEERAFA 46,932 —
After 5 years A& 611,926 —
833,713 14,165
(c)  The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December 2023 (€¢) KEWER_ZT_=F#+_-_A=+—H
is $562,000,000 (2022: $504,300,000). The fair value of the investment Z A 1A A562,000,0000T (ZF = =4 :
properties located in Hong Kong is determined on an open market 504,300,0007T) ' R BE BRI EMER R
value basis, by reference to recent sales price of comparable properties ARERBEAFAMSEEETE  £2E0&
adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to the quality of the Group’s LEEMERTHERE  UHBULHEEN R
building compared to the recent sales. EdrE (RASEMEFEERME) (ELHH
o
The valuation was carried out by an independent firm of surveyors, CHFT HEIHBLAEMITESBRTHEERA
Advisory & Appraisal Limited, who have among their staff Members of the AETT HBERETAAIEMEgmEZ
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with valuation experience in the location g5 EHEFENMERENAEGHE
and category of the property being valued. 5 o
[
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11 Property, plant and equipment and investment 11 #%¥ - BBREVMRIVIVE &)
properties (Continued)

(c)  (Continued) () &

The fair value measurement is categorised as a Level 3 valuation under
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technigue as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

Valuation Unobservable
techniques inputs
HEIR T BRREE

AREFERBEREMEHRELERF 135
[AR(EERE] FIER 2 = MABERE
EABRE=-QMHE BAAEBEAESR
ZEBTHR2E N NMEETEMBEEZA
BRUNBENHRERE

- F—RfhE  BERE -RBARE
(ARGt ERRBEERABBENLE
TS ZREHABRE) FTEZARE

- F_MHE: ERFE _RBARE
(BIRREZEDE —RZ TR A B
) A RERERN AT BRE AR
BETEBZ RAME « TAEBRHE AR
REMSEIE 2 BABE

- BSRE RAEATIRENE
HEZARME

F=MRAEHEEER

Range
&E

Investment properties
Industrial — Hong Kong
wEWE
TXR® — &%

Direct comparison approach

BERLLEE

Investment method of
income approach

BE WA BRI &

The premium or discount on quality of the buildings used in direct
comparison approach is specific to the building compared to the recent
sales. High premium for higher quality buildings will result in a high fair
value measurement.

The discount rates used in investment method of income approach have
been adjusted for the expected market rental growth, occupancy rate
and quality and location of the building. The fair value measurement is
negatively correlated to the discount rates.

Premium/(discount) on
quality of the buildings

MEZEEEH
BEE (Frag)

Discount rates

-12% t0 10%
(2022: 0% t0 15%)

-12% % 10%

(ZZ = —F : 0% = 15%)

N/A
(2022: 2% t0 4%)

TER

(ZZ2 5% 2% E4%)

BRLEOET ARSI MERE 2N
BERMEREINEZGEEENFE - Bm
RENRRERERRENARE -

BB AP EAMEE XD RIBEMNT
HEEER - HEEAREEYEE SR
BETTHE - AAERMBX2E0H -
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11 Property, plant and equipment and investment 11 P% BZERBHERIEIDE ©®

properties (Continued)
(d) Right-of-use assets (d)

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of
underlying asset is as follows:

EREEE

EREEENREFE  AEBENEES
BEEFIIATE

2023 2022
—E:-=F —EooF
Note $'000 $'000
BisE Frx T
ownership interests in leasehold land RIS EHNF+ER+4 -
and buildings held for own use, R ER R B A EE A
carried at depreciated cost in BRZHEELHREFZH
Hong Kong and Mainland China, EREERABITENARTER
with remaining lease term of
between 10 and 50 years (i) 240,996 250,047
Machinery, equipment, furniture g - Bl BIRREE
and fixtures, carried at ABITEKAFIER
depreciated cost (i) 3,352 3,829
244,348 253,876
Ownership interests in leasehold FIASEERN T TER T -
investment properties, carried at HEREYE EEER
depreciated cost, with remaining ABITEK AR
lease term of between
10 and 50 years 103,448 108,162
347,796 362,038

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or

BREMERTEREEEFENMIAR D

loss is as follows: ran T
2023 2022
—E=E T F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RHAEERREID 2 ERAEEE
by class of underlying asset: e -
Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings #HE(EER 2 HE L MIEF 2
held for own use HAEER 10,894 10,815
Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures Hes - BB BEREREE 477 477
Ownership interests in leasehold investment HEREYHE 2 EEEER
properties 4,714 4,732
16,085 16,024

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets of $2,178,000 (2022: RER - FIGEREEER2,178,0007T (=
$2,259,000) were related to leasehold improvements for the land and T 4 :2,2590000T) EEFEEESR M
buildings held for own use. ERELIHRETHER -

HEMRLRHERENEE8ENHRON
BVEE AR E R 5 RIFE KT EE17(d) F124(0)Hh 51 -

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease
liabilities are set out in notes 17(d) and 24(b), respectively.
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11 Property, plant and equipment and investment 11 P% BRERBHERIEIDE ©
properties (Continued)
(d) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (d) FHEEE &
(i) ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for (i) EEEERAZHET W RETF 2 EEREE
own use #®
The Group holds a number of properties for its beer business. The Group is REBAHEBAESEEEHBYE - AEH
the registered owner of these property interests, including the share in the RSy EER (BEEBEL) OEMEE
underlying land. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these A AEEEXNT —FHE - UIEHRAIE
property interests from their previous registered owners, and there are no TS A AERELYEEL - BT REAR
ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the land lease, other RS TR = MMEAEN  BEL
than payments based on rateable values set by the relevant government GG EERS BN -
authorities.
(ii)  Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures (i) #4385 - XB - FAREE
The Group leases two machineries under leases expiring in 5 to 10 years. AEEHERBOBEHAEERZTF - F1E
None of the leases includes variable lease payments. AHOTREEBEMN -
12 Intangible assets 12 J\LEE
Club
Trademarks debentures Total
[EE: SFERER BE
$'000 $'000 $'000
Tt Tt Tt
Cost: BRAS
At 1 January 2022, R-ZT-_—_F—H—H-
31 December 2022, B F+ZA=+—H"
1 January 2023 and —E-=F—A—HRK
31December202s ==~ ZE==F¥SA=woH 8916 A0 43887
Accumulated impairment ZFTRERE :
losses:
At 1 January 2022, R—ZBE-_—_F—H—H"
31 December 2022, —E_—_H+_F=+—H "
1 January 2023 and —E-=F—HF—HK
31 December 2023 —F_=ft+-A=+—H 3116 - %9116
Net book value: BRER(E :
At 31 December 2022 and RZBEZZF+ZA=+—HEK
31 December 2023 —E_=F+-A=+—H — 4,771 4,771
[
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(BRABHETIN

BEEEHE)

13 Investments in subsidiaries

The following list contains the particulars of all the subsidiaries of the

company:

13 MELRER

TREFIRDEIRBEMBARER

Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ Issued share ownership
establishment capital/registered interest held by Principal
Name of company and operation capital Company Subsidiary activity
ML BRITRE FrERER D
NCIEEE LR i 2 EMEAR NN MEATR FEXEK
Hongkong Brewery Hong Kong 100 100% — Dormant
Limited (“HKBL") ordinary shares
(note (i)
(3£ @)
i 100 A% Tmgx
TR
San Miguel (Guangdong) Hong Kong 18,000 92.989% — Investment
Limited class “"A" shares holding
HEHE (ER) GRAT B 18,000 % REEAR
(A) Bz
1,000 100% —
class “B" shares
1,000
(B) AX
Guangzhou San Miguel PRC Registered capital: — 70% Dormant
Brewery Company US$36,507,000
Limited (“GSMB")
(note (ii))
BN A B AR AR H AR TmEE
(TREMIAE 77 1) (B (i) 36,507,000 7T
San Miguel Shunde Holdings Hong Kong 200,000 92% — Investment
Limited ordinary shares holding
BB 200,000 % BB
TR
San Miguel (Guangdong) PRC Registered capital: — 100% Manufacture
Brewery Company Limited US$87,933,000 and distribution of
("SMGB") (note (iii)) beers
Hh (ER) BRERAF] H [ FEER BUE K 53 $H
(M= B 1) (R & i) 87,933,000 %7
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13 Investments in subsidiaries (Continued) 13 MELFEESE (&
Notes: s
(i) HKBL has not traded since incorporation but it established a joint venture, (i) HKBL B i AL LAZR + —ER BEITER

Global Brews Hong Kong Limited, in Hong Kong on 18 March 2011. HKBL
holds a 50% equity interest in this entity. As at the date of the approval
of these financial statements, the joint venture has not commenced
operations.

(i) As at 29 November 2020, GSMB terminated its operations. The operations
were then transferred to SMGB, another PRC subsidiary of the Group.
The Group put GSMB into voluntary liguidations under the procedures
prescribed under the laws of the PRC.

On 21 January 2022, management filed an application for bankruptcy of
GSMB with the Guangzhou Intermediate People’s Court in the PRC but it
was rejected by the court. As of the date of this report, GSMB is seeking

X5 BRZZ——F=AFT/\BREE
37 7 — &4 A& Global Brews Hong Kong
Limited M& & AR - HKBLIFEZEEE
%Zﬁﬂ?ﬂ% HEARBBREIEZ
H - Z&ENAEE ARG EER -

(ii) GSMBEA,;,7¢+ A=+hB®&i1E

BB - ZEBCEREAELETETENS

*%W%’&TSMGB AE BRI BE
BIETFHEFEGSMBEITEFERE

GSMBR=ZE=-——F—F=+—H&E+FH
BMmRRARERBFEEE - BEEMN
MHRAREREKE - EEAKEEH -

further advice from its PRC legal adviser on the rejection of the bankruptcy
application and taking further steps to prepare for the next application.

(iff) SMGB is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise with an operating period of 50

years expiring on 4 August 2042.

The following table lists out the information relating to SMGB, the only
subsidiary of the Group which has material non-controlling interests
("NCI"). The summarised financial information presented below represents

the amounts before any inter-company elimination.

GSMBTEREHREEEBEMERNE—FE

RARKEE F BB 2 iR A st B3

FREITH -
i) =D (R

IREFETR]

R) EEERABDREINEHEE

¥ BEREHPRTE  R-TM_F

AR B & °

TR EWENERZER - ENERZ
AEBEME—FEERFERERNMNER
A MO B EMBEETAARME

HIHRT 2 258

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr FiT
NCI percentage SEERER B AL 8% 8%
Current assets MENEE 121,536 123,753
Non-current assets EMEBEE 47,553 38,963
Current liabilities MEEE (48,122) (35,804)
Non-current liabilities SEmEAE (285,852) (336,598)
Net liabilities BEHE (164,885) (209,686)
Carrying amount of NCI IR R AR E (B (13,191) (16,775)
Revenue ON 292,832 285,329
Profit for the year FEAF 42,934 15,652
Total comprehensive income EF“EEH&Z/\”E‘ i) 42,934 15,652
Profit allocated to NCI DELEIEEIR S BT 3,435 1,252
Dividend paid to NCI B FIEERERR S — —
Cash generated from/(used in) operating activities — &E XKz R/ERA CRH) 4,174 (1,871)
Cash used in investing activities KEEB 2R RE (3,662) (3,773)
[
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14 Inventories 14 &
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Products in hand and in process REEmRERMD 50,059 55,157
Materials and supplies Y % e 38,520 34,486
88,579 89,643
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and EHRARASI W ABEZFESES T
included in profit or loss is as follows: I
2023 2022
—E-=HF —=E-—
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Carrying amount of inventories sold (note 5(c)) HEFERAEE (MiEE5(0) 454,734 432,684
15 Trade and other receivables 15 BRESHRAMRE
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Trade receivables JEWE 5 ERIH 35,356 35,246
Less: loss allowance Ve E=te (637) (696)
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance JEWE Z AR RS R R 34,719 34,550
Other debtors, deposits and prepayments EfbEUARIE « 2 RIBFFRIE 15,400 8,633
50,119 43,183
Represented by: bl
Non-current portion FERNERER (D 6,492 —
Current portion BNEAER 1D 43,627 43,183
50,119 43,183
Apart from the non-current portion disclosed above, all of the other trade PR LB R IRRNEAE D S - AT A B
and other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as B 5 Rk HMERIBIEF SE —F AR E 7]
expense within one year. EEH o
[
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(BRABIETIN - BIRAEEEHEHE)

15

Trade and other receivables (Continued)

The Group held collateral over trade receivables at the end of the reporting

FEY 3R 5 B HA ARIR (4)
AR 745 5 BRI O 5 SRR I T IR

period with attributable values as set out below: PR
2023 2022
—E:-=5F —E-—F
$'000 $'000
T v
Buildings S 5,000 5,000
Cash deposits REFH 1,930 1,990

Cash deposits disclosed above are included in other creditors and
accrued charges and are expected to be settled after more than one year,
as disclosed in note 18.

The Group considers that the credit risk arising from trade receivables
is mitigated by the collateral in the amounts indicated above. The value
of the buildings collateral represents the estimated market value of the
buildings as at 31 December 2023.

Ageing analysis

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of loss allowance, as at the

A EPREIR & T SRII AREBTEG Z 10
—ERXNNEMENRBERERER - ®

s 18 I35 -

AEE R LR R R E T K S ARIA
MEERR - ERYEXEEREMER-F
—E=F+ZRA=1+—HKMmE-

AR DA

FEWE SARIA (CHRREIERE) NEERZ

end of the reporting period is as follows: RECOMTANT -

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
$'000 $'000
¥ T
Current (not past due) R EIH 31,373 32,589
Less than 1 month past due BEIR DR —E A 1,902 1,151
1to 3 months past due BERA—E=EAR 1,138 679
More than 3 months but less than BEBRAZNR=EAZE

12 months past due +={EA 306 97
More than 12 months past due BERAZN @A — 34
34,719 34,550

According to the Group’s credit policy, customers are granted a credit
period that generally requires payment by the end of the month following
the month in which sales take place. Therefore, all the current balances
disclosed above are aged within two months from the invoice date.

REAKENEERE  EFETEES—
BRANHEEZLEANRKE A ARFHAON
e At EAMBSHRIERRARE®

AR -
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16 Amounts due from/(to) holding companies, 16 Bk~ (FEf) 2EBEAF - ARE

108

fellow subsidiaries and related companies BATRRAELFRER
2023 2022
—E-=F —E--F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Amounts due from holding companies FEWIZERR A RIBRIA
— trade-related — HZ 5HA 10,276 17,968
— non trade-related — ERIER 51 281 3
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries e NG
— non trade-related — H3E 5 H7 197 5
10,754 17,976
Amounts due to holding companies FETZERR A RIRRIA
— trade-related — HE FHE (104) (281)
— non trade-related — Hi3EE 5 4H78 (3,946) (5,556)
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FEAST[R) 2 T BB A =) BRIE
— trade-related — HI'Z 5305 (3) (628)
— non trade-related — HI3EE 5H78 (4) (@)
(4,057) (6,469)
Amount due from a related company FEUL RS A A)BRIA
— non trade-related — Bi3EE 5 H78 555 2,759
Amounts due to related companies JEISRAE A R ERIA
— trade-related — HE FHE (3,972) (4,123)
— non trade-related — EIER 5 (6,372) (6,191)
(10,344) (10,314)
Amounts due from/(to) holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and related REZSEREERE SRR E

companies are unsecured, interest-free and recoverable/repayable
on demand except for trade-related amounts which are recoverable/
repayable under normal trade terms. The trade-related balances were not

past due as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Related companies included a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary
and companies where their ultimate holding company has significant

influence over the Group.

U, (FERS) iR E] ~ RIRMEBRE KR
ARIRESERE  2EREERKE 2
K MBGMREZEEN T _=ZFF-F
T oF+ - A=+—HBIWREE -

RSN R RIS RRR R &R ER A F

HAREBAEEAFEND
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(BRABIETIN - BIRAEEEHEHE)

(@

17 cash and cash equivalents 17 BeREFRRKEH
Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (@ HeRZFFRLEHERE:
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-—
$'000 $'000
Fx T
Bank deposits within three months of GEHREHBEAE=@ARA
maturity when placed KSR TIE K 106,976 11,040
Cash at bank and on hand RITEERRS 73,003 102,966
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated RAEMBRARKBESRERTH
statement of financial position and RehERELEBE
cash flow statement 179,979 114,006

(b)

As at 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents situated in Mainland
China amounted to $58,434,000 (2022: $57,151,000). Remittance of funds
out of Mainland China is subject to relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control.

RZE-=F+-A=+—0 B#RFER
HIRTTIR & MERIREHEE 458,434,000 7T
(ZZTE 4% :57,151,0007T) * F B A4
HIPE RS2 HARAR B R ONE SRR AT E H o

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BRBARANBELEEEIBESRAR
generated from operations: EIE
2023 2022
—E-= —E -5
Note $'000 $'000
st Fr T
Profit before taxation R 75 Al 22 75 66,445 34,998
Adjustments for: NI ESEY S
Interest income B A 4 (3,914) (1,269)
Net gain on disposal of property, HEME - WRKEE
plant and equipment ZFEF 4 (1,152) (66)
Interest expense FEZH 5(a) 214 960
Depreciation of property, Y - MESREREBITE
plant and equipment 1(@a) 19,532 18,082
Depreciation of investment properties R&W¥E 2T E 1(a) 4,714 4,732
Net foreign exchange gains bE 5 F 27 (1,765) (2,489)
Changes in working capital: EIEEN 2 FE
Decrease/(increase) in inventories GEZRL (38n) 1,064 (20,269)
Increase in trade and other receivables FEURE 5 K EfhBRFZ A0 (6,433) (933)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due  FEUIERL A &) N R KB A A
from holding companies and BRIEZ R (3E0n)
fellow subsidiaries 7,222 (5,873)
Decrease/(increase) in amount due FEWRS B ARIRIBZHD
from a related company (3%h0) 2,204 (1,486)
Decrease in amounts due to FERHER AR KR RHB AR
holding companies and BRIEZ R
fellow subsidiaries (2,412) (1,149)
Increase in amounts due to related FETRAEE A RIBRIE 232 N
companies 30 862
Increase in trade and other payables — FENE 5 K& EAERTE 2 A0 4,453 8,097
Increase in retirement benefit liabilities 3R ARE R & & 27 140 3,125 2,962
Cash generated from operations BEEFZZHEMA 93,327 37,159
[
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17 cash and cash equivalents (Continued) 17 BeRFERLEH (&
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) HBMEITBHELZBEKAEGEX:
activities:
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing AREBRRMEEESMEE 2 BEEHNES - &
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising RIS NIIERLEE  BDHVAR TR HE
from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or BEEHEENER  BAZEEBERERK
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow RSN RASENGEReRERYP -
statement as cash flows from financing activities. SEEAMETHZIRE R °
Loans from
related Lease
companies liabilities Total
BEATER HEEE B
$'000 $'000 $'000
Tt Tt v
At 1 January 2022 R-—B-—F—H—H 42,351 3,656 46,007
Changes from financing MERSHR 22T !
cash flows:
Repayment of loans from BRTHELRER
related companies (38,509) — (38,509)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENAENE ARG — (367) (367)
Interest element of lease rentals paid B E&F 225 — (66) (66)
Interest paid BEAFLE (894) = (894)
Total changes from financing BEIR & mas
cashflows (9403 43y ey |
Exchange adjustments 5 AR (210) = (210)
Other changes: HAth B 5
Interest expenses KBS H 894 66 960
At 31 December 2022 R-—ZFB_—_F+—A
and 1 January 2023 _R=®==%-A-R 362 3289 6921
Changes from financing RERSRZEE :
cash flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHAENERBH — (375) (375)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BT EHF S5 — (58) (58)
Interest paid ERFLE (156) — (156)
Total changes from financing BB RS mAEE)
cash flows (156) (433) (589) )
Exchange adjustments EHAE (54) — (54)
Other changes: Hih& s
Interest expenses FEZH 156 8 214
At 31 December 2023 NR-—E_=%+—-—HA=+—H 3,578 2,914 6,492
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(BRABIETIN - BIRAEEEHEHE)

17
(d)

18

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued) 17 BeRFRRLEH (&
Total cash outflow for leases (d HERESRHLARE
Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for leases REEFARERERZEEBREUTE
comprise the following: 15 :
2023 2022
—E-=HF —=E-—
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Within operating cash flows BEELEEERER 695 717
Within financing cash flows PEEREEERER 433 433
1,128 1,150
Trade and other payables 18 EMESREMIER
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Trade payables e B SRIE 39,100 47,565
Other creditors and accrued charges H S ERIE RTEIRE A 58,594 45,676
97,694 93,241
Represented by: % :
Non-current portion FEBNEAEB 1 11,741 —
Current portion BNEAERD 85,953 93,241
97,694 93,241

Apart from the non-current portion disclosed above and other creditors
and accrued charges amounting to $1,930,000 (2022: $2,732,000) that are
expected to be settled after more than one year, all of the other trade and
other payables are expected to be settled within one year or are repayable

on demand.

B b SR 3% B8 1 SE BI HA R 0 K E At & A BR
HRFEREMR1,930007T (ZE = =%
2,732,000 7T) FEEIM A ERIE —FIRIFEI -
P A EAb e B 5 R E A BRIRTAEAS 1 —F

WBERAREREE -

—_—
—_
—
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)
18 Trade and other payables (Continued) 18 EFEZIREMIEER (&
The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period FENBSRENGEE B ZRRDITAT ¢
is as follows:
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —EB-
$'000 $'000
T T
Current and less than 1 month past due REEA M BEER DR —EA 38,572 46,615
1to 3 months past due BERA—E=EA 435 950
3 to 6 months past due BEAR A==/NEA 93 —
39,100 47,565
According to the credit terms provided by suppliers, the Group is generally BEEEFIRENEEGRR  AEE—RRY
required to settle within one to two months from the invoice date. BEHBE—E=MEAANDEBHEE - Bt
Therefore, the current and less than 1 month past due balances disclosed Lt FR R R EA R R ER B R — (B A R4 R
above are mostly aged within two to three months from the invoice date. REMDIEEHZREME=EARZIE -
19 Loan from a related company 19 RELFER
The loan from a related company bears interest at 4.35%, is unsecured FERN R ERFERA35%  EIEIPIWHIE
and is repayable on demand. EREE -
20 Post-employment benefits 20 RERERIET
The Group operates a mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) scheme and AEEZE —HRBLE R —EREES
a defined benefit retirement plan registered under the Occupational SEDIE 426 F (B R ORET SR A FEM Y
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 426 of the Laws of the Hong ERRBAERAGTE ([BERNEED) - 25l
Kong) (the “ORSO plan”), which cover 91% (2022: 90%) and 9% (2022: BMEREENS(ZFTZZF : 90%) k9%
10%) of the Group’s employees respectively. In addition, the employees (ZFZZ%F - 10%) &8 - oh - ffFa &
employed under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance are also entitled 1% - BIBEEE (EHIKD) XENEENEE
to long service payment (“LSP”) if the eligibility criteria are met. ESRARES (RkRe]) -
The ORSO plan and LSP are defined benefit plans. The analysis of the BRI EI Rk BT ERAETE -
carrying amount of retirement benefit liabilities is as follows: BRNENBENEREERES AT
2023 2022
—EC-=f —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fr Fit
ORSO plan liabilities (note 20(a)) BERWETEIEE (F20(@) 15,865 12,680
Long service payment liabilities (note 20(c)) RERBEBE (H7FE200) 632 —
Retirement benefit liabilities RINETIEE 16,497 12,680
(@) ORSO plan liabilities (@) BERKEZEE
The ORSO plan of the Group is administered by an independent trustee, AL ERBIR NG B RBE T EARE -
with the assets held separately from those of the Group. Under the ORSO HEERALSENEESFIFAE - RIFHE
plan, a retired employee is entitled to a payment based on the completed RIRETE - BKEEEEREEHB AN T
years of service and salary on the date of leaving service. EEIBRIS S EA R Fr & IS AR o
——
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20 Post-employment benefits (Continued) 20 REREEF (B
(@) ORSO plan liabilities (Continued) (a) BEERNKFTBIZEE (B

(i)

Contributions to the plan are made in accordance with the recommendations
of an independent actuary who values the retirement plan at regular intervals.
The latest independent actuarial valuations of the plan were at 31 December
2023 and were prepared by qualified staff of Mercers (Hong Kong) Limited,
who are the member of Chartered Enterprise Risk Actuary, using the
projected unit credit method. The actuarial valuations indicate that the
Group'’s obligations under the defined benefit retirement plan are 80%
(2022: 84%) covered by the plan assets held by the trustee.

The plan exposes the Group to actuarial risk, such as interest rate risk,
investment risk and salary risk.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:

RRGTEI 2 BRRIRBE L EEA 225
B3 » ZEHEIRF 2B BEMENIN -
=+ -A=+—HhEY (FF) BRA
7 (B ERBROMMEE) 2HESER
HEMRABESEMNERERET - BEMEE
BARAEEREBEZ TREENRIRGTEIFTAR
TZEEEFR8% (ZE = —4F : 84%) T3
AAFE ZFTEIEERE -

Zat B S ARBARBEER - A KR
e RERRNFEEL

RIFEMBARRKRER Z KB T

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

$'000 $'000

T Tt

Present value of funded obligations BYPEEMRE 79,479 81,366
Fair value of plan assets SrEIEEZARE (63,614) (68,686)
Retirement benefit liabilities RIREFBE 15,865 12,680

A portion of the above liabilities is expected to be settled after more than
one year. However, it is not practicable to segregate this amount from the
amounts payable in the next twelve months, as the retirement benefit
payable to plan members and future contributions to plan assets will also
depend on staff revenue and future changes in actuarial assumptions. The
Group expects to pay $1,156,000 in contributions to the defined benefit
retirement plan in 2024.

Plan assets consist of the following:

(ii)

B B ERRHREE—FEXN - A
- ARERREFNEEIKE 2 BN LS
AEIEEZ ARPERAR T HBERR ZAREK
H) > A TNEERSZENEERL T
Az BNFIEDFERIE - AEBERAE T
P4 SZ 151,156,000 TTE R TE BEAR MR IR ET

IR -

AHEIEERE

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

$'000 $'000

Fr T

Equity securities P&t 28,626 29,879
Bonds EE2 33,652 35,923
Cash B 1,336 2,884
63,614 68,686

An asset-liability matching study was performed by the trustee
periodically to analyse the outcome of the strategic investment policies.
The investment portfolio targets a mix of 45% in equity securities across
a range of industries and 55% in government bonds (2022: 45% in equity
securities across a range of industries and 55% in government bonds).

REREAER  STATHETEERBITREN
7 WHOMEERRREZER - RE4E
BIZA—RINTTEZSBREZELFEAR
55% B HES « (ZE-—4F : A5%REB A
#A N 55% B ES)
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20 Post-employment benefits (Continued) 20 RBEREEF (B
(@) ORSO plan liabilities (Continued) () BERNKFTEZEE (B
(iii) Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations: (i) ERENEaEMNREZS
2023 2022
—E-=5F —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
it ey ] W ATR 1366 109665
Remeasurements: =
— Actuarial losses arising from — ANORBREEELENBEEE
changes in demographic assumptions 1 729
— Actuarial losses/(gains) arising from — BBBREHEENBE
changes in financial assumptions &8, (&BF) 2,206 (14,948)
— Actuarial losses arising from — KHREFHEANBEER
changes in experience 679 4,264
2,886 (9,955)
Benefits paid by the plan S &I AT 2 fEF (10,598) (23,534)
Current service cost IR AR A 3,004 4,045
O e 281 . M4s
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 79,479 81,366
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligations is 4.2 ERENEEZMETAFHALI2F (ZF
years (2022: 4.2 years). T 424 o
(v)  Movements in plan assets: (iv) FEEEZES
2023 2022
—EC=8 T F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
At 1 January R—H—H 68,686 107,908
Contributions paid to the plan by the employer EETRFTEIHER 1,183 1,318
Benefits paid by the plan TRz E R (10,598) (23,534)
Interest income FLEMA 2,371 1,133
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income FrEIBE 2B (FEEFBRA) 2,194 (17,916)
Administrative expenses paid from plan assets FEIBEEZITTHAX (222) (223)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 63,614 68,686
[
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20 Post-employment benefits (Continued) 20 REREEF (B
(@) ORSO plan liabilities (Continued) (a) BEERNKFTBIZEE (B
(v) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement and statement ~ (v) AMrE W R R 2R R 22
of comprehensive income are as follows: T :
2023 2022
—EC=8 —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fr i
Current service cost IR AR A 3,004 4,045
Net interest on net defined benefit liability EREEAMAFAEEZFEIFE 450 12
Administrative expenses paid from plan assets FTEIEE Z1THAX 222 223
Total amounts recognised in profitorloss. REETEREx 3676 . ..A%O0
Actuarial losses/(gains) BEEE S (BA) 2,886 (9,955)
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income FEIEEZBR (TEEREMA) (2,194) 17,916
Total amounts recognised in other REAEE I ETERZ
_.comprehensive incomenote® | M (W) 692 ... .71
Total defined benefit costs ERBfE AT 4R RE 4,368 12,241
(vi) Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity analysis are as follows: (Vi) TENRBEBRRMGEESTNT :
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
Discount rate (p.a.) B () 3.00% 3.70%
Future salary increases (p.a.) RIRE 2 RE (FF) 3.00% 3.00%
The analysis set out below shows how the defined benefit obligations as THDITHAFE ERBERFK0.25% 2 L&
at 31 December 2023 would have increased/(decreased) as a result of a FHEENBER-ZE_=ZF+-_A=1+—H
0.25% change in the significant actuarial assumptions: #g, CRd) T -
2023 2022
—EC=8 —E-—F
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
of 0.25% of 0.25% of 0.25% of 0.25%
#1H00.25% A 0.25% H#H10.25% 4> 0.25%
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
Fr Fr T T
Discount rate BHIR & (804) 823 (819) 836
Future salary increases R E N 2 18 R 1,016 (997) 1,039 (1,021)
The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that changes FilBRESTEBRIBEERR 2 ZCET
in actuarial assumptions are not correlated and therefore it does not take - AESRES T TEEEERE
into account the correlations between the actuarial assumptions. fEBIABRE T
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20 Post-employment benefits (Continued) 20 REEREEF

(b) Defined contribution retirement plans (b) TEBEMFCRAGE

0} Staff employed by the Group in Hong Kong who are not members of the (i) BIEEE GalE AT ENEN)  AEF
above ORSO plan are required to join the Group’s MPF scheme under EEBRERA M E A B2 R EIH
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The BB - BIMAREEMEGIEAESTE -
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by BEIMAEESTE T —EARBIEBTEEA
an independent corporate trustee. Under the plan, the Group and its BN TRMEIURIRETE - RIFABTE
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% AEENEREESSAMTEELHI - &
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant HEAEREBBABENSY  HFHAEBALHN
income of $30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately. There are &= /KFE A30,0007T o $stEIE S AL RED
no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group to reduce the BRE BE&LlmERrEewEE8R
existing level of contributions. DU @ A FOKFE -

(i Employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of pension (i) FEMEAGIEE APREBUNEENTRE
schemes operated by the PRC government. The Group is required KEFEINKE - REBEBHPRERESET
to contribute, based on a certain percentage of the employees’ ST AERBETIRHES  HEUEE
remuneration, to these pension schemes to fund the benefits. The only e EHHETE - AEEFBETPRERAKE
obligation for the Group with respect to these pension schemes is the STEIM —EKABER R ERINEETEIZEE
required contributions under the central pension scheme. Contributions to AR - YWit2ER R BN R
these schemes vest immediately. There are no forfeited contributions that B B U e R AT AL & 1 Sk B A LUK
may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions. EBEETUKE -

(c) Long service payment liabilities (c) EREEzaE
Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for at BESEEREN)  EETEEZVAEN
least five years are entitled to LSP in accordance with the Hong Kong BEREAEATERTZEERRE - B
Employment Ordinance under certain circumstances. The amount of Rk eBHIK2ERENGET® (£
LSP payable is determined with reference to the employee’s final salary fRA22,5007T) MERIEFE - SHIBRAEE
(capped at $22,500) and the years of service, reduced by the amount of SRR RET 8l (RTEE20(0)) KogiERE
any accrued benefits derived from the Group’s contributions to ORSO plan 2 (R HIFE20(0)) BV FRETOT 4 RO (L AT FE 5T
(see note 20(a)) and MPF scheme (see note 20(b)), with an overall cap of EREET B LR ASEIES 390,000
$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does not have any separate e BAl AEEWKEEFMNEBNES
funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation. ZHUBITERREEE -

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment Ordinance, RZZEZZFRA BN EZFHRTE(BE]
which will eventually abolish the statutory right of an employer to reduce B - HERTIED) HAEBEUER BB F
its LSP payable to a Hong Kong employee by drawing on its mandatory RESBESTE MR RO B E
contributions to the MPF scheme and will come into effect from 1 May BEENRREOEZEETR KB =F
2025 (the “Transition Date”). “HERA—A ((WEHH]) BAEK -
Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting mechanism takes Hep - —BEUBEIEKHIER - BETEH
effect, an employer can no longer use any of the accrued benefits derived A EEHIER RS HR (T RENB
from its mandatory MPF contributions (irrespective of the contributions EHHZA - BHRZEEDR) FIITENE
made before, on or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect IR EFR L B8 8E B R E IR IE
of an employee’s service from the Transition Date. However, where an HERRE - A - MEENEEBEATZ
employee’s employment commenced before the Transition Date, the IE - EEPIEEGF A Ll R EFAOR DE
employer can continue to use the above accrued benefits to reduce the ZZBHMEERBENORRS : 1IN
LSP in respect of the employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the EERERHR R EEREENORERS
LSP in respect of the service before the Transition Date will be calculated B 2ERNEERERBEHBRRINAEHK
based on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition HEZBHNRBER - REED HHEHEK
Date and the years of service up to that date. The Group has accounted il R A BUHETR AR (REERHIEE 1003
for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition as disclosed in notes 1(c)(ii) K 1(0)(i)) ©

and 1(o)(ii).

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance primarily NEFDET @ UBETIEM)Y TESZE RKEFH
impacts the Group's LSP liability with respect to Hong Kong employees AR ERNEBRERIKGTEINETBEEM
that do not participate in the Group’s ORSO plan. The Amendment EENERSEE o (BETIER) HAREEq
Ordinance has no material impact on the Group's LSP liability with respect SEALEBERKGTENREEMAENE
to employees that participate in the Group’s ORSO plan. fReBBETRERTE -
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(BR=BIETIN

IR )

21

(@)

(b)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of 21 FREMBRARRIZARERE
financial position
current taxation in the consolidated statement of (@) HFEMBKRRRAEEFHIERE !
financial position represents:
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr v
PRC Corporate Income Tax Fp B 1B SE P AS A (1,029) —
Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERRAZEEHREEERESE:
The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the REFEMBRAREERZELEHIBEE &
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements during BEZHEKED RFERN BT ¢
the year are as follows:
Depreciation  Impairment
allowances losses for
in excess of receivables Retirement
the related and benefit
depreciation inventories liabilities Tax losses Total
HERHE FEW RS
BRAEENE kFE RIKER
pd ¢ ZREEBE &f& HEFE k]
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr T T T T
Deferred tax arising from: EEBERE :
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F#—H—H 39,051 92) (295) (38,664) —
(Credited)/charged to profitor ~ AE&H
loss (note 6(a)) (GTA) /4R (FizE6(@) (1,090) (23) 66 2910 1,863
Credited to equity (note 9) g (39) = = (1,863) = (1,863)
At 31 December 2022 and RZZ-Z=F+=A=+—H
1 January 2023 kZZE-_=%—H—H 37,961 (115) (2,092) (35,754) —
(Credited)/charged to profitor AT
loss (note 6(a)) (GTA) /108 (HizE6()) (65) (6,466) 99 (20,294) (26,726)
Credited to equity (note 9) g (HF9) - - (625) - (625)
At 31 December 2023 R-_E_=%+-A=1+—H 37,896 (6,581) (2,618) (56,048) (27,351)
[ ]
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21 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 21 BFREMBRRAERMRIZAERE
financial position (Continued) (%)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised: () FRERAZELEHEEE:
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following FREMNE AR RAARW AT FNIEIEE AT
items, which pertain to the subsidiaries in the PRC and the Company: SR 2 IEAERL TE & EE i AR
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Tax losses TIAEE — 163,430
Other deductible temporary differences BRI E R =R 97,364 107,953
97,364 271,383
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(p), deferred RIBVIRIHIFE 1) & 5T BUR EEEAfEﬁE
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above items as it is TEHE W%’A@iﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬁ%@%#ﬁ%
not probable that the relevant entities will generate future taxable profits LA 0 ﬁﬂﬁ?ﬁ WU SR B3 R HE RS 5178
against which the above items can be utilised. B TSI B BERIHEE -
The unrecognised tax losses relating to the PRC subsidiaries as at 31 Eﬁi%ﬁiiﬁf%ﬂ =+—8 AHFER
December 2022 can be carried forward up to five years from the year B2 R B AR HERRBLUR B IR A B R E £ F
in which the loss originated and will expire in 2023 for an amount of FREWHEZ TF © 4,546,000 TH S EHR
$4,546,000 and in 2024 for an amount of $4,762,000. T =FFIE - 4,762,000 TR FERF
—TEPYFERIE -
The unrecognised tax losses relating to the Company were $154,122,000 Eé:%:;i-ij:\ﬂ =t+—H " AEAXRF
as at 31 December 2022 and do not expire under current tax legislation. B AR MERTBIIAEIE A 154,122,000 7T * MiRE
WATROE - 2SS HIBEETESEA -
22 Lease liabilities 22 MHEAKE
At 31 December 2023, lease liabilities are repayable as follows: RZTEZ=F+=ZA=+—H HEAEA
R FHRNER
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Within 1 year —FR 380 374
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFER 379 330
After 2 years but within 5 years MERERAFR 1,176 1,155
After 5 years FF® 979 1,380
2,534 2,915
2,914 3,289
[
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23 Capital, reserves and dividends 23 MBEx - EHiEREE

(@) Movements in components of equity (a) HEZIoEH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of KEEZIFAEZPTEEDFEY RFERH
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the EREG AR EEFHRAYE - KRR ZEE
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the BN FIRFRENFBERIATS
Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and & -

the end of the year are set out below:

Share Retained
capital profits Total
[N Wz A1 #azm
Note $'000 $'000 $'000
BosE T+t Tt Ft
Balance at 1 January 2022 N-E_—_F—F—H&EH 252,524 224,212 476,736
Changes in equity for 2022: TR EREREE
Remeasurement of defined benefit — FHEIEAFTEIZEZ S
plan obligations, net of tax (Br#L18) — (6,098) (6,098)
Profit for the year FE AR — 5616 5,616
Balance at 31 December 2022 R-s-——F+=-A=+—H
and 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H#& 27 252,524 223,730 476,254
Changes in equity for 2023: TEC=FRERSE
Remeasurement of defined benefit  FEEAFTEIEE 2 EHtE
plan obligations, net of tax G — (67) (67)
Profit for the year FEREF — 98,701 98,701
Dividends approved in respect of W REEEZRE
the previous year — (3,736) (3,736)
Balance at 31 December 2023 NR-TB-_=%+=-A=+—H
Fe33 27 252,524 318,628 571,152
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23 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued) 23 BEx - - FHEREE (@
(b) Share capital (b) B
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
No. of No. of
shares shares
gk 4= I € E
‘000 $'000 ‘000 $'000
‘000 Fx ‘000 T
ordinary shares, issued ZER - 21T
and fully paid: B#RRA
At 1 January and m—A—H
31 December Ft+=—A=+—H 373,570 252,524 373,570 252,524

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company's residual assets.

RIREE CARMED]) 813515 - REMRH
BAEZEEE -

TREFEAGREIATREROBE - I
AEARBRE LHHE—BRNOKE—F-
BRARBNFBREE  MBETERIGES

CESEE

(¢c) Dividends (c) RE
0) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to () REERRTERFTAEAZRE
the year:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr Fit
Final dividend proposed after the end of REEHE B iR AR E
the reporting period of $0.05 per FhigE#@AZ0.057T
ordinary share (2022: $0.01 per (ZBE=——F: 8K
ordinary share) T3@A%0.017T) 18,679 3,736

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not
been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

REBBRBERZBE  UEEIREE
ZRfE-

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to (i) REARERSTNFARTESFEAZL
the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year —HIBFERE
2023 2022
—E:-=F T —F
$'000 $'000
Fr v
Final dividend in respect of the previous REARERS N2 E—BBREER
financial year, approved and paid AR 2
during the year 3,736 =
[ ]
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23 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued) 23 BEx - - FHREREE (@

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (d) RFEEERAR

(i) Capital reserve (i) ERfHE
The capital reserve represents the reserve arising from the capitalisation BARGEETIE—RPRMB ARz Wi E
of retained profits of PRC subsidiaries. B MEE 2 /i -

(i)  Exchange fluctuation reserve (i) ERRBHEE
The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign exchange PR B EEREERERTEANZHEA
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of R HMRELAZMAENZHEMNEBRES
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and the foreign exchange differences IR (BRIZ D BRINMEE AT 2 EE
arising from translation of monetary items that in substance form part of &) ZEHERE - ZREEBREBME () FiE
the net investment in subsidiaries outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt SETECRMEELE ©
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(s).

(e) Distributability of reserves (e) DIKiAE
At 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves available for RIBE-=F+-_A=+—H0 ®ZEBLD
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated under THERY E6H 7 IEXEE D IRHEET
the provision of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, was RARERFTA AL HIEERER 318,628,000
$318,628,000 (2022: $223,730,000). JC (ZZF = =4 :223,730,0007T) °

()  capital management ) EBEXEE

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s total borrowings amounted to
$3,578,000 (2022: $3,632,000). The gearing ratio, representing the ratio
of total borrowings to share capital and reserves of the Group was 0.5%
(2022: 0.6%). At 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to $179,979,000 (2022: $114,006,000).

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to
the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

AEBEREANTIZARREREEEE
WFFER S - EMABBERRRIRERR LS
Hib R EH KGR © LWERBKFERES
EmiEE  URERESEENBERA

RZE-_ZF+=-RA=Z+—H  A§EH
B fE & 4258 A3,578000T (Z B -~ :
3,632,00070) - EEBEL X (AEERE
HAEEBRAREENLER) £05% (=
T F06%) c HEZTE-_=ZF+_-A
=t+—B AEENEENERREERE
{E179,979,000 7T ( = = — 4 : 114,006,000
JT) °

REBTEG L EREEARBRA RN LE
B DERSBIRE®RIE N T AR 2 &
=EEKFER i E AR S RNES K
RIZ 2 ARG 18 I B BRFEHN E L
HERNRBIELAR -

ARBREMBERRHTZINEBIEINEE AR
PR HIZ K o
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 SREBREERERAAMRE
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the AEET—MREBBEFFEEE  RFPE
normal course of the Group's business. The Group’s exposure to these & MERRINERKR o NEEEEZEER
risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the BERASEMRAEEZSRAR CMBE
Group to manage these risks are described below. BRI - T o
(@) Credit risk (@ FERE
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its FERREXSIHFENESHNEFERAK
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The SEFKEENRR AEEMNEERR T
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The ZREENEZRE - AEERREGNER
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents ReBEAMEEANEERRER  AARS
is limited because the counterparties are banks for which the Group HFAAEERAEERBREIEKAIERTT -
considers to represent low credit risk.
The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the AEEWVERNELEMERMESEERRE -
Group to credit risk.
Trade receivables EWE 5 RE
The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual REEWNEEREFESELEPNERNE
characteristics of each customer rather than the industry or country in BEE 2B ETERSITER
which the customers operate and therefore significant concentrations FE At BEAERRABENEFEEX
of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to B Be<SEERBE AED - RS
individual customers. At the end of the reporting period, 12% (2022: 29%) HR ERESMEMBEEETEN12%( =
and 34% (2022: 62%) of the total trade and other receivables was due from T F 1 29%) M3A% (T : 62%)
the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers respectively. DRIKEAREBZARERAARS o
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount AEENKGIEREEREENSETERY
equal to lifetime ECLs, taken into account historical data, current Z S RIENBERE  TERIBTHE -
conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions over the RARAREBHNERWRIBERFEHANZ
expected lives of the receivables. Further quantitative disclosure in respect FEMRANEE - NEBMEWE ZEREBEE
of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables is set ErEERR  EE—SHNTFEEEBEEHN
out in note 15. FIEE15 o
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables FAEWE FERIBREBEREZ ST
during the year are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=H T F
$'000 $°000
Fr T
Balance at 1 January m—A—B#& 696 553
Uncollectible amounts written off ek (281) (193)
Net provision for impairment of FEWIE 5 K Fopth BRIBVFRL (B B 4
trade and other receivables 222 336
Balance at 31 December R+ZA=+—HA4&#% 637 696
Amounts due from holding companies and fellow subsidiaries ERZERARRERRMELAR (RESE
(trade-related) ) RRIE
Credit risk in respect of amounts due from holding companies and fellow FE Iz B 2 B K ﬁ;ﬁ MWEAR (RE5H
subsidiaries (trade-related) is limited as they have sufficient reserves of ) EEI:EE\WEFHEL%E%@E’U#%TQWE
resources to settle the amounts as they fall due and there is no history of TR S0 AR A 8 R E A9 BU AR B0R - I R
default. Accordingly, the loss allowance was assessed to be immaterial as BRHONES - At R-F_=F+"4
at 31 December 2023 and 2022. ST BRCR S CHFT AT HOE
BRETEARTERK -
[
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24

(b)

Financial risk management and fair values

(Continued)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own
cash management. The Group regularly monitors its liquidity requirements
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions and related

parties to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at the end
of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be

24

(b)

EHEREERARKRE 5

REE TR

ERGEEBEABTEAGNADEE - &

SERREHERERDE

A EB
THEE

" DARELR

Hgir e 2 R e M BU B RIEAH
RHUEHESCHE  WhEHERARRHZ

TEREEEREE RN BEBELHBRERD
HIREFF AT - WAFTORBBRRSRE
(ANBRERRT B R E 2 FE X H - e
FRERN  BMEERERZBERAEZNE

) RAREARER <& FERHHE

required to pay: AT o
2023
—EC-=F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
EHLRERNRE SRS
More than ~ More than
Within 1yearbut 2 years hut
1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
—FR5 ) )
RER —Ef MEH
k] BERMER BREFR kik: 3o okl EHA
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr Tr Tr Tr Tr Tr
Trade and other payables ERE SR EMIRE 85,953 - - 11,741 97,694 97,694
Loan from a related company HENAER 3,733 — — — 3,733 3,578
Amounts due to holding companies ERERARRRZ
and fellow subsidiaries MBARERE 4,057 — — — 4,057 4,057
Amounts due to related companies EEEARRE 10,344 - — — 10,344 10,344
Lease liabilities HEAMR 433 420 1,260 997 3,110 2,914
104,520 420 1,260 12,738 118,938 118,587
2022
—Eo-F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
AHERBRORERT
More than More than
Within 1year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2years 5 years 5 years Total amount
A , ,
REKE & MK .
35 BRER BRER BENE poer] EE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr T T T Tr T
Trade and other payables ENE S REMRE 93,241 — — — 93,241 93,241
Loan from a related company HENFIER 3790 — — — 3,790 3,632
Amounts due to holding companies FERHER A Al R A %
and fellow subsidiaries HiE A RRE 6,469 — — — 6,469 6,469
Amounts due to related companies R BN RIBRIE 10,314 — — — 10,314 10,314
Lease liabilities MEBE 433 433 1,273 1,404 3,543 3,289
114,247 433 1,273 1,404 117,357 116,945
[ ]
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 SHEREERERAAMEE
(Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIREAKE
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing REFBHERBEIEHSEEREL - &
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash SR RBTHNEIAEETEER SRR
flow interest rate risk. The Group monitors the level of its variable rate B o NEFSEIYHFRHEZTKE o
borrowings. The Group's interest rate profile as monitored by management TEEHEREEENOMEEEHN T -
is set out below.
Interest rate profile FlZ=aEE
The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group's TRAASERFEEB ZER 2 FIRER -
borrowings at the end of the reporting period:
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —E-F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Amount rate Amount
BEF=E ©5 BRRFI= o]
% $'000 % $°000
% Fx % v
Fixed rate borrowings: EEER :
— Loan from a related company —— BEERA R ERK 4.35 3,578 4.35 3,632
— Lease liabilities — HEAE 1.93 2,914 1.93 3,289
6,492 6,921
Fixed rate borrowings as ELERILERRE
a percentage of total borrowings &3kt 100% 100%
(d) Currency risk (d) HMERBE
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales, purchases, AKETFZREERS  ER KEZH
borrowings, expenses and recharges amongst group entities which WERRENEEUINE (BIZZSME
give rise to receivables, payables, loans and cash balances that are WIBBAEB 2 NEEER) REA 2 B
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional 18 - EfTRRIE - %%&IE@%T? - [ E
currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies SMERK - SIBSNERRc BB EERESE
giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollars and Euros. TN BREE ©
For group entities whose functional currency is Hong Kong dollars, all sales HREBNAEBTENREEENZETE
and purchases are denominated in either Hong Kong dollars or United BRI LSS oo b BOMETTSRRBON - IR IHE R
States dollars, except for certain purchases from Europe. Given that the ﬁ%féii’j ABTILSETER HEY - ARETT
Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, management do SETUE - MEEEERTEREARL N
not expect that there will be any currency risk associated with the United ETEER 2R GEBMIMNERR « ZRIA
States dollar denominated transactions. For transactions denominated in BERFTEZRS EREEYEEARY
Euros, management monitor the level of exposure closely and take actions KRR - N A e R ) B ER A B - R
such as earlier settlement considering movements in the exchange rate. RATAEDR
For group entities whose functional currency is Renminbi, except for HREEBAUARBENEERNSEE
certain transactions amongst group entities that are denominated in either B BRTHEE W?&%E%ﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁf’ﬁ%
Hong Kong dollars or United States dollars, most of other transactions are iz - E’rmi%%tx/\ﬁﬁ%f’ﬁ%ﬁ o ﬁ%ﬁ%
denominated in Renminbi. For those transactions amongst group entities WIAB TR ETEEMNR S - EEERR
denominated in Hong Kong dollars or United States dollars, management RHE/IEKN  HEHEMBBEIINERR A
consider the transaction amounts are not significant and the exposure to 1K ©
currency risk is low.
[
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 SHEREERERAAMEE ®
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) sMNERES (&)
The Group’s exposure to currency risk and its policies for managing the REBAZIINERBRIEEEHRKEE T
risk were unchanged from 2022. ZZFMR o

(i) Exposure to currency risk (i) A2 ZNERK

The following table details the Group’s significant exposure at the end of
the reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the spot
rates at the year end date. Differences resulting from the translation of the
financial statements of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong into the Group's
presentation currency and the exposure arising from the borrowings
from group entities that in substance form part of the net investment in
subsidiaries are excluded.

TERUAEREE A WIFAERERYEE
BHENCHABEEXBBEMAZ ZIMNER
BIFHFAADMN - TRNESEDNIZEERAZ
PERH i mABREIEZ I 2 A - HIE N FEN
SN AR Z M BRR AT EBEIEE
MEANEZEMNEEERERAEEE LAX
EMB AR FREMSIBNRRL T B
A -

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SRR (RETEE)

2023 2022
—EC-=F T F
United United
States States
dollars Euros dollars Euros
E3 ¢ ETT (B¢
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
¥ F5 ¥ T
Cash and cash equivalents R RkERBELEE — — 20,558 2
Trade and other payables FETE 5 R A MBRIA — (3,010) — (964)
Amounts due to holding FERHERR AR &
companies and fellow R ZXKMB A RRIEA
subsidiaries (2,701) — (4,038) =
Net exposure RS R (2,701) (3,010) 16,520 (962)
[ ]
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 eRmEBREERAAMKEEE
(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d)y SEREE (B
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BB
The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group's TRETAEENEEARAES KRR ZI
profit after taxation and retained profits that would have arisen if foreign BERNE HEBERER 2 BRBRAN R
exchange rates to which the group entities has significant exposure at the W EZEINEE B REEME RS
end of the reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all other Tk E  ERFEBTLAETZHEN
risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the HEERAM A ZETALEMEE ZEE
pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the United States dollar BEFTE - WH - ARKREEETARIKEESN
would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of EERAERTANKINBEEE T
the United States dollar against other currencies. Also, no tax effect was BARBAMGEIES ZELERE - FitE
assumed for the entities which had unrecognised tax losses for deferred R EBGTE -
tax purposes since it is not probable that they will generate future taxable
profits against which the tax losses can be utilised.
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) Increase/ Increase/ (decrease) Increase/ Increase/
in foreign (decrease) in (decrease) inforeign  (decrease) in (decrease)
exchange  profit after  in retained exchange profit after in retained
rates taxation profits rates taxation profits
HEER BREZRF Wi rE S P 2 BB RF W s
i 4 #m/ #m,/ H/ #m/ #m/
(F&) () (A2) (Fik) (R2) CR)
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr T T
United States dollars T 10% (270) (270) 10% 1,652 1,652
(10)% 270 270 (10)% (1,652) (1,652)
Euros =473 5% (150) (150) 5% 48) 48)
(5)% 150 150 (5% 48 48
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an LRIz MEREASESEEREN
aggregation of the instantaneous effects on each of the group entities’ BERIhee E¥t 8 (REWMEW  BEREE
profit after taxation and retained profits measured in the respective AZEERFBRET) 2BRHiEEMN RS
functional currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange EEZREHTE -
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.
The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates BREDITEBBRIMNEER 2 EHERARE
had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Mt EAEEMBAETREEAEAREER
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the RINERM SRTHE  BIEEBERENIIE
reporting period, including inter-company payables and receivables within BAKES 2 EBIES M0 I ER
the Group which are denominated in a currency other than the functional BRIE o Ik M BRIESEEUINTB AR Z
currency of the lender or the borrower. The analysis excludes differences Mg mERBEN N ER 2 EEMELZ
that would result from the translation of the financial statements of EREREEEBEELEYS LAKEHRBA
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency AIAFIRE TS| BRI R - ZIBOTIRE
and the borrowings from group entities that in substance form part of T FER AT
the net investment in subsidiaries. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as for 2022.
[
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 SBMEBEERAAMEE®
(Continued)
(e) Fair values (e) 2AREE
Except for the loan from a related company (note 19), other non- BT AT - B RH B A R MBS R R A IE
trade balances with holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and related é%ﬁélﬁ,ﬁﬁéﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ % 2 RIRFEB R
companies are unsecured, interest-free and recoverable/repayable on B, & BE K (BEEE19) BRSb -
demand. Given these terms, it is not meaningful to disclose their fair ERZEE 135‘2 REZEBETK -
values.
All other significant financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts FEHMEREREERABNERETEE
not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2023 and HEAR T =FR-_FT__F+=H
2022. ST AR ABETRERESR -
()  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities ) =cHEERTHEEEE
Provision for discounts, rebates and promotional incentives are either 0 EEREEERTIR R AEN
included in trade payables or offset against trade receivables when the EHRE EAEEBEAFATIKEERE
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts REE - WHIRFRALEEER - SHENK
and intends to settle on a net basis. E 5 RIE G S -
The Group holds cash deposits as collateral over certain trade receivables, AREFERBERSGEREAE TEKE ZEE
which are included in other creditors and accrued charges and not offset IR ZEFEFETAEMEMERIERTE
against trade receivables as the Group does not have a legally enforceable REAYP - WHEMEEWE SRIEEHEE -
right to set off the recognised amounts. RRAAREEWESFEFREZEEER
BRAZKES -
The following tables set out the carrying amounts of recognised financial TR TR ERRASHE T A
instruments that are subject to the above arrangements. ZBREE ©
2023
—E-zE
Related
Gross amounts Related amounts
of recognised financial Net amounts not offset in
financial instruments presented the consolidated
instruments in offset in the in the statement
the consolidated consolidated consolidated of financial
statement statement of statementof  position - cash
of financial financial financial collateral
position position position received Net amount
REREHRRE
RESHBRAR WESHBRRR REEHEE
BRRSRIA EHEEER RESHERRZR  ZHE - Kl
ks IE%E A RefAR BB
Note $'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
s T r i r r
Financial assets SHEE
Trade and other receivables e B 5 R AR 15
— Trade receivables - EWE SRR 49,810 (15,091) 34,719 (1,930) 32,789
— Financial assets notin the scope of - SRAETERE
offsetting disclosures LBEEE 15,400 — 15,400 — 15,400
Financial liabilities tRERE
Trade and other payables S 5 R AR 18
— Trade payables - ENES5RA 54,191 (15,091) 39,100 - 39,100
— Financial liabiliies not inthe scope of - S BAEFERH
offsetting disclosures LBEEE 58,594 - 58,594 (1,930) 56,664
[ ]
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 SHEREERERAAMEE
(Continued)
()  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities ) =sHEERTREMEEE @
(Continued)
2022
—EoCF
Related
(ross amounts Related amounts
of recognised financial Net amounts not offsetin
financial instruments presented  the consolidated
instruments in offset in the inthe statement
the consolidated consolidated consolidated of financial
statement statement of statement of position - cash
of financial financial financial collateral
position position position received Net amount
NGV
RERHBRRR  NEeBBRAR pegctinilil
BEZEHIA EEgen NGAMERRE LB -
ki TAZ%H 38 B FE
Note $'000 $000 $'000 $000 $000
fifs T i S r T
Financial assets SREE
Trade and other receivables FERE S RE MRS 15
— Trade receivables - EWES%RE 53597 (19,047) 34,550 1,990) 32,560
— Financial assets not in the scope of —- SREETERH
offsetting disclosres LR 8,633 - 8,633 - 8633
Financial liabilities SHER
Trade and other payables 2SR EMEE 18
—Trade payables - ENESKRE 66,612 (19,047) 47,565 - 47,565
— Financial liabiliies not inthe scope o~ — S RBEFERH
offsetting disclosures LHREE 45,676 — 45,676 (1,990) 13,686

The gross amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities and their net
amounts as presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
that are disclosed in the above tables are measured in the consolidated
statement of financial position at amortised cost.

The amounts in the above tables that are offset in the consolidated
statement of financial position are measured on the same basis.

25 Capital commitments 25

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2023 not provided for
in the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

EXRABEEERRGAMBHRAKRFT 252
TREEREBRABIEE  UERREEAH
IR R T R R R IR S AR SRR o

ERFIEREEPBRRNRDEH 2 25
TR EESBR

BEKiE

R-B_=F+_FA=+—8  KEHKAH
BRERDBBZ RN EAREFHBOT

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Contracted for SHES) 14,953 11,946
Authorised but not contracted for BEHLEERETL 24,918 23,428
39,871 35,374
[ ]
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26 Material related party transactions

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group entered into the following material related
party transactions:

26

EXREALERS

BAMBRRAEREZR S REHRI K
SEERATEAFEALRS

Transactions with related parties (@ BEALXRS
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
Note $'000 $'000
st Fr v
Purchases from EB 0]
— intermediate holding companies — RN A E 1,151 1,021
— fellow subsidiaries — RRHMB AR 2,735 6,240
— related companies — BERA 23,204 27,577
Sales to =hi 0]
— an intermediate holding company — RNER AT 406,090 366,028
— fellow subsidiaries — BRKEAR] 13 18
Royalty payments to X NEHNEER
— intermediate holding companies — FNMERAR (i) 1,446 1,449
Interest expenses payable to B H (iii)
— an intermediate holding company — FMERAR — 736
— a related company — BEERQT 156 158
Late charge payable to NS ST
— arelated company — BEAR (iv) 274 284
Service fee from = =!
— an intermediate holding company — PN ERAR] (v) 947 —
Notes: FI3E -
(i) Sales to and purchases from related parties were carried out at terms (i) ETREEBEATHRZREFTREZ
mutually agreed by both parties. The terms of the outstanding balances are ERGETT - BREAEGHR ZIEZRME16A
set out in note 16. IEg o
Related companies are related to the Group as their ultimate holding FENREANEREHERESKIERA
company has significant influence over the Group. RIS AREEBEATE -
(ii) Royalties are payable to intermediate holding companies for the use of (ii) HNEREREBETERME - BFER
certain trademarks pursuant to relevant licensing agreements. ERIEE A FHRNIZRATNER °
(iii) Interest expenses were paid for the loans from an intermediate holding (iii) FEZETIERMER AR REEARN
company and a related company. The terms of the outstanding balances B BAEGSEHR 2 ERRBFE19R7
are set out in note 19. B -
(iv) Late charge is payable to a related company for the delay in loan (iv) EEEFERERBERRLTFNE -
repayment.
(v) Service fee is receivable from an intermediate holding company for the v) IR EMB R MR — P NERR

provision of information technology services.

These transactions also constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
except for the purchases from related companies, which the directors do
not consider to be connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

AR BRI B A -

RIEETRAUNE AT HERS (BERE
BRAZ X BRI BKEER PR FER
BERS - BARRESHREAMELAR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)
26 Material related party transactions (Continued) 26 EXREALTES (@
(b) Other transactions with related parties (by EHMEERS
2023 2022
—E=F —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Expenses paid by the Group on AASERBERR
behalf of related parties REZEHA
— intermediate holding companies — BN ERAR] 3,547 7,616
— fellow subsidiaries — RENBAR] 295 42
— a related company — BENT] 6,824 6,485
Expenses paid by related parties HEAEARRASERZER
on the Group's behalf
— intermediate holding companies — BFNIERRAR] (4,613) (3,752)
(c) Key management personnel remuneration (c) FTEEEBAEMS
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including AEETEERABZME (BIEMET7 TR
amounts paid to the Company's directors as disclosed in note 7 and the E’EWﬂS’A@%%iHZ%E&MﬁH?ﬁﬁ%‘i
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 8, is as follows: METHESHEEIN ZFIE) 0T :
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Short-term employee benefits SEEI SRR 17,596 18,439
Post-employment benefits BEER 12T 442 498
18,038 18,937
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)). e A TETEHM] R (RH5ESD)) »
[
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

27 company-level statement of financial position 27 FHLAFMEKAE

2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
Note $'000 $'000
st Fx T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - HES R 303,039 303,211
Investment properties B 103,448 108,162
406,487 411,373
Intangible assets R AE 4,771 4,771
Investments in subsidiaries [ DpES NI £ — =
Other receivables H eI BRTE 6,492 —
Deferred tax assets BEETHIEEE 20,606 —
438,356 416,144
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 7= 53,200 52,759
Trade and other receivables JEURE 5 Rk M BRIE 40,710 38,816
Amounts due from holding companies FEUMIERAR N E] K
and fellow subsidiaries EES NG 7,359 14,001
Amount due from a related company FEULFEE A EIBR IR 555 2,759
Cash and cash equivalents RehERBEEIEE 116,631 32,010
218,455 140,345
current liabilities b h=R
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 KR EAARIA (50,436) (58,870)
Amounts due to holding companies FEHERR A T R
and fellow subsidiaries B XM B A RIBRE (99) (1,273)
Amounts due to related companies JEfSRAE A R ERIA (3,972) (4,123)
Lease liabilities HEAE (380) (374)
(54,887) (64,640)
Net current assets RBEEEE 163,56?_ 75705
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBAE 601,924 491,849
[ ]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

27 company-level statement of financial position 27 FLoEIMBRAE (@

(Continued)
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Note $'000 $'000
FIsE Fr T
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Retirement benefit liabilities RARENBE (16,497) (12,680)
Other payables E b R ARIE (11,741) —
Lease liabilities HEAE (2,534) (2,9195)
[ . 80772) (15:595)
NET ASSETS EEFRE 571,152 476,254
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B 23(a)
Share capital &N 252,524 252,524
Retained profits Wz 8 318,628 223,730
TOTAL EQUITY RERAEE 571,152 476,254
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on LHEEER _Z-_NF_-_A=-+LA#E
29 February 2024. R RETIE -
Ramon S. Ang B Raymundo Y. Albano BAM R
Director FE Director -
[
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

28 Immediate and ultimate controlling party 28 EHERREREERAF
At 31 December 2023, the directors consider the immediate parent R-ZZEZ=F+-A=+—H EFERAK
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Neptunia Corporation SEMNEEZESRRRGRERRARS R A
Limited and Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. respectively. Neptunia 37 5 F A BR A &) & Top Frontier |nvestment
Corporation Limited is incorporated in Hong Kong while Top Frontier Holdings, Inc. o 323% F| A BR A A1 & 75 s it
Investment Holdings, Inc. is incorporated in the Republic of the Philippines. X7 Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc.
Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. produces financial statements BIJ7A JE 7 & £ 0 B 5t B 52  Top Frontier
available for public use. Investment Holdings, Inc. 48 BT 53k K ¥

B o
29 Possible impact of amendments, new standards 29 BHEGERRBE_ZE-_=F+=

and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 December 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. These developments include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation
of financial statements: Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2024
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation
of financial statements: Non-current liabilities
with covenants 1 January 2024
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases:

Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement
of cash flows and HKFRS 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier
finance arrangements 1 January 2024
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects
of changes in foreign exchange rates:

Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact
of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application.
So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

R=+—HLFEEEHHERNE
B - R RRETRERNTEE

W EZSMBHERTEZA > BEGHEAR
BORMEEBE T _=F+_HA="+—
B IEFE R AR R ¥ B S ERHERT -
R TSR AU BRI Z T ER R AERT - B
REIE TR AR EARR 2 ER] ©

RT3IARH
Ciped il <ped
Rk

BEREEAE 1R
HEHRXANZS] -
BEDERRGAIFRE

BEREEAE1RAER]
HEHRXNZS] -
WEZat 2 B RIE

—Z_WE-HR—H

—Z_WE—-R—H

BERMBHREEE 165
WER] - ME - ML
HHERE

BEREEARTRAER]
RenEXREBUFHE
BRE7H 2MTA
BE  HEBBELH
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of San Miguel Brewery
Hong Kong Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 66 to 133, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code") and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
for the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &M #Z BBl 3R &

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment — Hong Kong brewery operations

M - HEBERRE — BEREEERETEM

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 79

A2 A MR 11 RE 79 A R TR

The Key Audit Matter
BEESE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RREITSHEERTRELE

Management considered that indicators of impairment existed
for the Group's property, plant and equipment employed
in Hong Kong brewery operations at 31 December 2023.
Accordingly, management performed a detailed impairment
review on the relevant property, plant and equipment, which
involved value in use calculations based on a discounted cash

flow analysis.
EBERR RIZE_=ZF+-A=1T—H0 E5EAREE

BOBRBAME - M MRETFERENDTR - Bt - EEE
LR - WS RREETT T FANBEERN - EPSRIR
BEEMBRERANAEEREE -

The discounted cash flow analysis used to assess potential
impairment was based on a number of assumptions, which
included revenue forecasts, estimations of future operating
costs and discount rate.

AL RER BN EBRB RS HERZIERR - B
FEWATER ~ RREEERAhET LA KR ALIR K ©

We identified the assessment of potential impairment of
property, plant and equipment employed in Hong Kong
brewery operations as a key audit matter because of the
significance of the assets under review and the determination
of key assumptions by management involved significant
estimates and judgement and is subject to potential
management bias.

B EEE  WEERRE — BEBAEBRER LR
ERBRETEE  WIHARNGEREENEELREREE
EBARBRRFRIEH EX Gt KA A IRAE

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment of
property, plant and equipment used in Hong Kong brewery
operations included the following:

BT E - B REE — BBEBEBRET R
EREFeREATER

o engaging our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in assessing the methodology applied by management
in its discounted cash flow analysis with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
EERMOABHEMBEERMESZERITSETER
BHERERACIRRESR MR AR T EET
aFd

° critically challenging the key assumptions and forecasts
adopted by management in its preparation of the
discounted cash flow analysis by referring to industry
and other available third party information, the recent
financial performance of the Hong Kong brewery
operations and management’s budgets and plans for
the operations in 2024 and beyond;
SETEREMAERNE=F&X BFEBEXS
TN BRALERER T _MF REEEBH
EMRERETEE  FETIGEEENRECHIRR
DM TR ER AN BRI AR TR

o engaging our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in assessing the discount rate used by management
in its discounted cash flow analysis by comparing
with available financial information of other similar
companies taking into account regional and industry
specific risk premiums;
EARMAAIBEEM PR M S BEREMHELUR
A A ER Y BE 16 B B A M b [ R 1T 24 I R B i
B UHEEENACMRRESRS TR EAMELER
THEITRE
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AP - HEBERRE — BEREEERETEM

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment — Hong Kong brewery operations

BRRIFE I IRERMNGT 11 RE 79 AT E

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 79

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RAREITEREEKTREL X

comparing the key assumptions adopted by management
in the prior year’s impairment assessment with actual
results for the current year, investigating significant
variances identified and considering the impact on the
current year's impairment assessment; and

AR FENERFEEAEEENBEFENRE
SRR R R ETER - ASEHANERXR
‘‘‘‘‘‘ P REEREUAVREENRETHNZE -

performing sensitivity analysis for the discount rate, the
sales growth rate and operating costs in the discounted
cash flow analysis and considering in greater detail
the information used to derive the most sensitive
assumptions and whether there were any indicators of
management bias in their selection.
HEMRBSROMAIRER  HERRERLEN
TETHRBEDN - WEESHESRBRMAERAN
BHREAR  MEEENEEERETMRENTR -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BN % H MRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lau Tai Cheong.

oty

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

29 February 2024
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GROUP PROPERTIES &£E )%

Details of the major property of the Group are as follows:

Existing use

RRAR

Major property held for investment
BERENEIEYE

San Miguel Industrial Building Rental
Nos. 9-11 Shing Wan Road,
Tai Wai, Shatin, Hong Kong

EELHBREKER 911957 HE
ENTERE
|
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Term of lease
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Long-term
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We reiterate our commitment
to maximize shareholder value,
strengthen our brands, and ensure
that our products remain relevant
to our consumers and customers.
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY EEEHBE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ABEEEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC=F S T —F —ZRCTF —E-NF
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T T T T
Results %5
Revenue WA 741,619 681,163 595,616 555,658 580,050
Profit before taxation BRAT R AR 66,445 34,998 22,011 12,547 3,310
Income tax credit/(expense) Fre®ist A/ () 23,135 (1,863) 97 1,304 4,990
Profit for the year FERF 89,580 33,135 22,108 13,851 8,300
Attributable to: (0T ¢
— Equity shareholders — ANERRFAA
of the Company 85,898 32,305 19,364 17,228 11,583
— Non-controlling interests — RIS 3,682 830 2,744 (3,377) (3,283)
Profit for the year EERBF 89,580 33,135 22,108 13,851 8,300
Earnings per share GhRAER
— Basic (cents) — EAR (L) 23 9 5 5 3
Assets and liabilities BEHEE
Property, plant and equipment and ~ #%  #28 M R4 -
investment properties BEYE 444,419 447,006 458,923 465,291 474,377
Intangible assets B EAE 4,771 4,771 4,771 4,771 4,771
Other receivables H b fEUBRIA 6,492 — — — —
Deferred tax assets BEFIBEE 27,351 — — — —
Net current assets B EEFE 220,211 153,537 112,459 113,520 98,622
Total assets less current liabilites ~— #EERZHEE 703,244 605,314 576,153 583,582 577,770
Loan from an intermediate PR ABIER
holding company - = = (38,158) (51,115)
Retirement benefit liabilities RARBHAE (16,497) (12,680) (1,757) (2,378) (10,741)
Other payables H A fETARIE (11,741) — — — —
Lease liabilities HEEE (2,534) (2,915) (3,294) (35) =
Net assets BEFE 672,472 589,719 571,102 543,011 515,914
Capital and reserves RAR &
Share capital %N 252,524 252,524 252,524 252,524 252,524
Other reserves HipfEE 444,048 365,312 350,311 324,005 291,560
Total equity attributable to equity AR FREZREA A
shareholders of the Company (bR 696,572 617,836 602,835 576,529 544,084
Non-controlling interests FEIERRRE RS (24,100) (28,117) (31,733) (33,518) (28,170)
Total equity R 672,472 589,719 571,102 543,011 515,914
[ ]
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